INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UMI®

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

•

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

INSTRUCTORS' BEGINNING EXPERIENCES IN TEACHING BY VIDEOCONFERENCING

By

BARBARA LYNN JACOBSON

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education in Educational Administration and Leadership.

DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATIONAL POLICY STUDIES

Edmonton, Alberta Spring 2000

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre rélérence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-59920-5



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR: BARBARA LYNN JACOBSON

TITLE OF THESIS: INSTRUCTORS' BEGINNING EXPERIENCES IN

TEACHING BY VIDEOCONFERENCING

DEGREE: DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: 2000

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatever without the author's prior written permissions.

BÁRBARA L. JACOBSON PERMANENT ADDRESS 0520 -35 Avenue Edmonton, AB T6J 2L9

DATE: January 28, 2000

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled INSTRUCTORS' BEGINNING EXPERIENCES IN TEACHING BY VIDEOCONFERENCING submitted by BARBARA L. JACOBSON in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Education in Educational Administration and Leadership.

C. Montgomene

D. Colleft

T. Anderson

B. Clark, External Examiner

Date: January 27, 2000

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was to explore, through an interpretive research design of interviews and observations, the training provided to postsecondary beginning videoconferencing instructors and the instructional planning and teaching strategies used by those instructors. Five research areas guided the study a) types of preparation needed by first-time instructors, b) instructional planning and teaching strategies instructors used in the videoconferencing classroom compared to their traditional classroom, c) instructors' perceptions of their teaching in a videoconferencing environment compared to their traditional classroom, d) physical and human resource configurations need at the specific locations, and e) issues and problems identified by the instructors.

A central concern for most of the instructors in this study was the need for instructional design and technical support for preparing effective and interactive learning materials. Key to this was adequate release time and opportunity to practice teaching prior to the first class. The importance of personal pedagogical orientation and preferred instructional strategies was also clear. All five found their inability to read all the students' expressions while lecturing to them a major drawback to teaching effectiveness. Their uncertainty about how to transfer preferred strategies into the videoconferencing classroom meant that fewer strategies were used.

This study presented a good example of two bad examples of implementing distance education technology. To avoid duplicating these,

post-secondary institutions' administration must obtain faculty 'buy-in', provide training programs that focus on how to use the technology and develop student-centred curriculum, and at the same time incorporate flexibility to accommodate the individual orientations of the faculty. This, combined with the opportunity to practice with peers prior to actually teaching students, is guaranteed to result in a successful teaching and learning experience for faculty and students. If administration is unwilling to follow these recommendations, they should not even think of entering the field of distance education.

Additional research in design and implementation of instructional strategies, collaborative teaching, impact of remote site numbers and configuration, increasing student interaction, and need for administrative and student support systems will further enhance the recommendation in this study.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are many individuals to whom I am indebted for their support and encouragement throughout the researching and writing of this thesis.

Dr. Margaret Haughey for her encouragement and guidance during those many times I felt like quitting, and for her never-ending willingness to critique what I had written.

Ernie Jacobson, my husband, for giving me the support and freedom needed to tackle a project that at times seemed bigger than the both of us.

Shelley and **Lisa Jacobson**, my daughters, who were always there to remind me to have fun and be crazy from time-to-time.

Donna Bentley and **Pat Campbell**, two very special friends, who were always willing to listen to my stories of woe and success.

R. Neil Moore and **Dr. Glenn Wm. Sinclair**, for their continuous nagging and support.

Without these individuals and others, I would not have been able to achieve my goal.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES	
Chapter 1: INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY	1
Purpose of the Study	7
Significance of the Study for Research and Practice	7
Terminology	10
Delimitations	10
Limitations	10
Assumptions	11
Overview of Study	11
Chapter 2: VIDEOCONFERENCING FOR INSTRUCTION	12
Videoconferencing	12
Compressed Videoconferencing	13
Digital Communication Lines	14
Compressed Videoconference System Configurations	15
Instructors' Perspectives of Videoconferencing	21
Training	31
Conclusion	36
Chapter 3: METHODOLOGY	39
Philosophical Stance	39
Multiple Realities	40
Selection of Participants	41
Date Gathering	42
Observing Videoconferencing Classes	43
Data Apolycia	47
Dala Analysis Trustworthings	40 51
Ethical Considerations	51
	52
Chapter 4: FIVE INSTRUCTORS' STORIES	54
Context of the Experience	54
Instructor A	58
Instructor B	65
Instructor C	73
Instructor D	86
Instructor E	99
Conclusion	108

Chapter 5: REFLECTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	109
Overview of Study	110
Discussion of Findings	111
Preparation of Instructors	111
Course Planning and Instructional Strategies	118
Course design	119
Course development	121
Instructional strategies	123
Overhead projector	124
Videos and films	124
Small group work	125
Guest speakers	125
Team-teaching	125
Student Interaction	128
Student feedback	132
Conditions at the Remote Sites	133
Student characteristics	133
Site arrangements	135
Technology	136
Issues Identified by Instructors	137
Lack of time and information on how to prepare	137
Inability to monitor student activities	138
Conclusions	141
Recommendations for Practice	145
Recommended Research	146

REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Additional Media Used to Enhance the Basic Videoconferencing System	15
Table 2:	Overview of Interview and Observation Schedule	43

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1:	Videoconferencing Classroom Arrangement	17
Figure 2:	Videoconferencing Classroom Arrangement	18

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY

The 1990s have placed Canada's post-secondary institutions in a state of turmoil and uncertainty. Government cutbacks, competition from other post-secondary institutions within and outside Canada, rising public expectations for access and flexibility in program offerings, increased demands for public accountability, and rapid technological changes are all forcing universities to reassess what they have been and will be doing in the future. "Some are aiming at nothing less than wholesale reconstruction, changing the way they teach, changing what they teach, and challenging the very basic assumptions of what a university education is" (Bercuson, Bothwell, & Granatstein, 1997, p. 69).

In an attempt to resolve some of these issues, post-secondary institutions are now taking a serious look at the world of distance education to determine how telecommunication technologies can be used to expand their programs and territorial boundaries and hence increase their student population and potential revenues (Gilbert, 1995). Olcott and Wright (1995) concurred that the "advances in technology afford institutions unique opportunities to deliver education and training programs to geographically diverse adult audiences" (p. 1). Walsh and Reese (1995) also addressed how significant distance education courses and programs could be to an institution, noting that:

Distance learning can actually provide a university with a strategic advantage in penetrating potential new market segments, such as corporate education, continuing adult education and job training. This has important implications for institutions seeking to make up for loss of revenues due to declining student population and ever-increasing competition. (p. 59) The concept of distance education is by no means new. In fact, as Mood (1995) indicated, most writers in the field view the beginning of distance education as being in the mid-1800s. The introduction of correspondence programs allowed individuals to study wherever they were located, thus creating a physical separation between student and instructor and involving mediated interaction between the student and instructor through written correspondence. This interaction was further increased with the introduction of telephone tutors. Although theorists such as Garrison (1990), Holmberg (1977), Keegan (1986), and Moore (1988) have their own definitions of distance education, there is a general consensus that distance education provides formal educational opportunities to people where they are located rather than where the offering institution is located. Moore (1988) saw the goal of distance education as providing

educational access for students who would not have the opportunity to undertake education through residential programs. These 'distant' learners include those whose job demands, family responsibilities, and other time constraints make traditional education access unavailable. (p. 7)

Over the past 25 years, the media used in education have changed in many ways making the goal of distance education more achievable. With the emergence and adoption of telecommunications technologies, it is possible for individuals to take courses at their convenience and, unlike correspondence programs, to maintain a regular communications link with the instructor and fellow students using the Internet. While computer communications facilitates interaction among individual learners, video- and audio- conferencing link groups of students with each other and the instructor.

Of all the technologies presently available to provide synchronous instruction to groups, videoconferencing is now the fastest-growing delivery format for distance education (Ostendorf, 1996). One of the factors that

has led to this growth is the belief that the traditional face-to-face classroom setting is the model to follow, and videoconferencing comes closest to duplicating that setting. Its ability to link sites together through video so that all participants can see and talk to each other resembles a set of classrooms linked by two-way television. While other technologies are better suited to individualized learning and one-to-one assistance, videoconferencing can accommodate a variety of instructional strategies including collaborative and co-operative group learning. It is suited for courses in which discussion, demonstration, small group applications, or modeling is an important instructional component. The instructor can present the lesson content and then have students at all sites break into groups to discuss the content and report back.

Initially the most common format of videoconferencing was "to use one-way television transmission via satellite to a wide variety of sites, with 'live' audio-telephone communication back from the sites" (Bates, 1995). In this situation, the instructor, who would be at the originating location and may or may not have students at that site, can be seen and heard by the students at the remote locations. The students communicate with the instructor during specified times in the class by dialing a pre-arranged phone number. The conversation between the student and instructor is then amplified through speakers so that all sites can hear the discussion. The instructor, however, is not able to see the students and this is an issue for many educators. This concern can be overcome to an extent by what Garrison (1990) described as "true videoconferencing [which provides] for a two-way exchange of both live television images and audio signal between two or more sites and three or more individuals" (p. 74). This format allows the instructor to see the students.

However, no matter which technology or combination of technologies is used, the educational opportunities now available to the distant learner are many. In fact, as Dirr (1990) noted, "There is little doubt that the

technologies hold the power to help distance education overcome some of the barriers to traditional education" (p. 403). But he then expressed a concern, "The question is whether enough higher [education] educators will have the vision to understand the potential of the technologies, and the wherewithal to marshall the power" (p. 403).

Increasingly, individual institutions and universities are acquiring the necessary hardware to reach dispersed students and make more efficient and effective use of the institutions' financial and faculty resources (Walsh and Reese, 1995).

The accelerated development of distance education programs across American higher education will require a renewed commitment to its most important resources . . . faculty. . . . However, responsibility for instructional quality and control, the improvement of learning, and the aggregate effectiveness of distance education still rest with the faculty (Olcott and Wright, 1995, p. 1).

Even with the recognized importance of the faculty member in distance education, the research on this group is rather limited (Beaudoin, 1990). Dillon and Walsh (1992) in a review of five distance education journals and the Educational Resources Information Centre (ERIC) located just 24 research studies on faculty and on issues concerning faculty participation in distance education. Of those studies, nine focused on faculty training programs, which addressed the skills required for distance teaching, teaching styles of distance teachers, and the training needs of faculty. None of the studies they reviewed addressed learning about how to teach at a distance from the faculty member's perspective. This need for continuing professional development for faculty who teach at a distance with technology was also emphasized by Green and Gilbert (1995):

So what happens then when institutional pressure increases to support distance education and other *pedagogical* and *content* changes? The need for additional faculty support services to facilitate these major transitions not only increases and becomes still more varied, but it often is recognized too late. Pedagogical change enabled by technology requires development services that help faculty understand, adapt, and adopt new teaching approaches. (p. 15)

More recently, Cyrs (1997a) reinforced this need for training. Many academic administrators act as though distance learning was their field of dreams. Build the teleclassrooms, purchase the latest technology, and the students will come. Often forgotten is the training that the instructors needed for quality distance learning programs.... Students do not learn from the technology. They learn from the competent instructors who have been trained how to communicate through the technology. (p. 1)

Other studies have explored faculty attitudes and perceptions about the introduction of technology in the classroom (Inch, 1987; Sheffield, 1992; Snyder, 1995); use of distance teaching (Bankirer, 1988; Meacham, 1982); the diffusion of technology for teaching at a distance (Bolduc, 1994); the attitudes of higher education faculty toward distance education (Clark, 1993; Heath, 1996; Larison, 1995); and the use of distance education training for faculty development (Weitman, 1993). In many cases, faculty members were reluctant to use technology in their face-to-face classrooms (Rutherford & Grana, 1995) as well as to use it to teach at a distance. Willis (1992) commented on faculty development:

If . . . faculty development is important in traditional classroom settings, it is truly imperative in non-traditional settings in which distance delivery methods are employed. The need for faculty development in distance education has received national acceptance among teachers and administrators, although relatively little has been written about it. (p. 34)

Gilbert (1995) suggested that some institutions "are leaping at distance education as a near-term solution for financial and other problems –

without taking the necessary time to understand the 'solution's' requirements and to prepare faculty for effective participation" (p. 59). What results is:

An investment in technology without a parallel investment of time and money in support for educators, learners, and the technology will quickly yield a disillusioned team of educators, disappointed learners, and a large monument to the waste of institutional dollars. (Gibson, 1992, p. 19)

Gehlauf, Shatz, and Frye (1991) made the point that instructors must put time and effort into "developing the prerequisite skills and abilities to effectively present material in a videoconferencing setting" (p. 20) – that providing the technical systems and turning instructors loose is not effective. In summarizing several studies (Burke, 1994; Evans Associates, 1993; Kromholz and Johnstone, 1988; and Shaeffer, Kipper, Farr and Muscarella, 1990) that looked at the competencies needed for teaching using videoconferencing, Cyrs (1997b) identified the competencies cited by all studies as: course planning and organization, verbal and nonverbal presentation skills, collaborative teamwork, questioning strategies, subject matter expertise, and involving students at the remote sites. These same studies recommended more training for faculty to assist them in developing these skills. According to Cyrs (1997b),

Anyone who says that teaching at a distance is the same as traditional teaching is dead wrong. Instructors need more planning time, more instructional support, and additional training to modify courses. (p. 18)

As an experienced trainer of distance educators and a distance educator myself, I sought a research topic in distance education which had the educator as its focus. The decision to look at videoconferencing and instructors' experiences with using this medium evolved from reading articles and books on distance education and talking to individuals who were working in this area. Videoconferencing, as a medium for distance education, was just entering Alberta educational institutions when I began researching the topic in 1995, and therefore, there was not a great deal of local research. Most of the published research on videoconferencing was from the United States, Britain, and Australia and focused on the technology, leaving out the human factor, especially the instructor's viewpoint. I saw this as an important omission.

Purpose of the Study

The main purpose of this study was to explore the instructional planning and teaching strategies used by instructors who taught adult learners in a videoconferencing-based distance education setting. The following questions guided the study:

- What types of preparation did first-time instructors require in order to teach comfortably using videoconferencing technology?
- 2. What instructional planning and teaching strategies did these instructors use in the videoconferencing classroom and how did these compare with their traditional classroom strategies?
- 3. How did the instructors' perceptions of their teaching in a videoconferencing environment compare to that of their traditional classroom?
- 4. What configurations physical and human resources at the specific locations were most helpful?
- 5. What issues and problems did the instructors identify?

It was expected that findings of the study would provide insights concerning distance education course development, preparation programs for instructors on use of the technology, and various teaching strategies that effectively meet the educational needs of the adult university student.

Significance of the Study for Research and Practice

Researchers such as Doerfert, Miller, and Miller, (1995); Keir and Ward, (1988); Kromholz and Johnstone, (1988); Lyons and Washburn, (1995); McRoberts, Sonkowsky, and Strand, (1995); and Shaeffer, Kipper,

Farr, and Muscarella, (1990) have identified attributes of voluntary or required faculty training programs and have reported the provider's view of success or effectiveness in developing and/or increasing teaching skills for distance teaching. However, no systematic research has been identified that explores from a faculty member's perspective, how he or she goes about learning to teach at a distance using technology and why he or she selects the instructional strategies used in the distance education course.

This study is significant because it addresses the practical training and instructional delivery issues first-time videoconferencing instructors perceived prior to and during the teaching of their course. Since the study took place during the time the courses were offered, it permitted data to be collected as the instructors experienced and developed their understanding of distance education and what it meant to teach via videoconferencing. For all but one of the instructors, this was a totally new environment and required some changes to their traditional methods of teaching. However, changes can create positive or negative experiences depending on how they affect an individual's life experiences; aims, purposes, and values; work context and working conditions; and the culture of the work environment. The timing of this study also enabled the researcher to observe, compare, and discuss the responses of instructors in two separate projects at the time they were forming their opinions and attitudes about using videoconferencing as a mode for teaching their courses.

The applicability of various technologies for distance teaching has not always been eagerly accepted and many studies have been conducted to determine their effectiveness. The majority of these studies have focused on the technology and how to use it, problems encountered, comparisons of various types, technological effects on student performance, and cost factors; others looked at the administrative concerns. Rarely investigated were factors such as: the unique attributes of the technology and how they affected teaching strategies (Denton and Clark, 1985); the type of learning outcome desired and how an instructor, through the utilization of different teaching methods, could assist the student in meeting this outcome. As Chu and Schramm (1975) concluded, the question that needs to be asked is not whether to use the technology, but rather how best to use it. Dillon, Hengst, and Zoller (1991) agreed that "[f]uture research in the design of instruction for distance education need no longer continue to focus upon the media, but should rather attend to the method" (p. 40). Discussions about problems with the technology were part of all the instructors' stories in this study. However, the main focus was on how the instructors could use the technology to enhance the students' learning experience and to encourage interaction with the instructor and amongst the students at the various sites.

The study findings may create a greater awareness that the roles of the distance education instructor and student should differ from those within the traditional classroom. Moore and Kearsley (1996) believe that students "must also assume more responsibility for managing their own learning in terms of when they will study, how much they want to learn, and [how to] seek out information and resources" (p. 16). This, combined with the fact that many instructors are unaware of the capabilities of the telecommunications-based distance education media and the possible need to adjust their teaching styles and course materials, has created, as Moore and Kearsley (1996) pointed out, a situation where "[s]ome instructors may be very reluctant to give up their direct teaching role or teach via media" (p.16).

Dillon, Hengst, and Zoller (1991) in discussing the issue of instructor preparation, commented: "Research needs to provide distance educators with increasingly systematic guidelines for selecting instructional strategies; guidelines that are linked to the types of learning required by the demands of the new learning society" (p. 40). The findings of this study may assist individuals and institutions wishing to efficiently and effectively support faculty development to improve or expand distance education programs.

They may also provide guidance for faculty members who will be teaching a videoconferencing course for the first time or who just want ideas on what else can be done.

Terminology

For the purpose of this research, the following definitions of distance education and compressed videoconferencing will be used:

<u>Distance education</u> is the provision of formal educational opportunities to students who are not physically present with the instructor during instruction and where communication is conducted through various media.

<u>Compressed videoconferencing</u> is a method of communication that can transmit video and audio signals over special phone lines (Integrated Services Digital Networks – ISDN), switched- 56 kilobit lines, or T-1's (large "pipes" consisting of twenty-four 64 kilobit channels). Sites may support speeds using one-line (112 or 128 Kbps), two-lines (224 or 256 Kbps) and threelines (336 or 384 Kbps). The lower rates typically involve some compromise in picture quality, particularly when there is rapid motion on the screen. Two way video and audio can take place making the system totally interactive (Divine, 1999).

Delimitations

This study was delimited to courses taught using one telecommunications-based medium, i.e., videoconferencing; instructors who were presently involved in teaching courses using this medium for first time; and courses offered by one post-secondary institution.

Limitations

The study was limited by the willingness of the instructors to discuss the issues at length, and the ability of the researcher to establish trust with interviewees and to help them identify the important aspects to be discussed.

Assumptions

The purpose of this study was undertaken on the basis of the following assumptions:

- 1. The methodological procedures were appropriate to meet the purposes of the study.
- 2. The use of telecommunications-based media was a viable means for teaching to remote sites.
- 3. Instructors were willing to share their views and knowledge regarding planning, given assurance of confidentiality and anonymity.
- 4. The planning of course content and teaching strategies for the distance environment was as important, if not more important, than it was in the traditional face-to-face environment.

Overview of Study

A description of compressed videoconferencing, including the use of digital communication lines, technology configurations, and classroom arrangements, is provided in Chapter 2. It also contains a review of studies on instructors' perspectives of teaching with compressed videoconferencing. The qualitative methodology used for this study is described in Chapter 3. Chapter 4 contains the five instructors' stories, and Chapter 5 provides a summary and discussion of the findings, recommendations, and implications for further research.

CHAPTER 2

VIDEOCONFERENCING FOR INSTRUCTION

This review of the literature provides a background to understanding and interpreting the data collected for this study. It is organized into three sections: first, a description of videoconferencing with a specific focus on compressed videoconferencing and related research on its use as a teaching medium, then a discussion of the issues addressed in studies that focused on faculty and their experiences with videoconferencing, and finally, findings related to the training provided videoconferencing instructors.

Videoconferencing

In 1964, AT&T introduced the PicturePhone at the New York World's Fair... The vision was to provide a dial-up telephone solution with the ability to "video" conference with family, friends, and business associates down the street or across the country (Galbreath, 1995, p. 31).

Although the PicturePhone did not materialize in the 60s partly because it required a rewiring of the telephone system, the advances in technology and telecommunications that took place in the last two decades has brought about a renewed interest in videoconferencing for implementation within business, industry, and education, specifically, distance education.

Hakes, Cochenour, Rezabek, and Sachs (1995) believe that the "technology explosion of the 80s has promoted 'distance education' to be at the forefront of educational innovativeness throughout the 90s and beyond" (p. 26). Moore (1988) commented that,

the end of the 80s sees us on a threshold of a new phase of evolution for the application of communications media and education. These include the already long and established but still underutilized medium of audio conferencing, a relatively new medium of computer conferencing, and most importantly the application of videoconferencing (p. 7).

Barker, Frisbie, and Patrick (1989) described two categories of videoconferencing - full-motion video and compressed video. Both these categories may use a two-way voice, two-way video link or a two-way voice, one-way video link. For instructors, the major difference between the two categories is the quality of the reception. Full-motion videoconferencing produces a quality equal to that of television because the signal is transmitted over private, dedicated telephone fiberoptic, microwave, or other high speed networks which only connect between the members of the group. However, full-motion videoconferencing is costly and educational organizations have turned to compressed videoconferencing as an alternative. Compressed videoconferencing systems are less expensive because public phone system networks are used to transmit the signal. As Reed and Woodruff (1995) commented, recent innovations in network telecommunications such as Integrated Services Digital Network (ISDN) have reduced compressed videoconferencing equipment and transmission costs, making it feasible for use in small colleges, businesses, classrooms, libraries, and even homes.

Compressed Videoconferencing

Roberts (1998) described compressed videoconferencing as "a method of communication that can transmit images and sound directly between classrooms or seminar locations. . . . [It] is interactive, and permits two (point-to-point) or several (multipoint) locations to communicate in real-time" (p. 9). To make this interaction possible, each location requires access to digital communication lines and at least a basic videoconferencing system. For multipoint sessions, the sites must link into a telecommunication device known as a bridge before all participants can communicate.

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Digital Communication Lines

The number of phone lines used determines the quality of the video reception. The lowest speed (112 or 128 Kbps) is the least expensive because it uses only two phone lines, but results in a video reception that displays people's movements as jerky and presents a three to five second audio lag (Hakes, Cochenour, Rezabek, and Sachs, 1995). By using six phone lines (336 – 384 Kbps), the video reception is improved, but the cost also goes up. While the compression process can affect the quality of the resulting picture and sound, and can result in problems such as video "ghosting" or "image softness", audio delays, and/or audio "clipping" or echo (Reed and Woodruff, 1995), electronic enhancements to the basic telecommunications technology are improving the picture and sound reception without significant increase in cost. However, Irene Kirek, Manager, Centre for Distance Learning and Innovative Technologies at the University of Calgary commented that by experimenting with different numbers of digital telephone lines they

now believe that four lines is the most cost-effective solution for our needs. We felt that the two lines we used in 1992 did not give us the resolution we needed, and so we opted to pay the extra long-distance costs involved in using six lines. When a technical problem unexpectedly forced us to go from six to four lines, we did not notice any significant difference in the quality! We now use four lines and save one-third of our long-distance costs! (Roberts, 1998, p. 52)

In contrast, Paul Rixon, Network Manager for South Australia's Technical and Further Education (TAFE) network indicated that "We generally operate in the two-line mode and find the resolution adequate for both the point-to-point and multipoint courses which we offer" (Roberts, 1998, p. 53).

Compressed Videoconference System Configurations

Roberts (1998) described the basic videoconference system needed for each site as one camera, one television monitor, one microphone, a control tablet or system console, and an encoder/decoder (codec), which is a highly sophisticated modem. The codec "converts the television signal into digital form at the transmitting end (it encodes the signal) and then reconverts the digital signal to a television picture at the receiving end (it decodes the signal)" (p. 10). If there are students at the sending site, Sachs (1995) recommended the use of two cameras: one focused on the instructor and the other on the students. The basic system, however, does not provide all the instructional resources that instructors have come to expect in the traditional classroom. Media, such as those outlined in Table 1, can be added to the basic system to overcome this limitation.

Table 1

Media	Use
Document Cameras (similar to overhead projectors)	Permits previously prepared or spontaneous visual aids to be transmitted between sites. Most document cameras are mounted above a light table to permit the use of transparencies and slides or to transmit pictures from books or information on paper.
Microcomputer	Transmits data and graphics that have been pre-stored or created during the class
VCRs	Allows for videotapes to be shown during the class, or for the broadcast to be taped and viewed at a later time.
Fax Machines	Provides for the exchange of hard copies of documents during the class
Additional Microphones	Allows each student to have a microphone or for one to be shared between several students
Additional Monitors	Displays what is transmitted to the sites and what is received at the sites.

Additional Media Used to Enhance the Basic Videoconferencing System

Before teaching any classes using a compressed videoconferencing system, consideration must be given to the arrangement of the equipment and furniture at all sites. Since the visual and verbal contact is made through television monitors and speakers, it is important that everyone can see and be seen as well as hear and be heard at all locations. Hakes, et. al. (1995), Ostendorf (1994), and Roberts (1998) have presented descriptions of room arrangements that are effective for both teaching and learning. Figure 1 illustrates an arrangement that accommodates students at the instructor's site and has two cameras, one focused on the instructor and the other on the classroom. Most systems have a built-in camera above the television monitor. It can be manipulated to give a long shot or close up of the instructor or to focus on other participants. While initially some writers encouraged instructors to focus on the student who was speaking, instructors found it difficult to manage to focus on the student and then move quickly to another student without wide swings of the camera picture. Now most systems use an automatic feature that can switch among speakers without input from the instructor.

Two television monitors, one for outgoing pictures and the other for incoming pictures, are also illustrated in Figure 1. Although it is possible to conduct a class with just one monitor, it is recommended that two be used to allow the participants to see remotes sites as well as what is being transmitted from their site.

A portable microphone is shared by students and can be either pushto-talk or voice activated. An alternative is to have permanent microphones located in the ceiling or suspended above the participants' seating area. A disadvantage of both these pre-wired microphone arrangements is the limited number of students they can accommodate. Room size is also a consideration. The seating arrangement in Figure 1 is limited because of the table design. It does, however, make it possible to focus the camera so all participants can be seen at the remote sites. Figure 2 illustrates the use of a traditional classroom that has seats in rows and can accommodate large classes; however, there is a loss of visual contact unless additional cameras are installed.

Figure 1. Videoconferencing Classroom Arrangement



Figure 2. Videoconferencing Classroom Arrangement



The type of equipment purchased and the arrangement of the classroom both have an effect on the quality of teaching and learning that takes place. Roberts (1998), in her interviews with users of compressed videoconferencing, was told by one individual that,

The most important lesson that we learned from this pilot project was to be very clear with the supplier about what was required by way of technology and room setup. For example, the type of microphone and size of room provided were different from those requested. As a result, participants in the "remote" site indicated that it was difficult to hear one of the presenters well because the microphone did not pick up the sidebar conversations s/he was having with those in the room, and they felt uncomfortable as a very small group in the large auditorium that was provided (p. 32).

Another user commented about problems that occurred because of the voice-activated microphones.

One specific challenge to orderly interaction can occur when switching between various sites in multipoint videoconferencing. The switching is typically sound-driven – the bridge connecting the sites selects the site that has requested the floor. However, the bridge cannot distinguish between "approved noise" generated by a participant's comment and "unintended noise" generated by shuffling papers or side conversations (p. 47).

In addition, some institutions have put major funds into state-of-the-art videoconferencing systems. As a result, instructors find themselves having to go through great levels of security (i.e., opening many locked doors and cabinets) to set up and operate the system. Sometimes, institutions do not provide additional technical support so that instructors have to learn to operate the equipment and resolve issues on their own. The physical configuration and variety of the equipment, the level of technical support,

and the amount of security not only at the broadcast site but at all the participating sites are important considerations for the instructors.

As with the introduction of any new technology, problems may occur, and the approach taken to deal with them can have positive or negative results. In 1990 the University of Ulster in Northern Ireland acquired videoconferencing equipment to link three of its campuses - Jordanstown, Coleraine, and Magee College in an attempt to ensure class and course viability and meet the educational needs of individuals working in areas not immediately served by the university. Prior to this, courses were offered by an audio-conferencing system and the feedback received from instructors and students made it clear that it was not a popular format (Abbott, Dallat, Livingston, MacGabhann, and Robinson, 1993). However, "the addition of 'live' vision succeeded in winning positive recommendations from both students and the tutors involved" (p. 3). The attitude of instructors to unforeseen interruptions was one of flexibility mixed with tolerance and contingency. As one instructor commented "If the sound did not work, we set up the audio-conference 2000; if speech was not picked up, we used the mobile desk mike or moved the tables and chairs" (Dallat, Fraser, Livingston, Robinson, 1992, p. 18). Dallat, et. al. (1992) suggested that this high level of tolerance was "rooted in the knowledge that there was much to learn about videoconferencing; and secondly, since this was the first time the equipment had been used for teaching in the University of Ulster then problems were inevitable" (p. 18).

Although the technological opportunities available for use in the videoconferencing classroom are many, Moore and Kearsley (1996) offer four guidelines for media selection: it should enhance accomplishment of the learning objectives; it should be compatible with student characteristics; it should be appropriate for the learning environment; and it should be within the economic feasibility of the institution.

Instructors' Perspectives of Videoconferencing

Reed and Woodruff (1995) advise that,

Instructors considering use of compressed video will need to understand and work with the advantages and constraints of the medium to ensure a quality telelearning experience. In particular, instructors should plan to devote greater than normal effort toward preparation and development of instructional strategies that actively engage learners. (pp. 1-2)

Some of the advantages and constraints of the medium were identified in a study conducted by Gehlauf, Shatz, and Frye (1991). The study focused on 25 Ohio University faculty members who had taught at least one videoconferencing course. The goal of the study was to obtain an understanding of what the instructors perceived to be: a) effective strategies for teaching a videoconferencing course, b) changes they had to make from their traditional classroom teaching, and c) the critical elements for a training program for videoconferencing instructors. A list of various instructional methods was developed, and the instructors were asked to rank how often they used each method in their videoconferencing classes. The participants

rated six different instructional methods (lecture, notes written by the instructor during lecture, groups discussion, overhead transparencies, slides, and videotapes) on a five-point bipolar scale. . . . In addition, the instructors identified and rated seven other methods of instruction (video disks, data, student presentations, maps, small groups, individual conferences, and demonstration) used in [videoconferencing] courses in the space designated as "other." (p. 22)

The top four methods ranked by the instructors were lecture, group discussion, overhead lecture notes, and overhead transparencies. When asked to identify the effectiveness of the methods they used, the four ranked most effective were lecture, videotapes, overhead transparencies, and slides. In each of these cases, none of the instructional methods identified were from the "other" category although instructors had chosen to use them in their videoconferencing courses.

As for the changes made in their teaching, the number one change for all respondents was the reduction in class interaction. Although they ranked group discussion as their second most frequently used strategy, the instructors acknowledged a diminished use of small group discussions and simulations. Another change identified was the need to be more organized. "The participants conceded that they needed to spend more time planning and organizing for their [videoconferencing] courses than for their traditional courses. . . they felt a strong need to be well prepared for each televised class and that 'winging it' was not at all advisable" (p. 25). The inability to move around the room while teaching was another change that the majority of instructors identified.

Similar comments about teaching strategies and changes in teaching styles were obtained in a study conducted by Dallat, et. al. (1992) at the University of Ulster. They collected data through pre- and post-session questionnaire surveys of three instructors and ten students as well as class observations and student interviews. Because the instructors were not familiar with the technology, they were apprehensive about using the videoconferencing system. In the pre-session survey, they used their faceto-face classroom experiences as a benchmark and expressed concerns about

the limitations of the technology, about teaching being made overdidactic, about being distracted by the equipment away from students, and about the loss of informal contact among students at various points during the evenings that classes were held (p. 18).

At the end of the session, all the instructors indicated that the equipment was not as difficult to use as they had anticipated and felt that their teaching skills had actually been enriched because of the experience. A

major concern, however, was the lack of student involvement. One instructor commented, "Interactions were frustratingly weak because of sound uncertainties, lack of eye contact, small size of human form at the distant location [portrayed on the screen], and the fixed and tempermental microphones" (p. 18). Another emphasized the problems with the sound quality. "Ineffective interaction resulted when the microphones were not operating properly; inaudibility caused questions or contributions to be repeated and the flow of discussion was seriously impeded" (p. 18). (It should be noted that the audio system was replaced at all sites before the next session.) All the instructors felt that these things had a definite effect on their teaching style. Their use of instructional strategies such as small group work and simulations or games was limited because of restricted movement among the students. One instructor indicated that he took on a more dominant role than in his face-to-face classes "because group interaction was proving so problematic . . . and [he] felt obligated to 'keep the show going as best he could'" (p. 19). Although the instructors felt that the interaction during class was limited, they indicated that the students at each campus had developed a strong rapport with each other.

A recent study conducted by Biro (1998) at the University of Alberta Faculty of Nursing and the Departments of Nursing at three Alberta colleges – Grande Prairie Regional College in Grande Prairie, Keyano College in Fort McMurray, and Red Deer College in Red Deer – described issues that faculty and students had regarding their videoconferencing experiences. A unique characteristic of this study was the collaborative agreement between the university and the three colleges to work together to provide access to the nursing baccalaureate program.

The uniqueness of each institution's history, philosophy, faculty characteristics, values, local affiliations, and funding and enrolment realities, as well as the collaborative relationship agreed upon, and the forum for communication and teaching of courses between
geographically separated partners all contribute[d] to the collaboration experience. (p. 29)

This collaborative agreement added an element to instructor preparation that did not appear in the previously discussed studies – instructors from different institutions involved in teaching a course planned and taught together from their respective sites. Ten faculty, six of whom had previous experience teaching videoconferencing courses, took part in the study. Of the six, three were university faculty and had primary responsibility for an entire course. The other three were at the colleges and were responsible for instruction at their local sites. Most courses were offered to three sites with an average combined class size of 30 students. The college sites always had students, whereas the university site had students for about half of the offered courses.

In describing the need to be organized when teaching a videoconferencing course, one instructor commented, "You have to be even ten times more organized I find with videoconferencing. If you're disorganized, you'll come across *very* disorganized in videoconferencing" (p. 13). Some of the instructors, especially those who had the major responsibility for a course, felt that the combination of the collaboration and videoconferencing had definitely increased their workload. As one instructor indicated, she spent more time preparing the videoconferencing course than she had done for any other course she taught.

And not in the reading – because I was familiar with a lot of the reading. So it wasn't my preparation for class. It was probably three days a week I would spend on teaching the class, getting the resources, getting them faxed up to the sites, making sure that everybody had the same information, collaborating (with the other instructors) so that we had a teleconference (to discuss) what we were going to do ... and all that. A lot more time. (p. 14)

However, one of the college on-site instructors described her experience as one of re-distributing her time. "Instead of maybe preparing a lecture note, or class activities, or whatever that would have to be done, the time was spent collaborating with the other instructors or faxing" (p. 14).

The instructors found that there was a need to adapt their teaching strategies to accommodate the technology and distance environment. In their traditional classes, the majority of the instructors valued highly relational, interactive learning. As one instructor commented,

We have a very strong philosophy about one-on-one or person-toperson interaction. That's very integral to learning. . . . It is the human contact that's critical to everything we do . . . most of nursing really is interaction with people; communication. How do you learn that by yourself? I don't think you do. (p. 16)

Although videoconferencing allows for interaction to occur, the instructors in this study did not feel that they obtained successful results even when they employed a variety of strategies. One of the features of their videoconferencing system was voice-activated microphones and, to prevent audio interruptions, the non-teaching sites used the mute function when not providing input. This feature, combined with the frustration level instructors and students had with the audio and video time delay, unclear images on the television monitors, and the ability to see only one site at a time, contributed to the lack of interaction between sites. Since there was a qualified instructor at each site, the students tended to interact with their onsite instructor and fellow students rather than share the discussions with all sites. Many of the instructors viewed this lack of interaction between sites as a hindrance to the students' learning. Bruce and Shade's (1995) findings, which are based on their personal experiences as videoconferencing instructors and comments from students on how to make instruction more effective, agreed with this view. They described situations where the

camera switched to a site where some of the students were obviously involved in their own discussion.

During one class, an instructor was presenting information and suddenly the camera switched to a site where the learners were talking and laughing among themselves. This was extremely distracting and disappointing to the instructor. . . . Depending upon the system, participants at various sites observed others yawning, talking, day-dreaming, eating, and clock watching. Sometimes, the camera was focused on a small group of learners who performed, while others took a passive role. (p. 20)

These activities resulted in "frustration for instructors and disappointment among other participants. Same site learners became aggravated with each other for talking during presentations" (p. 20).

The need to develop appropriate teaching strategies that would increase the interaction between sites was seen to be of prime importance by the instructors in both Biro's (1998) and Bruce and Shade's (1995) studies. As one instructor commented, "I think [videoconferencing] has great potential – but we have to work at the strategies. The method of delivering [to] and entertaining . . . the student" (Biro, p. 16). Bruce and Shade (1995) described how some instructors attempted to overcome these problems,

Instructors became more adept in engaging learners and balanced [sic] involvement of learners. Proactive instructors gave concise directives, spoke clearly, paced sessions, monitored the length of learners' responses, clarified, and synthesized learners' responses. Proper time management created a professional, respectful atmosphere among learners. (p. 20)

Another Alberta study, conducted by Haughey (1993), completed an evaluation of a videoconferencing pilot program that offered eight University of Alberta courses between sites at the Alberta Transportation and Utilities offices in Edmonton and Red Deer. There were students at both sites for three of the courses; the other five had students at the Red Deer site only. The data were collected through questionnaires, focus group discussions, individual interviews, and observation. Unlike the courses in the previously mentioned studies, the ones selected for this pilot had already been offered by audioconferencing and therefore, were in a distance format. This meant that the course development time was reduced to some degree. As one instructor commented,

I prepared graphics in advance, which is something I normally do with a distance education course. I prepared a set of case studies for students. These are normally not required prior to the beginning of the course but are usually done a week ahead. I also did general overall preparation in terms of the structure of the course. I gave more thought to planning group activities given the different nature of the medium (p. 14).

This extra planning of group activities resulted, in general, in courses designed to be highly interactive. Small and large group discussions, focusing on case studies or handouts, took place in many of the classes with students leading the sessions. Students were also required to make presentations that required the use of audio-visual materials. In describing the student involvement, one instructor stated,

All are trying things and love it. There is more planning re the sharing of materials and trying different strategies. Some made big charts. Some use overheads but not as much (they often use it for objectives) since it takes time to focus and send the image. One tried small groups. We did a play - a chat with Florence Nightingale. One group came with posters and put them on the flip chart. We need to remember to write large. I'm loving new ways of looking at things. It's really exciting. (p. 15)

This comment is a definite contrast to those of the previously mentioned instructors. These results could be related to the way the instructors taught in their traditional classrooms. Haughey commented that "The usual pedagogical style of the instructor is important in determining whether the characteristics of the medium are fully exploited. All these instructors use a highly dialectic style" (p. 15). The student feedback about the instructional strategies used was also positive. In fact, they tended to list the use of open discussion as an optimal instructional strategy. "[S]tudents appreciated the use of group work which enlarged their opportunities for discussion" (p. 16).

These comments were positive, but there were also concerns. The instructors found it difficult to balance the discussion and involvement when there were students at both sites. To overcome this, the instructors "deliberately fostered presentations and discussions by assigning members from both sites to one group. However, the instructors themselves found that with the unequal numbers it was difficult to look at everyone" (p. 17). Another concern was the lack of clarity of the video picture. Since the camera was usually focused on the full class at the remote site, it made it difficult to observe the non-verbal cues of individual students. However, when comparing videoconferencing to audioconferencing, the instructors maintained that,

instead of having to have highly planned lessons with a lot of prepared graphics for visual interest as well as for content which was required for quality audioconferencing, the presentation skills required for videoconferencing were much easier: 'The visual cues kept you on track and provided constant feedback'. (p. 22)

One of the strategies in the videoconferencing class was the type of interaction that occurred between instructor and students. A research study at Edith Cowan University (ECU) in Western Australia (Oliver, 1995) focused on this particular videoconferencing issue. The initial findings suggested that

most of the interactions tended to be social and involved low-level cognitive activities, or focused on a small number of students. Some of the feedback received from students included: a) the course was uninteresting, b) they did not feel as if they were part of the class, and c) they could learn more on their own. Most of the instructors were able to sympathise with the students; but defended their teaching methods with statements concerning lack of preparation time, insufficient support, and little understanding of the technology or the theory of distance education. Oliver (1995) indicated that ECU planned to prepare some guidelines to assist instructors in the use of both the interactive elements of the technologies and a student-centred approach to teaching.

Moore (1993) reinforced these concerns by indicating that the most popular perception of distance education

is that the benefits can be obtained with little change in the ways that education is organised... school teachers, university professors, or corporate trainers can be transformed into distance teachers by moving them from a classroom to a studio, or by moving the cameras and microphones into their classrooms. (p. 1)

Moore pointed out, however, that not only administrators hold this perception. "Many teachers consider the conventional classroom to be an ideal teaching-learning environment and they seek to reproduce it for their distant learners" (pp. 1-2).

Clark (1993) conducted a national survey of American college and university instructors in 1992. He sought to obtain faculty attitudes toward college-level distance education and the use of specific media to teach their courses. The faculty members surveyed were in higher education institutions offering two or four year programs. Some had taught distance education courses while others had not. The results of the study indicated that, on average, instructors were negative toward the idea of personally using distance education to teach their courses. However, those individuals who had substantial experience with using a variety of media in their teaching were more favourable to the concept. When given the choice of specific distance education media, videoconferencing was the one most favoured amongst the university faculty, followed by telecourses (TV-broadcasting) and audiographic teleconferencing. At the two-year college level, telecourses were the first choice followed by videoconferencing and audio teleconferencing. Videoconferencing was the only medium that received a positive response from the faculty at the four-year colleges (pp. 23-28).

Clark (1993) also asked the faculty to provide their concerns about teaching a distance education course. The major concerns were related to the quality of interaction, benefits of distance education, socialization and affective development, learner access to resources, additional course preparation and faculty rewards, and administration support (pp. 29-31). These results matched those of previously mentioned studies.

Maloy and Perry (1991) described the use of videoconferencing to provide 'better, faster, cheaper' training courses in designated areas of specialization for sailors in the United States Navy. Over the first two years of implementation, members from the Center for Naval Analyses studied the policy concerns, management issues, instructional matters, and level of student performance. The summary of the Navy's findings in the area of instructional matters (Maloy and Perry, 1991) highlighted the difference between face-to-face instruction and videoconferencing instruction.

Teaching techniques that are effective in a single classroom do not automatically transfer effectively to a [videoconferencing] setting. . . instructors must learn new communication styles and body language appropriate to maintaining contact with distant students. . . Instructors must also learn to encourage student interaction at remote sites with deliberate techniques, such as asking distant students as

many questions as they would ask [if the students were] in a "live audience" (p. 43 - 44).

The instructors in this study also identified concerns with the effect the number of sites, the class size, and the scheduling process had on the students' level of learning. They warned that

Managers cannot substantially increase the number of learners in multiple sites unless they simultaneously augment instructional support systems. These include on-camera 'office hours' for remote students, on-site subject matter experts, peer tutoring,

[videoconferencing] small group exchanges, and learning centers.

These support systems are a hedge against depersonalization. (p. 44)

As for the scheduling of the courses, the general consensus of the participants was that training programs "must be the top priority and the scheduler must prepare to defend against disruptions" (p. 45). Maloy and Perry (1991) commented that although the scheduling problems that occurred in this study may have been due to the hierarchical structure of the navy, i.e., someone of higher rank overriding a scheduled training session, "the lesson is generalizable: interruption of orderly, planned instruction should occur only in an emergency" (p. 45).

In general in these studies, instructors tended to use the same or similar instructional strategies to those in their face-to-face classes, -- they worried about reductions in the amount of interactions with students, and they found that more time was required to plan videoconferencing classes. Some felt that the videoconferencing environment forced them to be more teacher-centred than they wished.

Training

Olcott and Wright (1995) described two major barriers found in their survey of the literature that inhibit instructors from participating in distance teaching. The first barrier is concerned with instructors' perception that developing distance education courses may undermine their autonomy and

control of the course. The other major barrier to participation encompasses the broad area of compensation, training, and incentive structures for teaching at a distance. Many of the issues associated with this second barrier are affected by the priority given to distance education by institutions and academic units that, in turn, is reflected in administrative support and leadership. They identify administrators – President, Deans, and Department Chairs – as being important in setting "the climate for the academic culture's receptivity to distance education across the institution" (p. 11). In addition, administrators control and allocate resources, schedule teaching assignments, grant release time, provide financial support, and support faculty training.

Some of the key practical steps that Olcott and Wright (1995) say institutions can take to increase instructor participation were to "develop a discipline-based research agenda for faculty teaching via educational telecommunications technology; establish training, release-time, faculty assignment, and compensation models with departmental chairpersons and with deans; and finally, support faculty involvement at regional and national distance education meetings" (p. 12). However, on a day-to-day basis, Olcott and Wright (1995) suggested that distance education advocates include as one of their strategies the creation of "a comprehensive faculty development program" (p. 13) which may include faculty workshops and forums, electronic networks and newsletters, awards programs, and the development of "a cadre of exemplary distance faculty who are willing to share their experiences" (p. 13).

As noted in Chapter One, numerous studies and reports recommended more training for instructors (Burke, 1994; Evans Associates, 1993; Kromholz and Johnstone, 1988; Shaeffer, et. al., 1990) and the provision of training was a key component of Olcott and Wright's (1995) institutional framework for promoting faculty participation in distance education. Cyrs (1997a) stated that: It is incumbent on post-secondary administrators as well as corporate, government, and other user groups to provide the needed support and training for instructors who will be required to teach though any delivery technology, whether it be interactive video, telephone, desktop video, or the World Wide Web. (p. 1)

Purdy and Wright (1992) voiced their opinion that distance teaching was different:

Is teaching students through any or all distance education methods really nothing more than adapting traditional classroom approaches, techniques, or styles to situations where communication with the student is via written lessons or computer exchange in asynchronous time format? Is there nothing more to distance education instruction than putting a camera or microphone in front of instructors and allowing or encouraging them to replicate their traditional classroom teaching style or technique? Or, as we believe, does true distance education imply something much more than a simple modification of what is done in the "live" classroom? (pp. 2-3)

Ostendorf (1997) reported that more students are taught by videoconferencing technology than through any other electronic medium. She went on to say:

Those instructors who wish to secure a place in the classroom of the future must first understand these technologies and the environment they are about to enter. They must step from the traditional classroom into the video world, accepting and adapting to its unique requirements. (p. 51)

In addition, Ostendorf (1997) described five elements that must be mastered to teach successfully by videoconferencing.

First, it is critically important to understand how distance learning differs from both commercial television and the traditional classroom.

. . Next, the instructor must be introduced in a general way to the

basic technology to be employed, and to the specific role the instructor plays in the delivery of instruction. . . . Third, course design must take into consideration the system capabilities, the demographics of participating learners, and the electronic tools available to execute the design. But above all, it must demonstrate a bias for direct learner involvement and participation throughout the lesson. . . . Next comes training and practice to achieve mastery of each individual teaching tool. . . . Finally, the instructor must master unique facilitation skills to assure that all remote learners can participate in interaction and other involvement activities equitably and with ease. (pp. 51-52)

However, in order to master these five elements, instructors must be given time and training. Dillon, Hengst, and Zoller (1991), in their study of instructional strategies and student involvement in distance education, noted that only,

A minority of the faculty interviewed reported receiving any training regarding the use of the [videoconferencing] system. Two of these sought help from another experienced faculty member. Those who received training reported that the content of the training covered only the operational and administrative aspects of the system (how to use the studio, how to use the courier service, who to contact when problems arise). None received any training on [videoconferencing] teaching, course design, or the distance learner. (p. 38) Gunawardena (1990) quoted an instructor talking about learning to teach by videoconferencing as,

Learning theory and the process of learning is very, very important in the designing of programs that are effectively delivered this way, and it just isn't the question of essentially turning the camera on a professor in a classroom, although that has been done. . . . What really pays off is when you take the principles of learning theory as they apply to the electronic medium and you restructure your courses, and you train your professors to take advantage of this medium, then you have a very powerful tool, a very powerful tool that most of higher education has no appreciation for. . . . If I were a young faculty member starting out today, I would learn everything I could about this medium [videoconferencing] because some of the greatest problems facing higher education can't be solved by any other way than by the creative use of technology. (pp. 42-43)

One of the conclusions of Gehlauf et. al.'s (1991) study was that a training program for all videoconferencing instructors was a must. The feedback from the instructor survey provided 29 specific ideas of what should be included in a training program and how it should be conducted. "Their immediate concern was for technical issues such as familiarity and practice with the equipment. In addition, the participants indicated a need to address pedagogical issues including more 'hands-on' or 'role playing' experiences to foster interaction with students" (p. 24). The need for training in the development of effective audio-visual materials and for how to work effectively with technicians and remote site co-ordinators was also identified.

The re-design of an instructor's face-to-face teaching style was described by one distance education instructor as having changed "to facilitate learner-centered instructional systems that promote knowledge generation through collaborative learning" (Gunawardena, 1992, p. 70). To accomplish this, her role became that of "a facilitator guiding and supporting the learning process. This is no easy task, and consumes much more time and energy than does teaching a traditional class" (p. 70). As early as 1981, Charles Wedemeyer noted:

What is different about learning via technology today is the scope of learning facilitated by technology, the altered role of teachers and learners, the changed environment for learning necessitated by technology, and the sophistication of the process used in developing instruction that will be communicated by technology. (p. 111, cited in Purdy and Wright, 1992, p. 3)

The changed roles of instructors in the distance education enterprise and the support they need to develop the unique skills necessary for effective distance education were summed up by Gunawardena (1992) when she said:

A sound faculty development program is necessary to help faculty assume their new roles and responsibilities. Institutional support and adequate support systems for distance teaching, coupled with opportunities for professional development, are essential to sustaining faculty motivation and recruiting new faculty to the distance teaching enterprise. (p. 71)

Cuffman and MacRae (1996) provided a rationale for formal training programs for videoconferencing instructors. Included in their rationale was the need to help instructors adapt to the technology; to review or renew emphasis on how students learn and the various instructional methods available within the videoconferencing environment; and to link distance education to the institution's educational and outreach missions. Based on their review of the literature and their rationale, they suggested that "improvements in teaching [videoconferencing] courses requires a formal process of organized training programs [and that] training is beneficial for faculty" (pp. 4-5). They recommended that further study be done on the role and components of formal instructor training programs for videoconferencing.

Conclusion

It is apparent from the distance education literature and the interest shown by educational institutions that the demand for distance education courses will increase. This demand will also have institutions examining the various technological options available for delivering their courses. With many of the technical problems resolved and lower telecommunication costs, the educational applications of compressed videoconferencing are becoming obvious. This, however, will not only affect the institutions, but will also have an impact on the instructional roles of the faculty members. As Beaudoin (1990) pointed out,

faculty accustomed to more conventional teaching modes will have to acquire new skills to assume expanded roles not only to teach distance learners, but also to organise instructional resources suitable in content and format for independent study. . . . [They] must be adept at facilitating students' learning through particular attention to process, unlike classroom-based teachers whose traditional role is largely confined to selecting and sharing content. (p. 21)

The reviewed literature identified a number of issues instructors had with teaching by videoconferencing. For some instructors, this new environment was difficult and threatening because, not only did they have to be adept at both content and process, they also had to have an understanding of the technology. However, even those instructors who were comfortable with the technology found it difficult to adjust to not being able to see all of the students all the time; to the inability to read the nonverbal clues of the students because of the small images on the screen; to the lack of interaction between sites; and to the extra preparation time required.

The need for training for all videoconferencing instructors was viewed as a necessity. The training, however, had to cover more than a demonstration of which buttons to press and who to call for technical assistance. Effective use of videoconferencing technology for interactive learning requires practice and planning as well as attention to instructional strategies.

Videoconferencing is not an easy technology to implement, not least because it involves high levels of cooperation, often from already busy staff. It is often threatening to instructors who have not reflected on their abilities to provide interaction in their classes, and is much harder than face-to-face communications, so the instructor needs to be motivated to continue. However, if implemented correctly, videoconferencing capabilities can open up vast opportunities for the improvement and expansion of education and training for both instructors and students. With this in mind, I sought to conceptualize the experiences of five instructors who were using videoconferencing for the first time. Through discussions and observations of their classes, I documented the instructors' perceptions of their videoconferencing teaching compared to their traditional classroom teaching, their fears and/or concerns, and the challenges they faced. This documentation led to five individual stories, which I then used in responding to the research questions I proposed in Chapter 1 of this study.

CHAPTER 3 METHODOLOGY Philosophical Stance

This study employed a qualitative research design that explored instructors' videoconferencing environments through observation, interviews, and the analysis of related documents. The qualitative methodology was chosen in order to obtain instructors' personal understandings of the environment and their reflections on their experiences in videoconferencing. Lancy (1993) described this approach as being "best employed in situations that have relatively confined temporal and physical boundaries [and] . . . ideal for phenomena that are patently complex and about which little is known for certainty" (p. 9). In this study, there were two videoconferencing environments. One environment had a local classroom and two remote classrooms; the other had a local classroom and six remote classrooms. In both situations, the classrooms were connected through compressed two-way, real-time, interactive audio and video technology. Part of the study focused on the extent to which instructors saw the remote classrooms as part of a single environment.

I sought to learn as much as possible about the expectations and experiences of videoconferencing instructors by listening to their stories and observing them in class. I knew from my experiences with training instructors on how to use distance education technology effectively to teach their courses that each person has his or her own concerns and questions. Although there were specific questions identified for this study, additional ones were raised during my interviews with the instructors. Edson (1988) described this as one of the reasons researchers undertake qualitative inquiry. "We undertake qualitative inquiry not so much from our recognition that we do not know all the answers to our problems but rather from an appreciation of the fact that we do not know all the questions" (p. 45). According to Glesne and Peshkin (1992), "Qualitative researchers seek to make sense of personal stories and the ways in which they intersect" (p. 1). Lincoln and Guba (1985) expanded on this idea, explaining that in their view, qualitative research was within the "interpretivist paradigm which portrays a world in which reality is socially constructed, complex, and everchanging" (p. 6). The qualitative researcher accepts that realities are multiple, socially constructed and complex and, because of this, views the research as seeking understanding and interpretations about how participants develop the world around them. To do this, the researcher must have the following key characteristics: responsiveness, adaptability, ability to process data as it is collected, and to clarify, summarise, and validate the participants' contributions by probing the idiosyncratic and the unexpected (Taylor & Bogdan, 1984). Lancy (1993) further described the qualitative researcher as opportunistic: "By being on the scene, the researcher observes and collects incidents, artifacts, and quotations that illuminate the phenomena" (p. 9).

It is my belief that distance education technologies are here to stay, will increase in use, and as with all educational innovation, can either diminish or enhance the quality of learning. Faculty members are key to unlocking the technologies' potential; and because of that, a goal of this study was to identify ways to support faculty, and ensure their effective use of distance education technologies.

Multiple Realities

I assumed that the instructors would have different ways of understanding their videoconferencing experiences. Their realities of the situation would vary because of their teaching disciplines, past experiences, and beliefs and values about teaching adults and using technology as a teaching tool. Those individuals who had previous distance teaching experience, such as audio conferencing, were likely to relate to the experience differently than those who had no experience in this type of situation. In addition, my own distance education background as a trainer of

instructors in both audio and audio-graphics environments, instructional designer, and instructor meant that I brought my own realities of the effectiveness of videoconferencing into each of the meetings with the instructors.

My belief is that knowledge is constructed internally by individuals rather than externally, and because of this, there will be multiple realities of any given situation. Lincoln and Guba (1985), in describing the qualitative paradigm, classified this type of thinking as 'constructed reality'. They indicated that there are "always an infinite number of constructions that might be made and hence there are multiple realities. Any given construction may not be (and almost certainly is not) in a one-to-one relation to . . . other constructions of the same . . . entity" (p. 84). As well, they suggested that each individual's reality is "undoubtedly incomplete or erroneous to some degree" (p. 84).

In talking with the instructors, I expected that they would describe their own realities of the videoconferencing experiences. From these multiple realities and my own experiences, I hoped to obtain a better understanding of what it meant to be a distance education instructor using videoconferencing technology and how this knowledge would be of benefit to other instructors.

Selection of Participants

For the qualitative researcher, Lancy (1993) indicated that "[o]ne chooses the site(s) that will yield the maximum information regarding the specific topic/issue one is investigating" (p. 16). In my study, given the relative newness of compressed videoconferencing, I sought permission to interview three participants in a pilot study. The specific topic dealt with the use of compressed videoconferencing to provide university courses to students at remote sites. The three instructors, who were part of a pilot project, were the initial participants for this study. Two of them were teaching a full-year course; the other taught two courses, one each term.

These instructors had teaching experience in the traditional university classroom setting; however, the distance education format was completely new for them. For one instructor the course content was also new; the other two indicated that they had taught their respective courses for at least six years. Initial discussions for the project began in February 1995 and in late June the pilot project was approved to begin in September. The timelines for development were less than two months. I heard about the project after it had begun and immediately sought and received permission to study the instructors' perceptions of the experience. I approached the instructors in early January 1996 and all agreed to participate in my study. I planned a set of three interviews: one to focus on their previous teaching experiences; one on their experiences using videoconferencing; and the third following up on the second with additional questions concerning their experiences and to obtain their advice on teaching using videoconferencing and the training process for instructors.

I had only completed one round of interviews when it became evident that one of the instructors was unwilling to provide further interview time. He saw his participation in the pilot project as a task assigned by his chair and was unwilling to invest more time in the project than he considered necessary. I then sought access to another videoconferencing project that was on-going. The project, to provide baccalaureate education to students in six community colleges, had begun in Fall 1995. Instructors in the two courses being offered in Winter 1996 agreed to participate in this study. One of these instructors was new to videoconferencing while the other had taught a videoconferencing course in the previous year, and because of the negative experience, was eager to make changes.

Data Gathering

Glesne and Peshkin (1992), Lancy (1993), and Lincoln and Guba (1985) all agree that there are a variety of methods that can be used to gather data and that qualitative researchers must carefully analyse what they

want to learn. The three methods that seem to dominate are: observation, interviewing, and document collection. I used audio-taped interviews as my main source of data collection, but also observed the instructors teach and watched some video recordings of sessions. Table 2 provides an overview of the interview and class observation schedule. The instructors also shared with me course outlines, assignments, and material on videoconferencing that they had.

Table 2

Instructor	# of Interviews	Total Length (hrs.)	Timing of interviews	# In-Class Observations	Videotapes Observed
A	1	1	End of 2 nd month	1 - end 2 nd month	2
В	2	3 ½	End of 1 st and 3 rd month of second term*	2 – mid- 2 nd and 3 rd month of second term	3
С	3	4 ½	End 1 st , 2 nd , and 3 rd month of second term*	2 – mid- 2 nd and 3 rd month of second term	3
D	2	3 ½	Month prior to course; start 4 th month	2 – start of 1 st and 3 rd month	0
E	2	3 ½	Month prior to and after course	2 – mid- 2 nd and end 3 rd month	0

Overview of Interview and Observation Schedule (* indicates full-year course)

Interviewing Participants

Glesne and Peshkin (1992) described how in qualitative research, the nature of relationships "depends on two factors: the quality of our interactions to support our research – or rapport – and the quality of our selfawareness to manage the impact of self on our research – or subjectivity" (p. 93). For them, rapport is a "distance-reducing, anxiety-quieting, trustbuilding mechanism" (p. 94) that is necessary in order for participants to talk about themselves and their experiences. They warned that the appearance, speech, and behaviour of the researcher would influence the quality of rapport that was developed with the participants and emphasized that "[t]he contribution of rapport to all modes of qualitative research remains essential. It is not separate from other aspects of doing good research, but an integral part of collecting data. Research could not succeed without the trust that rapport engenders" (p. 100).

Glesne and Peshkin (1992) illustrated some unique reasons for interviews:

The opportunity to learn about what you cannot see and to explore alternative explanations of what you do see is the special strength of interviewing in qualitative inquiry. To the above sets of circumstances add the serendipitous learnings that emerge from the unexpected turns in discourse that questions evoke. (p. 65)

Prior to the initial meeting, permission was received from the instructors to tape-record the interviews. By recording the interviews, I was able to accomplish two things: I had a complete record of what was said and I was able focus my attention on the discussion rather than note taking.

In developing a positive and relaxed rapport with each of the instructors, I began by explaining how I became interested in distance education, in the use of videoconferencing as a medium for teaching and, more specifically, in the experiences of the instructors who used the medium. I hoped that sharing stories about my first encounters with distance education and the experiences I had teaching others how to use audio and audiographics technology would help emphasize my genuine interest in my research area and the importance of their contributions. I also tried to establish a level of trust with each instructor by ensuring confidentiality of our discussions, carefully listening to each story, being attentive to individual feelings and reactions to the interviews, and sharing the interview transcripts for feedback.

However, after the first interviews, I realised that because of my

previous background in distance education, I was entering this research study with a positive attitude about the potential of distance education and may have biased the conversations both by my interest in distance education and the level of knowledge I had. I was, therefore, conscious that I could have created a bias toward positive stories. Having the conversations transcribed verbatim not only allowed the participants to review the transcribed data for accuracy, but also enabled me to listen for any evidence of my own bias. I was relieved to find that participants had readily provided their own views on compressed videoconferencing and did not seem to have been constrained by my enthusiasm.

After reading the interview transcripts, none of the participants suggested any correction that changed the overall theme of his/her comments. Two participants, however, made reminder notes for themselves of additional information that they wanted to discuss during our next interview. With the four instructors who were interviewed more than once, the transcript of the last interview was sent to them by mail and I followed up with a phone call a week later to get their feedback. None of the instructors had any corrections or additional information to add.

My initial interview plan was to hold a form the terview with the instructors in January and then meet with them informally on their video teaching days. I had hoped to have a second interview part way through the term and another one at the end. However, because of their schedules and varying levels of interest in discussing their experiences, the number of interviews, which took 1 to 1 ½ hours, varied – instructors B, D, and E were interviewed twice and instructor C three times. Instructor A was interviewed only once. Although he had no problem with taking part in my study, he made it clear that he was a very busy person and one interview would be all he would have time to give. He told me that he really did not see why his experience would be of any interest to me because

I'm teaching the way I always do. I haven't, and don't plan to, make

any changes in how I teach in the videoconferencing class just because I'm in front of a camera. Besides, I'll probably never do this again; so why try to get fancy and change the way I have done things for years.

The interviews were spread over the second term for two reasons. One was to avoid times of potential stress for the faculty, i.e., exams and assignment due dates. The other reason was to allow time for the tapes to be transcribed and the instructors to review the transcripts between interviews. For instructors B, D, and E, the first interview was held in their offices on campus. Since Instructor C taught a course at another College prior to his videoconferencing class, I gave him a ride to campus. We began the interview in my car and finished it in the fourth floor lounge of Education North. Instructor A was interviewed in the videoconferencing classroom before and after his class. In all the other cases, one of the interviews was conducted after I had observed the class. This gave us the opportunity to discuss how the class went and for me to clarify why the instructor did or did not do something. Three of the instructors (B, C, and E) also used this time to ask for suggestions on how they could change some aspect of their teaching or incorporate a particular technique.

The format for the interviews was semi-structured. I had developed some basic questions that were asked of all instructors, and after that, the questions were generated from the discussions. At the first interview, the instructors were asked to describe their teaching background; their general approach to teaching within the traditional classroom setting, including class preparation and student interaction strategies; their understanding of the role of the university instructor and the students; and, their preferred class size, room set-up, and instructional media. From there, the discussion focused on their understanding of distance education and the use of technology to teach a distance education course. They were then asked to describe their initial experiences in the videoconferencing environment including the

topics/assignments selected for the course, training, class preparation, student interaction, role of the technology, and the available support structures. During the remaining interviews, the instructors were asked to further discuss their teaching experiences related to: teaching on-camera, the effectiveness of the training program, the use of videoconferencing technology and other available technologies, their interactions with students, and ideas on what they would keep or change should they teach another videoconferencing course. Part of every instructor's discussions was a comparison of his or her traditional classroom teaching/environment to the videoconferencing situation. In particular, they focused on the amount of preparation time, the dynamics of student interactions, and the role of the physical environment.

Observing Videoconferencing Classes

In addition to the interviews, I was a non-participant observer in each instructor's class; and in the case of the three instructors involved in the pilot project, videotapes of several of their classes were also viewed. Because instructors A, B & C were involved in a pilot project, they were expected to video-tape their broadcast class. The instructors were encouraged to view the tapes to review their teaching. None of them did for various reasons - they did not have enough time; they had to make a special trip to pick up or view the tape; and/or they didn't see the need. One of the instructors, however, commented that the students were using the tapes at their sites for review or to catch up when they missed a class. The other two instructors (D and E) did not take the time to video-tape their classes. Both felt they had enough to handle without having to remember to put the tape in the VCR. By viewing the tapes rather than the actual class, I was able to observe more classes without actually attending, to replay the tapes as necessary, and to document the strategies the instructors used and compare them with those observed in the classes I attended and with others the instructors indicated they had used. I was also able to assess how

frequently, how long, and why instructors went to various sites.

Data Analysis

Glesne and Peshkin (1992) described data analysis as the organization of what "you have seen, heard, and read so that you can make sense of what you have learned. . . . To do so, you must categorize, synthesize, search for patterns, and interpret the data you have collected" (p. 127). According to Lincoln and Guba (1985), the analysis of data in a qualitative research study "must begin with the very first data collection, in order to facilitate the emergent design, grounding of theory, and emergent structure of later data collection phases" (p.242). The strategies and guidelines used to analyze the data, however, vary from study to study. Patton (1990) observed,

Because each qualitative study is unique, the analytical approach used will be unique. Because qualitative inquiry depends, at every stage, on the skills, training, insights, and capabilities of the researcher, qualitative analysis ultimately depends on the analytical intellect and style of the analyst.... Regardless of how analysis is done, analysts have an obligation to monitor and report their own analytical procedures and processes as fully and truthfully as possible. (p. 372)

For this study, I undertook the data analysis in two phases. During the first phase, multiple activities were occurring simultaneously and I kept a notebook to help with recalling events and decisions. During a three-week period, I was interviewing some instructors; transcribing the interview tapes for others; and attending classes, reviewing video-tapes, and summarizing the class observation data. Based on a strategy Glaser and Strauss (1967) referred to as memoing, I used coloured index cards to make notes referencing trends, unique features, similarities, concepts and words that each participant had discussed which might be pertinent to their individual experiences or correspond to what other participants had mentioned. Lauer and Asher (1988) described this preliminary identification process as coding – the setting up and labeling of categories, which then become the variables of the study. . . . Researchers analyze the communication data, notice patterns, identify and operationally define variables, and relate them to one another. (pp. 26-27)

The original transcripts were then re-read to identify a preliminary list of key ideas. Themes emerged as the instructors reiterated similar experiences with teaching a videoconferencing course for the first time. These themes, in turn, were used as a basis for identifying questions that required further clarification and validation. By analysing the data as it was collected, I was able to focus and shape the study as it proceeded (Glesne and Peshkin, 1992).

I kept an electronic journal of ideas, hunches, and general thoughts as I read through the transcripts and reviewed the numerous journal articles I had obtained over the duration of the study. In addition, I created a computer file of quotations from the reviewed literature that I felt might have some relevance later in the study.

The second phase of data analysis took place after all the data had been collected and involved organizing, analysing, and interpreting the data. The analytical strategies suggested by Glesne and Peshkin (1992), Lancy (1993), Lincoln and Guba (1985), Patton (1990), and Rudestam and Newton (1992) were used as guidelines for planning this phase of the research process.

I began by reviewing all the data to identify what Lincoln and Guba (1985) referred to as "units of information." These are words, phrases, or even whole paragraphs that contain information relevant to the study and "can stand by itself . . . in the absence of any additional information other than a broad understanding of the context in which the inquiry is carried out" (p. 345). Each unit of information was coded according to (1) the source of the information, i.e. interview transcripts, class observation notes, date, and page number, (2) which instructor provided the information, and (3) a key

word or phrase that best described the essence of the information.

Once all the data had been coded, the process of categorizing the units of information began. Glesne and Peshkin (1992) referred to this process as "entering the code mines" because of the tedious task of "sorting and defining and defining those scraps of collected data . . . that are applicable to our research purpose" (p. 133). The process used to categorize the data followed the steps outlined by Lincoln and Guba (1985). These included:

- 1. Selecting and reading the first unit of information from the master list and noting its content. This information was entered under the first category
- column of a computer-generated table. At this point, no name was given to the category.
- 2. Selecting and reading the next unit of information and noting its content using a "tacit or intuitive process" to determine if the information was similar to the first. If it was, the information was entered in the same column; if not, it became the first entry in the second column.

This process was continued until all units of information had been categorized.

Once all the units of information had been categorized and named, I asked two individuals to use these names as they read through the data to check my perceptions. The three of us then met to discuss their comments and to review the set of categories to determine any overlap, ambiguities, and missing, or incomplete areas. This created a revised set which I once again reviewed against the preliminary list of themes, checked quotations, and tried to ensure that I was comfortable with this final set. Last, I reviewed the categories in terms of my original research questions and noted where the conversations had taken us. The final set of categories were used to write each instructor's story and to discuss the findings of the study.

Trustworthiness

In this study, to ensure the trustworthiness of the data and of my interpretations, I used the four criteria suggested by Lincoln and Guba (1985): credibility (true value), transferability (applicability), dependability (consistency), and confirmability (neutrality). (pp. 289-331)

Credibility, according to Lincoln and Guba (1985), is the extent to which findings and interpretations are seen as credible by those who were the sources of the data (p. 296). In order to address this concern, the following activities were built into this study: (a) member checks to verify the accuracy of my understandings and interpretations of the data, and (b) peer debriefing to allow me to discuss, analyse, and defend my position in relation to my methods, analysis and interpretations of that data with a disinterested peer – that is, "to an experienced protagonist doing his or her best to play the devil's advocate" (Lincoln & Guba, 1985, p. 308).

Transferability is the extent to which the findings of a study apply in contexts other than the one in which they were obtained. However, according to Lincoln and Guba (1985), unlike

conventional researchers [who] are expected to make relatively precise statements about external validity (expressed, for example, in the form of statistical confidence limits), the naturalist can only set out working hypotheses together with a description of them and context in which they were found to hold. (p. 316)

To assist individuals in determining the transferability of the data to be obtained in this study, an effort was made to identify as fully as possible the contexts within which the data were collected. Patton (1990) suggested that one way to check for external validity is to be "careful to limit conclusions to those situations, time periods, persons, contexts, and purposes for which the data are applicable" (p. 471). Reporting the findings of the study with extensive description in the participants' own words, also assures that others who read the study will have adequate information to

determine whether or not the study can be generalized to their intended population.

During data collection in naturalistic inquiry, dependability makes allowance for research designs to emerge and evolve further, theory to develop, and changes to occur which cannot be referred to as error in procedure (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). In this study, I shared the interview transcripts and the notes I took during the class observations with all the instructors. Once the stories were written, I asked the instructors for feedback. Only two of the instructors volunteered to read the stories and provide feedback. In both cases, they were happy with the end results. To check the dependability of the other three stories, I shared them with the two individuals who assisted with interpreting the data. Their suggestions involved adding more quotes to back up what or why the instructors did or did not do something. Glesne and Peshkin (1992) recommended these procedures which will help to "(1) verify that you have reflected the insider's perspective; (2) inform you of sections that, if published, could be problematic for either personal or political reasons; and (3) help you to develop new ideas and interpretations" (p. 147).

Confirmability, the last attribute of trustworthiness, uses the confirmability audit as its major procedure. By keeping journals and field notes, preparing data files, keeping all interview tapes, and storing all computer files on both disks and the hard drive, I have maintained an audit trail that can be retrieved for review at any time. Further, substantial portions of the data gathered and the analysis and interpretation have been audited by participants and peers.

Ethical Considerations

In discussing ethical concerns, Glesne and Peshkin (1992) referred to the principles of the Council of the American Anthropological Association. They call for: safeguarding the rights, interests, and sensitivities of those studied; obtaining informed consent; maintaining participant anonymity;

giving fair return for all services; and reflecting upon the foreseeable repercussions of the research. These are similar to the provisions of the Canadian Tri-Council Report on Human Ethics and the requirements of the University of Alberta and were followed for this study.

The participants were informed that approval from the Department of Educational Policy Studies was obtained, as outlined by the University of Alberta, before I began the study. All information that could identify instructors or courses remained confidential and was stored in a secure location to which only I had access. In reporting data, letter pseudonyms were used. Member checking of transcripts gave participants the opportunity to amend or withdraw any statements that put them at any risk prior to publication of findings, while also safeguarding their interests and sensitivities. In addition, every participant had the right to withdraw from the study at any time and for any reason.

Beyond these guiding principles, I have reported the conclusions as supported by the data, and have made every effort to expose my personal biases. This has been done to allow individual readers to use their own judgment to confirm or reject the conclusions presented in this study.

CHAPTER 4 FIVE INSTRUCTORS' STORIES

Each of the five instructors who volunteered to assist with this research project presented their experiences with the videoconferencing technology during personal interviews that took place at various times throughout the teaching term. Their stories provide an insight into their understandings of teaching adults, what is involved in distance education, how they teach their traditional classes, and how they adapted to the videoconferencing environment.

Context of the Experience

In reading the stories, it is important to understand the context in which the instructors were teaching. Instructors A, B, and C were involved in a pilot project that was a collaboration between a University unit and two Northern Alberta Colleges. The four courses taught were required first year courses within their specific departments of the Faculty. For this project, however, these courses were not part of any particular program. Rather, they were used to test the viability of such a collaboration using videoconferencing technology. The project was not continued at the end of the school year.

The 39 students in the pilot project were all located at six sites in Northern Alberta. In order to meet the minimum enrolment requirements set by the University, some of the sites accepted students who did not have the academic background required to take the courses. In some cases, the students were still completing their high school upgrading program and had not written their final exams when the pilot project began.

The technology at each site consisted of two television monitors, one camera which was mounted on the television monitors and focused on the students' sitting area, a console, a document camera, and movable desk microphones that were shared between three to five students. The

instructor's site also had a computer that could be used to create text during class or display pre-stored text.

The seating arrangement varied. Three sites used tables arranged in a u-shape with the students sitting on the outside of the U; two sites used rectangular tables with the students sitting beside and across from each other; one site was located in a narrow room with two rows of single, rectangular tables that accommodated two students each.

Approval for a September 1995 start was not obtained until late June 1995 and therefore, required finding instructors to teach the selected courses because instructors' teaching assignments had already been allocated. The three instructors selected were not hired until late August, and this had an impact on the amount of technical training and preparation time they had. The technical training and support was provided by one of the University's videoconferencing trainers, and the actual hands-on training, which provided an introduction to how to use the various components of the videoconferencing system, took about 45-60 minutes.

Instructors D & E were from a different Faculty. In this Faculty, distance education technology had been used for a number of years to offer courses to students at remote sites within Alberta so the decision of whether or not courses would continue to be taught that way was not in question. What was different was the use of videoconferencing technology to deliver the courses. While two videoconferencing pilot projects had taken place in 1980 – 1983 and 1992 – 1993, these occurred at off-campus sites. In 1995, the Faculty made the decision to implement videoconferencing as one of its delivery modes and began offering courses through the University's videoconferencing facilities. This decision by itself was nothing unusual. However, the program focus was a collaborative baccalaureate program between the University and a number of regional colleges in Alberta, and so this was a unique videoconferencing situation because each of the sites had a qualified instructor present during every class. This plus the fact that all of the students had met the entrance requirements meant that instructors D and E were working in a different type of environment than instructors A, B, and C.

The technology at the sites for this project included two television monitors, a camera mounted on the monitors and focused on the classroom, a console, a document camera, and microphones. Some of the sites had been designed specifically for videoconferencing and in those rooms the microphones were fixed either on the desks or from the ceiling. At the other sites, movable desk microphones were shared between three to five students. At all sites except the university, the classrooms were arranged with rows of long tables facing the television monitors. At the university site, a large conference table that comfortably sat six on each side and two at one end was used. At each site, the instructor controlled the use of the console.

In August, prior to my interviews with instructors D and E, I was invited to attend a meeting to listen to the problems the instructors encountered the previous year and how they thought they could be avoided in the coming year. The atmosphere of this meeting was very negative; rather than having someone provide information on how to incorporate various teaching strategies to improve interaction, the 'experienced' instructors focused on what did not work. Instructors D and E were present at this meeting and indicated that their concerns about teaching via videoconferencing had been reinforced. Both, however, were not scheduled to teach until January and had different ideas on how to prepare. Instructor E, with a year's experience behind her, planned to do research, i.e., what was distance education; what teaching strategies work, what didn't; how to revise the curriculum to better meet the students' needs. Instructor D indicated that her schedule was such that she did not have the time to even think about the course, never mind plan to teach it via videoconferencing. This was something she would work on during the Christmas break.

Although the Faculty had decided to use videoconferencing to offer its program outside the university, instructors D and E did not receive any more training than instructors A, B, and C. They were introduced to how to use the technology but did not receive assistance with designing their courses for the videoconferencing environment.

The videoconferencing technology used by all the instructors in my study was basically the same. However, classroom arrangements, number and background of students, pilot project vs. on-going project, instructors' backgrounds, and training and preparation lead time made each instructor's experience somewhat unique.

Instructor A

This individual classified himself as an "experienced university instructor" who had taught six courses a year for the previous six years. During that time, he had taught the two courses which were to be videoconferenced about five or six times to groups of 150 to 200 undergraduate students in a large lecture theatre. In contrast, the first videoconferenced course had 25 students among six sites and the second course had eight students from three sites.

He considered himself to be a successful instructor and knew that he had a reputation for making the course material "entertaining." To him, this was the purpose of introductory courses:

I tend to make the material entertaining and especially at the introductory level where it is a service course by definition. I see its major purpose is really . . . just to fire up people's imagination, you know, and fire up people's - - their interest in the area.

He went on to explain that while some lecturers tended to be too dry in an attempt to "maintain some kind of scientific, imperial, quality" it distanced or alienated students from an area "that I consider fascinating and with a lot of everyday applications."

In his traditional classroom, he said, he was known for bounding around in an academic gown or lab coat and playing a role. This comment, combined with his first attempt to explain that he was known for "more of a, what's the term? Not dramatic presentation but a little bit more – I have to be careful how I put this – I guess you could say that I rely on a kind of flamboyance," provides some clues about his view of himself as a performer. Later in the discussion, he referred again to his style of teaching, "although I don't talk about it much, my first degree was in Fine Arts and was in theatre and acting. I was a professional actor for three years so during that time I was in front of the camera and enjoyed performing." When he was approached to teach the two courses, he was unaware of the format that was going to be used. He had no idea what it meant when he was told that he had agreed to teach the courses by videoconferencing; but he got the gist of it in the first 45 minutes of the first training session. He confirmed that the training session had focused on how to use the technology but explained that there had been very little time before the first class began. Asked whether there had been any hints on designing his course for the medium, he explained: "No, No. But I'm very pig-headed about that and I probably wouldn't have taken much advice anyway." He went on,

I mean, you have your style, you have your, you know, I . . . I've used the document camera once or twice but, what I use here is really an old-fashioned delivery style because it is going back to using the overhead projector and screen. And, until something better comes along, you know.

He noted that he had been given some handouts that he still carried around with him: documents explaining distance learning and guidelines on how to dress. The trainer also sat in on all the sessions of the first term course and for him, "I mean, she had no purpose to be here. Everything worked well and the technology I can understand . . . I'm sure she got bored."

He used the overhead projector for all his classes because he disliked the blackboard; he hated turning his back on people and preferred to face them and interact with them as he worked. He went on to describe colleagues who had developed computer graphic presentations. "Hell, to me it looks like a lot of work . . . It's a 20 minute set-up and you also have to be quite computer-literate which I'm not." Not only did he disparage the use of the computer graphics, he thought that videos were time-fillers. He was always running short of class time himself and believed that an instructor only used film clips and videos when the person was "burnt out", didn't want to talk, and showed a film to fill up some space:
I don't use them much because I just don't. I find that I... can probably demonstrate in the restricted time I have in class, and lecture, demonstrate, what the whole experiment is by acting it out myself (rather) than by dimming all the lights and starting the projector.

Although he didn't use them himself even in his large traditional classes, he discussed the benefits of a video library for the students.

For this kind of delivery system, it would probably be helpful if we got copies of the video library that came with the text; or maybe I could go through them and select out certain sections and build a master tape that could be duplicated and sent to the sites so in their free time they could just view it out of interest.

He contrasted his videoconferencing experience with his traditional classes: "This is different. It's a different delivery style so I cannot rely that much on that kind of flamboyance – but I guess," he ended, "I should try my hand at it." He had a number of reasons why that was not feasible: "first, because I move too much. The camera obviously doesn't follow you." Then he added that he had to rely on "vocal inflections and vocal expressions" because the picture isn't very clear." When he taught in the traditional classes he used facial movements and expressions from the subtle to the bizarre when he needed to get a point across. "That doesn't cut it here," he went on, explaining that when he looked at the pictures from the sites he thought they were very blurry and that the students must therefore find it hard to see his gestures. Sometimes, he complained, he even lost the definition of the students' facial features, which was something he relied on in his lectures. He used the second screen to keep himself in the frame of the shot: "I do use the second screen, but I use it peripherally. If I look at it I get very self-conscious. It's just like I use it to frame myself but I don't look at it."

He did not think that he had made any changes to his teaching: "I deliver the course just like I would here and, maybe that's a mistake." He explained that in this introductory course "the text was the tome, the bible, and I'm just there supplementing the text material and ultimately for questions that I might ask them that stem from the lecture materials." He believed the students had no need of library access because the material in the text was difficult enough. Furthermore, he knew many students found the text difficult because "the language . . . throws people off, the psych babble and complicated terminology."

He used multiple-choice examinations, again because he "made an executive decision at the beginning that the course must be delivered exactly as it is at the university." His rationale was that on short answer questions, "people can BS more and pull out a few extra marks or whatever and I want them to be prepared." He explained that if students transferred to the university and took further courses in his department, then they would be faced with multiple choice exams and "it's just part of the training, you know, to get used to it."

His first course had been a three-hour session one evening a week. He found the three hours to be "too much electronic information overload" and "too flat . . . to keep me going without feedback" and was pleased that in the second term the course was scheduled in two 90-minute blocks per week. He also preferred this time block for his traditional courses: "At an hour 20 you are just getting to the borderline of them shutting down their attention span and you are done."

Asked how he found interacting with the students, he explained, No, I lecture . . . They seem to enjoy it, but I do occasionally stop and ask if there are questions, and rarely are there questions. The trainer had suggested I break more frequently for questions, and I did that a couple of times . . . I have kinda slacked off. It's just dead space

when I ask questions . . . so I've even cut down on that. Maybe I should start it up again.

This had not always been the case. Initially the students were 'firing' questions to him at the break and at the end of the lecture. "Invariably, the questions were off-topic and they reflected their understanding of what they considered the course to be about," he explained. "They were kind of insightful," he added. The questions ceased mid-way through the first course and he thought that it was because the students had "started to realise that 'This was a little tougher than I thought' and all of a sudden they started to clam up." He indicated that the situation had not changed during the second course even though he informed them that if they had questions, "they could stop me, but they don't." His explanation for this was "that could be a characteristic of this sample because they do tend to be quiet anyway especially with the Native people. So I don't know."

He thought the students appeared to be attentive although occasionally he would look up to find them chatting "or something going on or someone will come in through the back door and you see all the heads turning . . . And I have the sense of having lost them." At that point he used his voice through tone, pacing, and using examples to regain their attention. He described this experience to be "like teaching to a silent film." He thought the technology worked and the students were learning something, but there was something fundamentally missing for him:

It's a challenge because it's not human enough for me. When you are working a live class, . . . a live audience, especially the big class, I really rely on them for energy. I really feed off their energy especially my 8:00 a.m. class that I have this term. Everybody is dead. During that cold spot, everyone was miserable and half asleep and you really had to go in there and pump it up. And when I get a little trickle of feedback from them, it helps me. And it's not just a laugh or whatever, it could just be sensing that they are breathing . . . And

here it is just dead space. It was the silence that threw me off and also the delay in the delivery . . . You tell a joke and then you wait a few seconds before you see them laugh. You feel like, "Wow! That was a flop, my timing is really off." . . . Just give me a blackboard in a classroom with living people type of thing; it just doesn't equal it. . . . It's just that sense of losing that contact with the breathing individual, you know.

In his view, it was essential that students do the prescribed readings from the textbook if they were to be able to participate in discussions. When students failed the first couple of exams, he put it down to "I just don't think they were reading the text. I don't know what they were doing."

His students were at six sites at the beginning of the first course and at three sites for the second course. When asked whether he thought about them as a whole group or taught more to one site, he agreed that he preferred to have some sites on his monitor because he could see the students responding to his jokes, "laughing". Students at the other sites tended to "smoke [constantly], and look up occasionally, and take notes." A "flat" situation with "little energy" for him, he concluded. He did, however, "browse" the different sites during the exams "just to make sure that people are on task and the proctor is still in the room. . . . Not during lectures though. It's too complicated to do all the buttons and stuff. It just pulls me off-task."

The configuration of the rooms was also a factor he conceded. At the less responsive sites, the students sat around a table so that he was looking at the side of the person's head. He was used to, and preferred to have the students sitting lecture-style "so their attention is focused on the screen, I'm getting eye contact, and there is less likely to be this conflict of people chatting . . . to each other to pull them off-task. . . . I would at least feel that I had their attention."

Asked about interaction in his traditional classes, he said it depended on the size. In his small class of about 40, it was more laid back and "they'll ask questions," he explained. However, he went on, "when you are working in the theatre (the large classroom) it is so much more presentational and people rarely interrupt you." In effect, he agreed, there was not much difference in his delivery style and the student reaction to it in his traditional classrooms and in his videoconferencing course. Neither did he see any difference in his preparation for both formats "other than the fact that I have to go and clear the overhead roll myself. In the lecture halls, they have them cleaned for you."

In summing up his experience with videoconferencing, he indicated that the only advantage he could see to using this format for teaching was that "it gives students access to education that they just wouldn't be able to get any other way." As for the type of courses that should be offered in this format, it was his belief "that this type of delivery system is much more suited to more senior level, seminar based courses where there is more discussion." However, he pointed out that the drawback to that was that the students couldn't get into those without having the introductory level courses.

Instructor **B**

The opportunity to teach this particular full-year course was one this instructor had been looking forward to for some time. This, however, had nothing to do with the fact that videoconferencing was going to be used. The course was one his department restricted to instructors with a doctoral degree, and he now had his. He viewed the use of videoconferencing as intriguing. "I don't believe that technology for technology's sake is a good thing. But I am not afraid of technology."

In discussing how he was chosen to teach the course, he indicated that someone else had been scheduled to teach it; but after visiting the sites and meeting some of the students, the individual withdrew five days before the class was to start. He was approached by his Chair to take over the course because he was not teaching at that time and had previously expressed interest.

The instructor's teaching experience began in 1991 when he started the doctoral program. Since then, he has usually taught three first- or second-year courses over the regular school term and a course during both the spring and summer sessions. Until now, all the courses had been one semester long. He had also taught similar courses for another postsecondary institution for the previous three years. In each of these situations, the class size was between 90-120 students. The videoconferencing class had 18 students between three sites in September and was down to 7 between two sites in April. He indicated that this attrition rate appeared high; but after a fellow graduate student, who had taught off-campus courses, told him "the drop out rate is almost always 60-70 percent; that's the type of drop out rate you always get," he wasn't concerned.

The amount of preparation time and training on using the videoconferencing technology he had was minimal because of his late entry into the project. Using the technology, however, was not a concern for him.

It was his general impression that the technology was a minor component and the time required to learn how to use the "right buttons" was minimal.

Given that I only got 45 minutes before I went on, it was no problem; but, on the other hand the technology is very simple technology.... There are things that I probably could do with the technology that I don't because I don't have to. I could have taken more time to learn how to use the directorate; I know how to browse if I want to. But given that the most I ever work with is four sites and the students at [one site] are incredibly quiet, almost impossible to draw out, ... it was never a problem with knowing where I wanted to be and asking questions and stuff with four sites. So I never worried about sort of browsing through and things.

In contrast, he indicated that the amount of time required for course preparation was a definite factor in how he taught regardless of the delivery mode. The content was such that the instructors were required to have a background in world history. The students were given "little chunks of history from all over the world so they can make choices as to where they want to sort of learn and find out things for future senior courses." He indicated that "absolutely nobody in this department has the ability to sort of sit down and lecture about China, Africa, Europe, and North America at the same time. A person needs to spend a lot of time prepping." By 'prepping', he was referring only to learning the content and preparing instructional materials and assignments for the traditional classroom.

Right now, because I am teaching it for the very first time, I'm putting in approximately four hours of prep for every hour I spend in front of the class. So that is in the neighbourhood of 12 to 15 hours of prep a week.... Even then I think that is inadequate. I could probably do at least another 6 to 8 hours of prep a week to get my lectures in even better shape.... To do the stuff with the video technology, ... I would probably have to add in another 6 hours of prep time a week, 6 to 8 hours a week to deal with the other parts of the technology.

To effectively create a seamless classroom using the videoconferencing technology was something he felt would be very time consuming for just one course.

It would be different if I was doing this for a living. If I had five courses on the video technology and I was teaching to 17 different sites ... and this was what you were doing, this was your job, not just a little part of your job then you would put that kind of time in.

He emphasized that "the instructors who work video technology have to be different instructors than the ones who teach in university, and they should be devoted full-time to teaching videoconferencing." He felt that it would be difficult for an instructor to be doing one type of preparation for "lecturing to the students in the classroom" and another type for the videoconferencing class. "You need to set your mind into what you are going to be doing continuously and always be thinking about that type of process in the video classroom." His reasoning for this was that "videoconferencing requires you to do different types of preparation for a class."

He went on to explain that the course was normally taught in a large lecture room to 90 to 100 students and tended to be lecture in format. Any class discussion was usually the result of questions from the students or ones the instructor posed himself. Although the videoconferencing class size was much smaller, the same lecture format was used "because it was designed that way [by the individual who was to initially teach]. Now, I might have designed it different." In his view, there were instructional methods that could be used in the classroom that avoided the lecture style. "I think the lecture style is where the problem occurs." He indicated that he did a few small group discussions early on when I had an opportunity to blend in some of the things I had done earlier into world history

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

because we were dealing with North American topics which I had
primarily lectured about before.... It was not a problem. You just
sort of cycle through the sites on board. It works very well.
However, he later stated that he did not use the discussion format very
much because "of the lack of interaction between sites. The interaction that
occurs comes from them to me and then I have to engage somebody else
from the other direction."

To get discussion happening in his traditional classes, he had tried a number of things. He liked to walk around as he lectured and explained that a favourite technique to get students involved in a discussion was to use sarcasm and irony. For example, after making an outrageous statement that "basically sets myself up in a position that is very poorly defended," he would walk from the lectern into the seating area of the classroom and sit down amongst the students and ask "Well, do you believe what I just said? . . . Look this position is poorly defended. Don't just sit there and accept it." By doing this, he felt he was encouraging the students to see that "their ideas can take my position from me and that their ideas are validated."

He used a similar technique to regain the focus of a student or group of students who were not paying attention. He would go over to the student/s, sit down, and continue his lecture from there. He had found these techniques to be effective in maintaining student attention and obtaining interaction between him and the students, as well as among the students themselves. In fact, he described the class discussions as "spontaneous and, at times, quite lively and involved."

Since "neither of these techniques are possible in the videoconferencing environment", he viewed the students' learning experience as less valuable. He also found that many of his other teaching strategies had to be altered. His movement within the classroom was restricted because of the limited camera range and the one to two second delay in the signal. The result of this was that he tended to sit or just stand

still as he lectured; a technique he described as uncomfortable and unnatural for him.

Although he felt that interaction with the students was possible, it required a lot of planning, and that even with planning, there was no direct interaction between students at the different sites. All questions or comments were directed to him and he would re-direct them to other sites. He indicated that he literally had to have planned the steps in his head before walking into the room. He had to have a specific idea or question he wanted them to pursue using brainstorming. The few times he did plan the activity, he said it was "a piece of cake". There was input from the different sites and some good ideas came out of the discussion. However, he stressed that he had to plan it. "Spontaneity doesn't exist with these students on this video system. It could just be the students, given when I plan it, it works well."

For all classes, he maintained a file of overheads and visual information such as cartoons, maps, and paintings that he brought into class. He would put the information on the overhead and leave it there while he roamed around the classroom talking about the related topic. This method of using overheads, however, was not as effective in the videoconferencing environment. Even if he had the computer background and hours available to convert the overheads into computer graphics so that they would project better, he still perceived this as a drawback to his teaching style. The room had to be darkened so that the camera could pick up the image projected onto the screen and, in doing so the students would not be able to see him. To him, this meant that the technique of leaving the overhead on while he discussed the material, as he did in his traditional classes, would not be as effective because he would not be able to wander around the room.

They can't even see you when you are using the overhead [or computer]; they can't see you and the material at the same time. So I can't sort of leave an image on the screen and wander around and do my thing and give them other ideas and then make reference back all the time to what is there like in a typical classroom. They can't see me. So you have to develop different techniques and that requires time.

Browsing through the sites to ensure that interaction occurred was something the instructor said, the students "do [it] for me. Every 15 to 20 minutes I just stop and ask a question. If nobody answers, then I ask specifically from somebody at a site. So I can bring up the next site and watch it for the next 15 minutes." Although this is what he thought was happening, class visitations and observation of the videotapes of the classes showed it was not the case. In this particular course, there was one site that had a group of very cohesive and responsive students who studied together and did not hesitate to ask or answer questions. Because of the feedback he received from the group, he tended to direct most of his specific questions to that site. He did, however, ask open questions, i.e., "Does anyone have any questions?"; but, he did not go out to specific sites to inquire. Although he mentioned that he viewed the sites as one big classroom, his method of asking questions suggested that he controlled which site was on the screen, and therefore, appeared to be teaching specifically to that site.

To be successful in this course, he stressed that it was essential that the students meet two requirements. One was to do the assigned readings prior to class. If this was done, he believed there could be more interaction because the students would "have some sort of knowledge base to work with." The other was to understand the concepts well enough to prepare written assignments. In his view, however, there were two obstacles to these requirements:

The textbook that was assigned to them [by the other instructor], this great big huge conglomeration of junk, is not geared that way. . . . It is very intellectual in its orientation. . . . I get the impression from

these guys when I deal with them that they're not into intellectual history too much. The ideas are beyond them at the moment. They are not ready to cope with ideas like that. Not that they couldn't, but they aren't interested in it.

The other one dealt with the academic level of the students. Because this was a pilot course, the university entrance requirements had not been strictly enforced. At two of the sites, the majority of students had completed their grade 12 and were academically prepared for university level courses. But at the other four sites, the majority of the students had not completed high school. This combination made if difficult for both the instructor and students. "One moment you may all of a sudden be talking at a basic level that for some of the students you are turning them off and the other times you are using a vocabulary that some students don't have the ability to grasp." It was also very frustrating for some of the students when it came to written assignments.

There is one clear requirement of the Department. When you do world history a certain portion of the grade has to be for writing assignments and these people are not ready for that. . . . I'd guess that 75 to 80 percent of the students [in four of the sites] do not have grade 12; haven't even finished the academic upgrading. They're not there and as a result . . . I just think that they can't learn the way the university would expect them to learn.

Commenting further about the make-up of the students, he indicated that "from my experience with working with Aboriginal people, they don't learn the same way and this also creates a problem." Although he did not feel that the two groups should have been taught in isolation, he did "think there are instructional methods in the classroom that avoid the lecture style and can be used to integrate those two learning approaches. I think the lecture style is where the problem occurs." However, as for the use of the videoconferencing system, the Aboriginal students appeared to be "quite comfortable with it because it had been in use for four years and most of them had taken at least one course using the technology."

In summing up his experience, he described a potential downside, Since I am here and the students are everywhere, there has to be a mechanism, a support mechanism between the instructor and the other on-site administrators somehow or other. I can't just be some voice on a telephone. There has to be some sort of recognition that their role and my role are co-ordinated; the two of us are on the same wave length and we are pursuing goals together. Otherwise, the students don't have the support mechanism. So, they will regress into just sitting there and nodding their heads.

The type of regressive behaviour he was referring to could also occur in the traditional classroom. However, he stated that he could ask the student to stay after class so they could "discuss a couple of things together and make sure that they are on the same wave length." This option was not available when teaching via videoconferencing. "You can't do that on the video, right. And, I can't force them to phone me during office hours." If a support mechanism "between me and the sites' administration is established so that these people and I are on the same wave length, then I don't have a problem because then what I would do is contact the student through the [site administration]." He closed by indicating that, "this technology is great. I think it can go lots of places and can do a lot of good things."

Instructor C

After teaching this first year course or an equivalent of it for the past 10 years, this instructor described himself as a "veteran, seasoned instructor of the course without a section! The main reason he did not have a section to teach in September was that he had not defended his doctoral dissertation when the regular course assignments were made in March. However, when the department decided to offer this course as part of the videoconferencing project, his Associate Chair approached him to teach it.

He knew I was now eligible and in my evaluations I always get good stuff on sense of humour, performance angle, liveliness in the classroom, the dramatics. So I think he knew that visually I would work well and I am good at it.

He went on to further describe the feedback he had received about his teaching style. "I've got a strong teaching record, but especially in the areas of being entertaining, being good visually, that kind of stuff. Good student rapport and being very flexible." Although he hoped that these characteristics were the main reason he was offered the course, he admitted that there was another reason. "But part of it was simply, they needed somebody to do it; I was an experienced teacher; and because I was still at the end of my program, I was still available."

Most first year courses in this faculty had enrollments between 200 and 300 students. However, because of the heavy marking requirements and individual attention given to the students, the enrollment for all sections of this course had been restricted to 35 to 40 students. The videoconferencing section was no different. Initially there were 34 students registered between six sites. By the end of the year there were only 11 students and three sites. The main reason for the high attrition rate was an inappropriate screening of students. Although this was a university course that required a minimum of 65 in English 30, those individuals involved in

recruiting students for the project overlooked this requirement. According to the instructor,

They weren't even close to being ready. Easily 10 of them I wouldn't give a passing grade in grade 9, as far as their English is concerned. Their attitudes were just terrific. But reading comprehension was just terrible. They couldn't understand the questions on the exam, yet alone answer them.

He pointed out that this created a problem for him because his Department was "very vigilant about their standards. If you can't write the Queen's English, if you can't write competent English when you are at university, you should not pass." Once he was aware of the educational level of some of his students, he informed several of the individuals involved in the administration of the project of his Department's policy and that there was a very good possibility that at least 20 of the students would not pass the course. He indicated "I needed to know that the institution was behind me in those decisions, and they were." He had also encouraged a number of students to withdraw prior to the deadline so that they would not have a failing mark on their transcript. "So for the first time in my teaching career, I have had to directly advise students to withdraw." The big issue in doing this, however, was determining when the withdrawal deadline was and making sure that the students filled out all the papers before then.

Even though this instructor realized there were a number of students whose background in English was below university entrance standards, he did not appear to make any compensation for this during his lectures. The level of vocabulary he used in class demonstrated his extensive understanding of the English language. However, this was well beyond the comprehension of a grade nine student and in some cases, probably unusual for an average grade 12 student. For some of the terminology, he did provide an explanation and even went into the origin of the term. An example of this was his ten-minute explanation of the difference between the words "heterogeneity" and "homogeneity" and their origin. At the end of his explanation, he asked the students to give him examples of similar words. However, none of the students at the four sites provided any examples. So, he went on to explain the difference between "spit" and "expectorate". He commented after the class that although the students were not tested on vocabulary, "it is important that I make them aware of different words even if they don't understand all of them or ever use them. That's part of the educational process."

The students' level of vocabulary also had an impact on how the instructor presented the course material.

I have gone to more of a lecture style and away from the Socratic method for several reasons. Partly because I was running into the problem that if I used the Socratic method and the student would speak, it was, more often than not, that a student would misuse a word because his vocabulary was poor. So I would end up saying, "Wait a minute, you don't mean 'insinuate', you mean 'imply', don't you?" So we would get sidetracked and the student would be kinda put off. So after awhile I decided that I'd do most of the talking and then invite comments and sharing. ... If you are teaching Socratically, you are trying to [teach] under the guides of question and answer and if the student isn't answering the question in the way that your lecture needs him/her to answer, then that is on your mind. So I have found that this mode of delivering the material suits me well with the technology – speaking into the camera, mini-lecture, and then inviting student comments rather than the constant interaction between student and instructor that you would have in the genuine Socratic method.

The lack of reading comprehension and word usage also caused problems for a number of students when they were working through one of the novels in the course. He described his reasons for selecting Hard Times

by Dickens as, "The Department has a list to select from. My dissertation is on Dickens and comedy and <u>Hard Times</u> is his shortest, although maybe not his easiest." During a later meeting, he commented that the selection of that novel did create problems for some students. "Who knows how they dealt with it. I bet they didn't understand four words in a row. I tried to go over words and phrases that I thought they may have problems with, but who knows if I covered all of them. It's tough if they don't ask."

Another problem that was generated as a result of the selection of <u>Hard Times</u> was the inability of most students to relate to the concept of congestion in British cities during the Industrial Revolution. Prior to the beginning of the course all instructors involved in the videoconferencing project visited the sites to meet some of the people working on the project, including some students. It was at that point that this instructor realized the students might have some difficulty relating to the novel.

When you fly up there, you see that even the houses are what I would call a block between each house. And so, there is this wonderful sense of space and I realized that OK I'm going to have to work really hard to give them the sense of how claustrophobic a city can be because they haven't gone through that experience.

He pointed out that this would not be a problem in a traditional class because the students would have to come into Edmonton to take the course. To help his students get a feel for how crowded the cities were, he brought in pictures from that period and projected them using the document camera. This he indicated "worked out quite well."

In his traditional class, he used unannounced reading quizzes as his "major way of assessing who is best prepared for class and whose reading comprehension is best." He gives the students 13 of these quizzes, worth 10 points each, and then allows them to drop the three lowest marks to obtain a mark out of 100. He described these quizzes as "a means of gentle coercion to make sure they finish reading the work in time to discuss it. It shows you whose reading comprehension is good, who is good at picking up details, and you can use your reading quiz to put something on there to highlight something they may have missed." He felt that the students really remembered things that were included on the quizzes. Videoconferencing, however, did not allow for this type of spot testing. In order to include them, he would need a proctor at each site and he would have had to plan for that ahead of time.

You can't proctor it by yourself because you can't see all the sites at once. So the potential for cheating on reading quizzes is high. Especially if you have students, like we seem to be getting, whose reading skills are weak and whose reading comprehension is weak and they are reading a novel for the first time or they are reading a Shakespeare play. . . . And, they get panicky, and they are worried, and they feel compelled to cheat, or in some cases they are just unethical and cheat because that is what they want to do.... So there are things like that that are being lost with the technology.

Another method used in his traditional classes to get a feel for how his students were doing and to help them with their writing skills before they submitted a major paper, was to assign three or four small writing assignments. With these assignments, he expected the students not only to demonstrate their ability to write a coherent, grammatically correct paper, but also to use the correct format such as margins and spacing. He felt that these smaller assignments were beneficial to the students because he was able to give them written feedback and return them quickly. In the videoconferencing class, however, he only did one of these at the beginning of the course. He found that "it takes forever to tell them about the assignment and then send up a written copy; have them do the assignment and send down all their stuff; for you to mark it and then send it back up again so they have time to act on the advice you have given them for the next assignment. So it was just a total nuisance." Although the students

had access to a fax machine and could have faxed their completed assignments, he did not consider that as a real option.

That's a possibility, except that this course is partly designed to teach them format. So to some extent you want to see how good they are at preparing a document. So that could work, but there are also issues of student confidentiality. So if you fax up a bunch of marked quizzes and they are coming through the fax machine, you can't always control, at the site, which students are standing there watching.

On the plus side, he stated, "because we have had so many different sites, I have had some of the brightest students I have ever had." He described how the students at one of the sites had formed a study group and that the

dynamics of the group was super. I had one course at another postsecondary institute with four or five students who got together to do that. And this is the second time I have seen it happen directly. It's really terrific. They are all doing better. They are all doing better than the other people.

Even though he had expressed some concerns about using quizzes and assignments, he could see some definite advantages for teaching using videoconferencing technology, and in fact, he was extremely enthusiastic.

I really like the medium, even on its own. So much so, that I would like to propose doing a course on the system on campus from one classroom to another. Your students can see you very well, and they can hear very well, and you can hear them.

He went on to describe some of the traditional classrooms that he had taught in as being large but "not big enough to put a microphone on; but, there are still some times where there's pretty bad acoustics." The size of the rooms also makes it difficult for some of the students to see the blackboard. In the videoconferencing class he used Windows' Write program to type his notes during class and projected the text onto the screen. The students at all the sites were able to see it.

The system takes care of some of those things. What's also really wonderful about it is that I can walk in that lecture with a disk and everything I'm going to be putting on the blackboard is already prepared. The instantaneousness is wonderful. I like to do things with perception and my area of expertise is comedy and what makes people laugh and it has a lot to do with timing and speed. . . . They can't see what you bring into the classroom. So I'm interested in perception stuff, and you can take the camera off yourself; you can put on a top hat, and bring the camera back on yourself. . . . So there are ways, things you can do to surprise them and keep things interesting and to keep you from being boring. . . . Students these days want you to be NOT boring. Entertain me, and teach me on the side.

He did mention that there were problems with reading students' facial expressions. In his traditional classes, he relies on these to get clues of the students' level of understanding of the topic he is covering.

Sometimes you get the wonderful perk of seeing that a student is getting it; you see that glow; they are getting the big picture. You don't see that. You don't see the emotions in their eyes. Or little clues like "OK, I understand what you mean by whatever, so go on. No, don't go over it again, go on." And you can see who is bored and who has got it. You don't get those cues with this system.

Another area that he felt was missing when he taught the videoconferencing class was the personal contact with the students. In his traditional classes he had the opportunity to get to know his students. Students would stay after class or stop by his office to talk to him about the course or just things in general. By the end of the course he felt that he learned a lot from and about all his students through both their written assignments and discussions in and out of class. "There isn't as much personal contact; so, you don't have as many cases when a student comes up to you and says, 'Oh, you know, I have been missing class but I'm sorry my boss has had me working on this extra project'. So I'm just guessing why students may not be in this class." In an attempt to overcome this void in his videoconferencing class, he gave out his home number and told the students to phone him if they couldn't call him during his office hour, which was Wednesday afternoon. He indicated that he usually had at least three calls a week during that time. However, "for the most part, they just phoned me at home" because that worked best for them. This allowed them to get help when they needed.

I'm very flexible about that. So that's sorta the price I'm prepared to pay for not being able to meet with them in person. So I said, sure phone me at home just don't phone me after 9:00 p.m. or something and that has worked well. But then we have kids in the background at their place and kids in the background at my place. But, you know even then that's great because they realized that you are a person and have a life.

Prior to the start of classes he had four hours of instruction on how to use the technology, what to wear, best place to sit, the basics of videoconferencing. During the training, he was given the opportunity to try out the computer, document camera, and the controls for moving the cameras at his site. However, there was no opportunity to link up with one of the remote sites to get an idea of what it would be like to teach. This was one of the two areas of the training he felt needed to be strengthened. The other dealt with the instructional design component. Information on and assistance in designing or converting the course material so he could use the various peripherals with the system was lacking in his view. He indicated that he had been told that a group from Australia had spoken at a teleconference and they said "their instructors need something like four hours of preparation time for one hour of videoconferencing lecture time to develop material for a new course. And these guys had been trained in designing courses." He went on to comment, "We were offered the job in August, end of July. So we were kinda thrown in with no time to convert your lectures to take advantage of the technology. And, even then, ignorant that you should even be doing that." It was his belief that if he had been given more time and guidance for preparation, he would have been able to put the technology to great use. "Boy, if we had known back in May, and if they could have paid us over the summer to get ready. But why should they pay us to develop this when [they] don't pay other instructors to develop the courses they teach?" Although he felt he made use of some of the peripheral equipment to enhance his teaching, he stressed that in teaching English,

so much of your time is spent with marking – grading papers. Even if you mark at the rapid rate of 30 minutes per paper, with six sets of 750 word essays and 35 per set, that is taking up a lot of time. You don't have the time left over for lecture preparation. So you'd want to do your fancy visual lecture type preparation in July and August. And of course you aren't being paid yet. Even if you are on full-time, you have to be publishing, research, research, research. So I would like to see the university get more of an attitude, let's pay this person for lecture preparation time.

In describing how he planned and organized his course material for teaching in the traditional classroom, he indicated that his department granted the instructors a fair amount of flexibility in how they did that. There was a list of novels, poems, and short stories that instructors have to select from and guidelines on how many of each they should cover throughout the year. From there, each instructor was on his/her own. The amount of preparation time that he required for his traditional classes was

described as minimal because he had been teaching the course for so many years.

However, he felt it was important for him to set the stage for the material that will be covered. "I like to play around with the idea that when they are watching me, they are reading a text. So, I'm a text. So I do things with my clothes and stuff." This was another area where he demonstrated his ability to be flexible with using the technology even though he felt he was at a disadvantage because of his lack of training and preparation. He indicated that it was important for an instructor to admit to the students that he/she is fallible. "You know things are going to happen and you are going to be embarrassed, so just call a bug a bug. I'm very at ease with stuff like that and I know some of my peers aren't." He suggested that when something goes wrong to "throw a bit of humour at it" and then offered an example of how he handled a situation.

I had my mute button on and I didn't realize it. So I was chatting away for seven minutes or five minutes and the students were trying to get my attention; but I was looking down at the machine. And so finally we realized, I realized what was going on and I looked up and said, "So that's the most important thing I want you to know for the final exam. If you know it, you will do well." You have to be very comfortable; you know, not sweeping things under the carpet. By doing this, your students have a sense of co-operation and that you are fallible. If you are the kind of instructor who is expecting to walk in there and be perfect, you are going to be a nervous wreck.

In contrast, he felt that the majority of the students were very comfortable using the technology and learning in the distance environment. He described how "one day they all dressed up [at one of the sites] and came on camera all with hats on. So they had a silly hat day." However, he felt that a more important indication of how comfortable they felt was the amount of interaction that took place.

I thought I was going to have to be 95 percent lecture because it was going to be so hard to have classroom discussion with all this pushing of buttons and things. It has been just the opposite. They feel more comfortable. The class discussions have gone better than in the conventional classroom.

Even though he felt there were better discussions taking place in the videoconferencing class, he later described a technique he used when studying a novel that did not work well.

This week we have been doing a novel and I have been reading out some passages for like maybe 10 minutes. So we would assume . . . you have this sense of "Have they gone. Is there anyone out there?" Once or twice this year literally I've said, "Someone please say something. I just want to know that you are there." It makes you feel very unusual.

He corrected this problem for the next class by preparing specific questions to initiate students' comments.

One of the activities that he noticed occurring quite often with his videoconferencing groups that did not happen in the traditional classroom was small group discussion before someone answered a question.

Sometimes what you will see are the four or five students at a site discussing. Before they hit the mute, they're saying, "What do you want to say?" And there is a class dynamics that is created amongst those people that is terrific. Then they push the button and one of them says what they are doing. And that has turned out very well.

His explanation for why this interaction was so good was, "I think it has something to do with, at each site there are only two or three other people present and they don't feel so intimidated by a mass of 40 or 240 students." He did indicate, however, that there was a problem at one site with a group of students talking about non-course issues during the class and disrupting others. This site was not one that provided any comments nor did he scroll through the sites as he was teaching, so he never saw them on screen to observe what was happening. This type of situation has happened in his traditional classes, and he was usually able to handle it by just looking at the group. This was not the case in the videoconferencing class.

You can't obviously use things like looking over to the corner of the classroom where the conversation is taking place and is being disruptive and just letting those students know with your eye contact that you have a problem. So, I'll use my eye contact to get people to be quiet if they are having a genuine conversation. I don't mind if people just lean over and ask a question. So, I have never been that kind of an instructor to say anything in the class about that for the last few years. Instead, I'll take the students after class. . . . Sometimes you can get that job done just with your eye contact and obviously that is not available on this system. And you don't have the opportunity to pull someone aside after class and say, "You know, Julie, you and Evelyn are always talking and it has really become a problem; so, please stop." So that opportunity isn't there.

Interrupting students when they ask questions or provide input is "one of my big problems as an instructor." It was also a problem he felt the videoconferencing experience helped him overcome to some extent in all his classes.

So a student will begin to answer and my mind will take off and I can see some neat ideas and I'll say, "Oh ya! and do you see that you could ..." and I have had to really control that. This is wonderful. I can't interrupt. I have to push a button. I have to ... So it is easier for me to hear the full response from the student and they don't feel cut off.

In closing comments about his experience, he stated that not having students in the same room as he was did not create the problems he initially

anticipated. "I don't feel it is a big issue not having bodies in the room. I don't feel it's a big issue that the bodies are at different sites. We still have, it's one of the warmest classes I have ever had." He also like the flexibility and variety the technology gave him.

I like the technology in the classroom because you can go to the document camera, to the thing you have on your overhead, to what you have on your computer screen, to your main camera, to your auxiliary camera and all you are doing is hitting buttons. I've seen some literature that suggests that no matter how eloquent, moving, compelling a lecture is, if you lecture for more that 15 minutes, people tune out. So this helps provide variety.

As for suggestions for helping first time instructors, his priority items were "designated time before the course begins to prepare the instructors with the technology and to give them some time, paid time, to convert their lectures to this kind of course delivery." He did not, however, feel that more time on how to use the system itself was needed. Instead, he emphasized the need for conversations that included information about "here is how the classroom changes and here's how you may need to convert your material."

Instructor D

This instructor has been teaching for the Faculty since 1983, and for three years prior to that she taught at another post-secondary institution. She had taught a variety of undergraduate third and fourth year and graduate level courses. The majority of these courses were full-year courses and included a clinical component. For the past year and a half she has dedicated all her time to three research projects that were approved in 1995. She viewed her return to the classroom in January 1997 as a positive change because as she said, "I like teaching. I don't mind teaching at all." What she was concerned about was the time required to complete her research, prepare for two new courses, and learn how to use the videoconferencing system.

Most of the undergraduate courses in the faculty had enrollments between 40 and 90 students, and the graduate ones between 5 and 12. The videoconferencing course, which was a third year undergraduate course and a pre-requisite to another course in the post-basic program, had 20 students between three sites. The other new course she was teaching was at the graduate level and had five students.

In describing her classroom style, she indicated that she taught "in a way that I know my students. I tend to be fairly relaxed with students and tend to do a fair amount of talking but I tend to get them talking in class, too." In her smaller classes, especially at the graduate level, she would know all her students. She clarified what she meant by "teaching in order to know students" in relation to the larger classes of 60 or more. "You get to know some of them. You get to recognize them; you know them to see for the most part. But, no you wouldn't get to know all of them." This, however, was not a concern for her.

One of the factors that she used to determine the format her teaching followed was not so much the size of the class, but rather the maturity of the students. She saw graduate students as willing to take responsibility for their own learning and to come to class prepared. "Students don't take on that responsibility in the undergraduate courses. They expect you to teach it to them. It would have been wasted time if I had expected them to come in prepared to discuss the material." Because of this difference, her undergraduate courses, no matter how many students, tended to be lecture focused with some student interaction through her use of questions or those generated by the students; graduate courses were all seminars with discussion led by her or one of the students. She had used group work occasionally in the undergraduate courses for case analysis, and although she felt it was worthwhile, there were problems finding space for the breakoff groups in larger classes. During our initial meeting, she saw this as a strategy that could probably be used for her videoconferencing class. However, when the course was finished, she had not done this. Her reason was that it would have been

too cumbersome. When I have done case studies before in (my traditional) class, I have always divided them into groups... Usually a maximum of 4 or 5 students work on a case study. So if we were to do that, I would have been concerned about doing it with me not physically there. Part of what I do when I do case studies in the larger group and divide the students into smaller groups is that I go around to the smaller groups. I wouldn't be able to do that.

She did, however, use a fair number of videos in most classes in an attempt to generate discussion. "It's not that I use them for every class or a long part of any class; but sometimes they are things that you can sorta spin off of very easily. The video that is, because it is just right there." This strategy, however, was one she was not sure would work in videoconferencing because of the need to book additional lines and not knowing what the quality of transmission would be like. In contrast, she did not use a lot of examples. "I don't tend to use a lot of examples.

Personally, as a student, I don't like hearing a lot of examples. So I don't tend to automatically use a lot until I see that the students need them."

Teaching via videoconferencing was a totally new experience for her. Not only had she not used videoconferencing before, but also she had never taught the course. The concept, however, was not new to her because members of her faculty had been using videoconferencing for the previous year. From conversations she had with one individual who had taught the course she was going to be teaching, she developed some concerns about the technology. She commented,

The faculty person who taught this course last year told me she tried everything she could and they [students] just hated it; they hated the technology. She had the worst teaching evaluations she has ever had. She said it did not work well at all from her perspective; the students did not like it.

She admitted that at the time of that discussion she had not yet seen the classroom or anyone teach using the technology; but she could relate to the students. "I wouldn't like it. I know that, and I can certainly see why the students didn't like it. It would be very difficult to sit there for a few hours and watch somebody talk." This initial reaction of hers was later reinforced during her course when one of the instructors from the other sites was teaching. "I certainly found it hard to keep attention when people were teaching from the other sites. . . . I just found it tedious. And I know from what my students said, they did too."

The conversations she had with two other faculty, prior to attending their classes, also caused her concern. Both individuals had experienced technical problems, and while one person had been able to get the students at the sites involved in discussion, the other person had not. These concerns did not disappear after she had attended each class. In fact, she came away with others.

I guess in terms of sitting in on these two people's ... one wasn't a good one to sit in on because she had a guest and the guest was at the other site and just lectured to the students. There wasn't much in the way of participation at all. I didn't see much opportunity where interaction could be. It gave me an opportunity to see what happens with guest speakers, and I'm concerned with that.

Although she had these concerns, time constraints did not permit her to meet with any of the instructors who had or were presently using the system or with the distance education trainer who had assisted the other instructors in preparing for this new teaching experience. Her introduction to how to use the control panel and the other peripherals came on the first night of the class when the videoconferencing technician went over everything with her. As for preparing the course materials, she commented that she had not asked for any input from the other faculty because

I've taught for a long time and I have ideas of how to put course material together. And to be perfectly honest, I was one step ahead of the students. I couldn't have put the course material together any differently than going through what other people who have taught this course have done and trying to figure out how it would fit into the compacted time.

As for the preplanning activities for the course, such as the course outline, readings, teaching assignments, and guest speakers, she used the same procedures as in the regular courses she co-ordinated. "I've worked with teams on this faculty for a long time, and I have been course leader for a long time." The only difference was that the other two faculty members were at the remote sites and that meant that discussions took place over the phone, in faxes, and through e-mail as opposed to in-person meetings. "But the process is the same as what I have done here in terms of trying to communicate, trying to be sure everybody buys into the course outline, that sort of thing." When team teaching on campus, she indicated that she would generally have a meeting about once a month with the entire faculty. Until now, all of the courses she taught were

nine credit courses that have lots of hours of lectures and clinical. So the faculty were dealing with the students clinically in small groups. I saw them in the big class and had my own clinical group often. They were much more complex courses.

For the videoconferencing course, she did not maintain that type of communication process. Although she indicated that the previous instructor held teleconferences the day after each class, she hadn't done that.

I don't have the time. I'm not here. That's reality and so we haven't done that. So we have probably communicated less as a faculty team than the others. I haven't talked to them always every week. But, if they have concerns, they phone. I phone every once in awhile to see if there is anything. ... See with this type of course I don't think there is the need to meet like there is with the other types of courses I've co-ordinated. There are all sort of issues in the clinical courses that come up. And they are all nine credits.

In determining the division of teaching assignments, which is the responsibility of the course leader, she indicated the she "deliberately gave the people at the other sites lectures that did not have as much content in them and they could possibly do in the time allotted." Her reasoning for this was

because I am course leader, partly. I didn't know who they were. I know there have been issues in terms of the quality of content at the other sites, and I didn't know whom I was teaching with. So I gave them their share of stuff to do, but it wasn't, they didn't do nearly as much as I did.

Later in the discussion she commented again about the two instructors who were teaching with her.

I had two of the best people at each site teaching this course. So that was not an issue. . . . They could have taught it. We could have done it individually at each site and it would have been fine in this course with the people who were teaching it.

When asked why she had divided the teaching load like she did, she did not directly relate this decision to using the videoconferencing system; but she felt that it did play a part. The two faculty members at the remote sites were teaching other heavy courses, and it was her belief that that combined with learning how to use the technology would be enough for them. One of the individuals, however, had team taught the same course last year using videoconferencing and had just completed teaching a different one using it.

In planning the classes, she indicated that she kept control of the first three classes and that this was no different from any of the courses she coordinated. "I usually do the first block so I get to know the students, who they are, where the issues are at the beginning of the term." With this in mind, she indicated that she had not put much content in the first class because it was really an introduction to the course explaining why it was being offered at this point in the program, what would be covered, the idea of team teaching, and then an hour off-line to get to know each other at their sites. She hoped this would give everyone, including herself, a chance to get comfortable with the class arrangement. By doing this, however, she was actually using two classes for the introduction since the course was taught one day per week for 3 hours as opposed to two days per week for 1 1/2 hours each. After that class, the format changed to include 2 hours of on-line lecture or guest speaker followed by an hour seminar conducted independently at each site to discuss the new material. This she pointed out created another problem. This problem, however, was not related specifically to videoconferencing, but rather to the timetabling of the course.

As previously mentioned, the on-campus course was offered twice a week for 1 1/2 hours each. By teaching the course one night a week for three hours, with only two hours for presenting new material, "we have to get a lot of content through in that first couple of hours." In addition, there were several days that they would not have a class because of some events and the last class had to be the final because of the university policy.

We don't have a lot of time. . . . Our options would be to videoconference for the whole three hours and not have any seminars; but the students prefer to have the seminars, and I prefer to have them.

The reduced number of hours made it difficult for her to develop the course in a way that was really the same as the on-campus course. "We are not talking about a course that is easy to put into that small bit. It hasn't been developed for that." When asked about the possibility of changes, she commented,

Maybe I could change some of the course; there are a few things I would eliminate, but not much. So, it could be done differently another time; but I think there are also some things that have to be covered in class and it is hard to get it done in the time given.

In her view, the use of seminars was "a better teaching strategy" than straight lecture. However, when asked if she would have included the seminar session if the course had been taught in the traditional classroom, her response was, "Probably not because there would just have been me," implying that if it had been in the traditional classroom, she would have had 90 to 100 students. She went on to indicate that

Personally, if I didn't have to videoconference and I had a small group like I did here of nine, I would do the whole course by seminar. I wouldn't lecture at all.

She felt that the students probably got more out of the seminar aspect of the course than the two hours of lecture "because all the application was in the seminar. We mostly did case studies in the seminars." Although each site was to deal with the same material during the seminars, she was not sure what was actually happening at the other sites. The results on the midterm take home led her to believe that the same emphasis was not being placed on certain concepts. In particular, there were several cases on the midterm "where people gave situations and examples and made judgements that I felt were really judgmental comments about situations that I find quite unacceptable." In an attempt to explain this, she suggested, "it also could be a personal thing about me that came through in the seminars that didn't in the other two sites." She indicated that she stresses the importance of avoiding judgmental calls and questions her students' reasoning with phrases like "What makes you say that?" or "Is there another way of looking at that?" She noted that she does some of this in her lectures.

I'm being very careful when I do my lecture content of trying to discuss things in a way that's not judgmental and to be quite explicit about saying it is easy to make judgements on some of these situations, but we have to ... But that kind of teaching is better done, I think, in the seminars, in the discussion with the students.

She indicated that this concern might have been overcome if she had had the opportunity to go to the other sites for one class each as she had hoped to do. This would have given her a better feel for the students. "That could have been done if I had fewer things to do. Realistically that is never going to be an option probably without substantially taking away time that I probably will never have."

She went on to further describe the importance of the seminar hour, this time from her campus-site students' point of view.

My students have actually indicated, because they know people here taking the other course where, in fact, it is straight lecture, and they mentioned to me that they felt really hard done by for the first couple of weeks when they realised it was videoconferenced. But, then later, they felt it was an advantage being in the small group and having the seminar.

Throughout our conversations when she referred to the students, she continuously referred to the students at her site as "my students" and those at the remote site as "the students".

In looking back at her visits in the fall to the other instructors' classes, she indicated that she found the teaching environment to be more contrived and awkward than she thought it would be. "I'm used to being close to my class and having a lot of back and forth dialogue and you can't do it in the same way in videoconferencing particularly when you have two sites at the other end." The items that surprised her most were that she could not see both remote sites on the screen at the same time and that the visual reception was worse than she expected. She compared the visual reception to the telehealth technology that she had seen in use. "The telehealth system is superior. The picture is far better; sound's far better; there is no time lag." Because of these concerns, she realised that she would have to make some changes in the way she normally conducted a class.

In our initial meeting she commented, "One of the issues I did notice was that you cannot see the facial expressions on the students. You cannot pick up the early clues that they don't understand or that they are disengaging that you would in a face-to-face classroom." She indicated that as an observer it was "really obvious and pretty far along by the time I picked it up." As the instructor, she felt she would be even slower in picking up these clues because she would be "dealing with all the content and everything rather than just observing." This was an issue that she never worried about in the traditional classroom because she was able to see clearly the expressions of her students. "I can see when they are puzzled." She did feel, however, that having students at her site would help her pick up these clues earlier. But "it is going to be a different sort of a way of

doing that," and this would require changing some of the ways she usually taught.

I think, possibly by asking really thought-provoking questions throughout will help. When I do my preparation, I tend to just do an outline if I know the content really well. If I don't know it really well, which I don't with this, I will tend to have more information written down that I can refer to. But I tend to be fairly "play it off the cuff" in terms of asking questions and involving the students. I don't usually have that in my lesson plans. I think I'm probably going to have to build those in, those questions, so that I am very conscious that I do that.

In order to do this, she said she would have to plan in a different way, but was not sure what that would involve. "What that means, until I get into it, I'm not really sure. But I think that questions are going to have to be more interesting and reflective so to pull people in, in a way that is different." This, however, is something that she did not do.

I ended up not doing that. Probably should have. But I never had the time. For the most part, the content that we were presenting took the time that we had for the videoconference. Discussion would have meant eliminating content.

This did not however appear to be a problem when she taught in the traditional classroom setting. If the students got into a good discussion, she would let it continue and postpone the remainder of the lesson until the next class. Although she felt that class discussion was a good learning tool, she did not think it would work in the videoconferencing class. "Everyone I have talked to said you can get good discussion when you are only videoconferencing to one site. If you are videoconferencing to more than one site, it is much more difficult." In addition, she said time did not permit this in the videoconferencing class.
As mentioned previously, the idea of eliminating content or expecting the students to read it on their own was not a possibility for her. "They have to cover all the material to meet the requirements of the course, and I know from past experience that beginning degree students don't do all the readings." She said that she knew for a fact that a lot of the students in this course weren't doing their readings. "I know from my own students. They would say that there were too many readings and a lot of them were trying. ... My students were probably representative - carrying full-time jobs, have a family, and taking courses" which she admitted would be no different if the course had been taught in the traditional classroom. She indicated that in general these students were mature "copers". "Nobody is going to carry a full-time job and have family, and come and do courses unless they do well with coping. I don't have anybody at this site, for example, that does not have the ability to do that. ... I have several who are good candidates to go on to graduate school."

Asked about interacting with the students at the remote sites, she explained,

Nobody interacted. If I asked if there were any questions and didn't specifically say, "Are there any questions at site A?" or "Are there any questions at site B?", I got no response at all. So I had to specifically cue which site was to respond.

If someone did stop her, it was usually to ask her to repeat something because the sound was bad and they could not hear. Occasionally she would be able to read the cues from her students that someone had a question or wanted to say something and she would stop. But, she couldn't see the students at the other sites to read these cues, and the other instructors seldom indicated if there was a question. She justified this with "But you know, part of the thing is the lag time. By the time you hear it, you are already talking about something else." If there were questions, however, she stated that most of them came from the site where the teaching was taking place. Her students, she felt, "were pretty good about asking questions actually. Even when they were being taught from the other sites."

Although she indicated that the situation was the same when the other instructors were teaching, she did mention that one instructor was able to get the students at all sites involved.

One person did and what she did was give the students questions a week ahead that they were to use when they did their readings, and then she would specify which site these questions were to be answered from. That worked OK, and the students, I think, didn't dislike it.

She immediately clarified that this strategy would not have worked for her because "I was never more than a week ahead in my prep." Next year, however, she felt things would be different because she had now taught the course. She did point out,

the other thing you have to keep in mind is that at the other two sites that is what the faculty do; they teach. That's their job. That's it. OK. That's not my job; that's part of my job. The people I have worked with have been really good this year. But, keep in mind their job is to teach. That is just part of mine. And I have limited time for it.

Asked about her plans for teaching the course next January, she indicated that the format would remain the same – two hours of videoconferencing followed by an hour seminar. The first thing she mentioned that would be changed was the format for the mid-term exam.

I'll keep the mid-term questions because they were good.... But I won't do them as an exam. They will be assignments and they will be on the course outline so they will know from the first day that they will have to do them. Another change she was planning to make dealt with the guest speakers. Because it was her belief that undergraduate students did not think the content presented by guest speakers was important, she was going to do more of the content on her own. She mentioned the students' lack of attention to one particular speaker.

I had a guest speaker because it was her area of expertise and it was not mine for a very important part of the course. And I think the students didn't take it seriously enough. . . . I can tell from the midterm exam that they hadn't clued that this particular content is fundamental to understanding the entire course. So I will do that section in more depth.

The only other change she thought she might try was generating questions the way the instructor from one of the sites had done. Her plan was to develop a question for each site to respond to; but, rather than have the questions "very concrete from the readings" like the other instructor did, she would ask questions that would require the students to think more.

In a final reflection of how the course went, she stated "To me it hasn't been a disaster; it's just not the best way. I feel I have made good connections with my students here, and I hope that that has happened at the other two sites. And with the faculty there, it probably has."

Instructor E

In contrast to the other instructors in this study, both the course content and the videoconferencing teaching environment were familiar territory for this individual. She had taught the course seven times before, six in the traditional classroom and once by videoconferencing; and, in describing her first experience teaching via videoconferencing, she indicated, "We went in thinking that we would teach it like we would teach a traditional class. Boy, were we wrong!" She went into the course this year determined to overcome the obstacles of the previous year.

This was a required first year course that provided an introduction to the profession, its history, and issues. The traditional classroom setting had 50 to 60 students and was taught 3 hours per week. The instructor described the teaching style as ". . . a combination. There's lecture because of the numbers; but there is also a lot of break up into groups for discussion and then bring it back." Because there are so many issues in the profession and they are all new to the students, the instructor commented that

It's nice for them to be able to come and talk after class and come up to my office. It's the first time they are hearing about a lot of these issues . . . and it's nice to be able to help them with one-on-one contact.

This type of interaction allowed her to get to know all her students, which was something she considered very important for an instructor to do. In fact, she indicated that she had taught the same course immediately after the videoconferencing one and knew all the students within the first month. This was not the case with the videoconferencing class.

In the videoconferencing class there were three sites: the instructor's site with no students and two remote sites with a total of 40 students. Each remote site also had an instructor in the classroom. The course was part of the nursing degree curriculum and therefore, the lead instructor and co-ordination had to come from the university. The fact that the instructors

at the other sites were qualified to teach the course did not matter. What this did allow, however, was for these individuals to do some team teaching and to deal with issues that were specific to their region of the province. But at the same time, she indicated that this set-up was one of the main reasons she felt that 'getting to know her students' was hindered.

They had instructors at the other sites on site and that makes a real big difference because they can go to the instructors there. And they really viewed, I think, their instructors at their home site as their actual professor. Where I was a professor, but not. Something like a visiting professor. Like a voice from out and beyond.

Although the course was offered twice a week (90 minutes each), she only had the students for one class. The other class was taught by the instructors at the remote sites and was used to review/discuss the content from the full class session or to cover content specific to each site. The format had been the same the previous year, with one exception. Because of a conflict with the videoconferencing bridge, it was only possible to have the three sites connected for an hour; so, she would alternate. "One week I would spend my last 20 minutes with one site and then the next week with the other site." She used the time for discussion and questions. There was very little interaction with the groups as a whole that year.

We used the time for discussion and questions; and, actually, that was good. That was quite enjoyable because we were looking at smaller numbers of students. They were way more likely to talk to me.

Not only did this give her an opportunity to get to know the students; it also got her out of the lecture format. Because the distance teaching environment was new to everyone that year, she indicated, "I found we were slipping further and further into lecture style format. So that 20 minutes was good for more exchange." This year she had the bridge for the full 90 minutes, and therefore, did not have the opportunity to spend the time with the individual sites. She could have scheduled it; but, as she indicated a number of times

We did things so differently this year that the lecture format was just so much less of an issue. . . .We structured in a lot more group work, you know, question periods, like things where they would have to talk to each other from site to site.

Even with the changes and reduction in lecture time, she still did not feel that she knew the students. "If I passed one of the students on the street, I probably wouldn't know them. So, that is something I wish that I had done better."

Preparation for any course was a "last minute" thing for her, and the first year she taught via video was no different. She used the same techniques.

There is all the background work, of course. I gather my stuff and I would prepare a lecture, some case studies, maybe some newspaper articles, something that related to the topics and then I would take it from there.

She indicated that it did not take long before she and the other instructors realised that what may have worked for them in the traditional classroom was not going to work in the videoconferencing one. This new environment required the instructor

to be a lot more organised. You can't just go in and wing it. Course outlines should be made. Good visual structure is needed. Guided note taking in a lecture is a must to reduce student anxiety of worrying about missing important notes.

Some of these items could have been dealt with in the previous year's course if the instructors had been given training in the use of the system and instructional design. "I didn't get any training on the equipment or a chance to work with it until after the class started. But I don't find technology

difficult. I worked in ICU, so this is easy. It's just a matter of pushing a few buttons." She indicated that they probably would have done "a whole lot more work but none of us knew that it was going to be done this way until summer and by then you are on holidays." As for instructional design support, her response was, "That would have been really nice to have. We didn't have any orientation when I taught it the first year. We learned as we went."

One of the things the three of them learned was that you couldn't count on the class running every day.

We had problems with the bridge; we had some problems this year but they were short lived and solved quickly. Last year we lost entire class days. That made us realise that we had to do some changes to our planning; the instructors at both sites would always have to have a back-up plan. So that added extra preparation time for them because they had to have a whole class ready to go.

She provided the other instructors with the necessary materials for the planned class, and that meant that she had to be planning a week ahead to be sure that they had the materials in time. Initially they tried sending the material as e-mail attachments. However, some people "had trouble receiving attachments. So to do an attachment over the e-mail, what they had to do was go and get somebody from their computer services to retrieve it. . . That was just too much of a hassle, so we just didn't bother with it." Instead, they used the fax machine, which didn't always work either.

The three of them were determined to totally revise their teaching methods, and her description of their planning for this year was

It was more; it was more. And a lot more thinking was involved because we had to really sit down and think 'how are we going to make this better because we don't want it the same'. Not the way we did it the first year. They began by talking about what they didn't like, and "we all had a pretty good idea of what we didn't like. We didn't like all the lectures and lack of exchange." They also knew what they wanted. "We wanted to increase student input; do something other than just lecturing the same way; resolve the problem the students had with note taking anxiety and the feeling of disconnectedness." This determination, availability of time, and desire to help others led to making some "real significant changes to the way we did things."

She explained that she and the other instructors took on this task as they would a research project.

We did a lot of evaluation from both students and faculty. We interviewed other faculty members to talk about their experiences with it because we were also preparing something for a paper presentation at a conference. So we did a paper on the different teaching methods and advantages and disadvantages, and some recommendations. So through all that work we also came up with a whole lot of other ideas. We got into literature and actually read about videoconferencing finally. So we did a lot of other work looking at videoconferencing itself and then from all that we were able to do a lot more work in planning.

One of the teaching strategies she read about was to put together a panel of experts, at least one at each site, to discuss/debate an issue as it relates to their region. This was something all the instructors thought would work, and it did.

I think the use of the panels was probably the biggest from both a change in teaching strategies and success rate that we made this year. We brought in things that we could get different experts on or different things that reflected the nature of the community that we wouldn't have had otherwise. During the panel sessions, the students took an active part in the discussions and were able to relate specifically to the issues in their own region. This, however, was not the case when an individual was invited to speak on an issue that was more focused. The resources available to the students at the two sites created a challenge because "the libraries in both places aren't as well stocked." To help the students prepare for discussions on particular issues, the instructors were required to send out copies of newspaper and magazine articles.

This became a challenge because they don't get the same news coverage and for this course, that was an issue. . . . The newspaper became like a daily resource and students up there didn't have that and I could really see the difference because I was teaching this course in the traditional class setting at the same time. I found that my students here were a lot more informed about what was happening in health care in Alberta and in Canada than the students up in the two northern colleges.

In her traditional class, she had the students read both Edmonton newspapers to do a comparison of how the issues were reported. She commented that "the whole slant in the editorial columns was fascinating" and created some very interesting discussions in class. When asked why she did not have the videoconferencing class do the same assignment, her response was

They just don't have the access to the papers. I'm sure they have the newspapers up there; but, it's not easy for the students to get access. . . . I'm sure the <u>Journal</u> was available but it's not like it is being delivered to your home every morning.

Even though she appeared to understand the students' situation, she still found it "frustrating because when it came to having the speakers come from the health authorities, they couldn't ask them questions as well because they didn't know the issues well." She did, however, state "that's

not really a videoconferencing issue, but I think it might be something with distance education. And, I didn't realize it until the very end of the course this time."

One of the features of the videoconferencing technology that both the instructors and students found annoying was the ½ to 2-second audio delay between when a person speaks and when it is heard at the other sites. Although it became less of an issue as the course progressed, it was felt that the delay inhibited spontaneity and interaction between the sites. Also, problems with the audio at some sites made it difficult for students to be heard and frustrated them when they tried to ask a question. As a result of these issues, the students directed their questions to the faculty member at their site. She either dealt with the questions personally or redirected them over the system so everyone could be involved. In an attempt to overcome these problems,

we did a lot more purposeful questioning. That exchange made [discussion] a necessary part of class. The delay became a non-issue once we started doing it all the time. They didn't interrupt that much more; but we scheduled in [questions] and stopped much more frequently so it didn't matter. The delay became a non-issue once we started doing this all the time.

As for the quality of the audio system, both remote sites restructured their classrooms so that the microphones were more accessible to the students. The seating arrangements were also changed to allow the camera to be focused on a specific student or group of students during discussions. Although some students initially indicated they did not like to see themselves on the screen, this eventually became a non-issue like the audio delay.

In comparing the atmosphere of her videoconferencing classroom to that of the traditional classroom, she indicated that it was "very lonely." As indicated earlier, she missed the direct interaction with the students. However, when asked how she would feel about having students at her site as well as the remote sites, she thought "it would be harder." She indicated that one person she spoke with described her experience as being "multi-tasked".

It was necessary to teach the material, manipulate the control pad, use the document camera, and attend to students at distant sites and students at her own site. It was easy to get lost in the process. She always felt like she was ignoring somebody – either her students or those at the remote sites. The students also commented that the instructor tended to focus on the monitor and the students at her site felt ignored at times.

She explained that because of these comments, she would prefer not to have students at her site even though she missed the personal contact. "Even though they say that women are good at doing several things at once, I really think all this would be stretching this ability to a degree."

In closing, she commented, "one of the things that just finally hit me is that we are just going on about all these negative things. It was actually a student who said to me, 'But, you know, as far as distance education goes, this is the best.'" She further suggested that,

We are making an unfair comparison. Some how we have to get to people and say, "Yes you have done traditional, but this is a totally different thing. You cannot compare them." If you are going to compare, look at your traditional classes and compare them to whatever you do face-to-face. But if you are looking at videoconferencing, only compare it with anything else that would be at a distance – correspondence, teleconferencing, Internet. I think videoconferencing for distance education is good. It gives you lots of possibilities.

She did close by saying,

I prefer the traditional classroom; there is no doubt about it. However, I found the videoconferencing to be really interesting and challenging to do. . . . I found the experience really quite rewarding mostly because of the work with the other faculty members and the opportunity to work hard to make something better and to have actually made it somewhat better.

Conclusion

Although I mentioned at the start of this chapter that each instructor's experience was somewhat unique, there were major topics that began to develop as I read and re-read the stories – preparation of instructors, planning and instructional strategies, site issues, and issues identified by instructors.

Chapter Five discusses these themes as they relate to the instructors in my study. This information is then used to provide suggestions for course development, teaching strategies, and instructor training that will allow the effective use of videoconferencing as a delivery mode to meet the educational needs of the adult university student.

CHAPTER 5

REFLECTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

This last decade in particular has witnessed rapid changes in the workplace. Adult learners, faced with the likely obsolescence of their knowledge and skills, are putting increasing pressure on post-secondary institutions to provide effective "just-in-time" training opportunities that will allow them to remain where they live and retain full-time employment rather than having to relocate. Administrators, faced with meeting these demands while coping with shrinking resources, have sought out technological solutions (Chute, Hancock, and Balthazar, 1991) partly in response to the decrease in telecommunication costs and the improvements in technology over the last ten years. Compressed videoconferencing, which allows twoway audio and video to be transmitted between two or more locations, has become an accessible mode of delivery for many post-secondary institutions. However, the implementation of compressed videoconferencing has brought with it other recommended changes; some in response to the possibilities and constraints of the technology and some due to the influence of new learning theories such as constructivism. Authors who support these recommendations believe that instructors, students, and administrators need to view the educational process differently. They recommend that instructors using videoconferencing for the first time receive training before they begin teaching and that they need to understand and use new methods of instructional design that take them beyond information-giving to an interactive exchange with students (Williamson, 1996). They suggest that instructors must change their way of designing and teaching courses if they wish

to secure a place in the classroom of the future[. They] must first understand these technologies and the environment they are about to enter. They must step from the traditional classroom into the video world, accepting and adapting to its unique requirements. (Ostendorf,1997; p. 51)

What is not clear in the literature is what this training should consist of, how effective the training is, and how the training and subsequent teaching are influenced by the instructor's expectations of videoconferencing and prior instructional experiences.

Overview of Study

My research study focused on instructors who were using compressed videoconferencing as a delivery mode for the first time. The purpose of the study was to obtain an understanding of how these instructors viewed their experience and what recommendations for other instructors could be drawn from these experiences. Five research questions were used to guide the study:

- 1. What types of preparation did first-time instructors require in order to teach comfortably using videoconferencing technology?
- 2. What instructional planning and teaching strategies did these instructors use in the videoconferencing classroom and how did these compare with their traditional classroom strategies?
- 3. How did the instructors' perceptions of their teaching in a videoconferencing environment compare to that of their traditional classroom?
- 4. What configurations physical and human resources at the specific locations were most helpful?
- 5. What issues and problems did the instructors identify?

My participants in this qualitative study were five instructors who were involved in two different projects. Three instructors were part of a pilot project between the university and Northern Alberta colleges to determine the viability of such a partnership. The other two instructors were part of an on-going program that was in its second year of using compressed videoconferencing. The use of videoconferencing technology as a teaching tool was new for all but one of the instructors in this study. All were trained on similar equipment by the same person. The one instructor who had previously used the technology described herself as a beginner and, therefore, was able to discuss her experiences as such as well as provide a look at the next step in the process. Two instructors who taught within the same program had students who were taking other videoconferencing courses; and three instructors had some of the same students.

Through a series of audio-taped interviews, the instructors described their views of their experiences with videoconferencing. They described the type of preparation to teach a videoconferencing course they had received; how the instructional planning and teaching strategies they had used compared to what they used in their traditional classroom; and how their perceptions of their teaching in a videoconferencing environment compared to those of their traditional classroom. The tapes were transcribed and the transcripts verified by the instructors. Notes were also taken during the oncampus video-conferencing classroom visitations, while viewing the videotapes of classes, and as I went through the various documents received from the instructors. The data were then coded and categorized and the findings provided as five separate stories of the instructors' experiences.

Discussion of Findings

Based on their descriptions in the original transcripts and my field notes, I identified five major topics related to the research questions. These were the preparation of instructors, course planning and instructional strategies, student interaction, conditions at the remote sites; and issues identified by the instructors. Each topic is discussed in relation to related literature and research.

Preparation of Instructors

"Just go in there and teach the way you have always taught. There isn't any difference between traditional classroom teaching and teaching at a distance" (Cyrs, 1997b, p. 15). According to Cyrs, this statement captures

the assumptions made by poorly informed administrators and instructors, and leads to the transferring of the same instructional strategy used in the traditional classroom to the distance classroom. Cyrs further commented that, "institutions that perpetuate this attitude and do not provide training for distance learning instructors will not survive in the growing student consumer market" (p. 15). Writers seem agreed that training is essential for effective videoconferenced instruction. However, while some detail an extensive program of instructor development, others contend that knowing how to use the technology is sufficient and dispute Cyrs' contention that transferring strategies is poor instruction.

de Cicco (1997) agreed that instructors require training in the use of the technology. He recommended "a minimum of one day's introduction to the system and its features, plus a further half day for live practice" (p. 14). For these writers, the emphasis is on becoming conversant with the technology. The training program that was available to the five instructors in my study was offered by the same individual and varied from 45 minutes to 4 hours; two instructors attended a 4-hour session together, while the other three received individual training. Two of these instructors received their training the hour prior to their first class. During the training sessions, the trainer explained how the technology worked, the function of the buttons on the console, and how to operate the peripherals, i.e., document camera, computer, auxiliary camera, and VCR. Everyone agreed that the console was self-explanatory and took no time to learn. However, when asked how often they used the various features available, i.e., browsing through the sites; accessing the document camera, VCR, or computer; or changing the focus of the main camera at their site, only two of the instructors indicated that they had done so. One of these was Instructor E, and she admitted that when she taught the course the previous year she seldom used the console. However, in an effort to improve the quality of interaction and learning for

the students, she and her two co-instructors knew they had to incorporate more variety and that meant using the peripherals and therefore the console.

Moore and Kearsley (1996) have pointed out that because videoconferencing instructors have the advantage of being able to see the students at each of the sites and of the students seeing them, part of their preparation should be on the development of an awareness of their oncamera image, eye contact, voice, clothing, and movement. The major portion of the five instructors' training sessions focused on appearance and movement for best visibility on camera. The instructors were also given handouts on what to wear and how to best position themselves in front of the camera when they were not sitting. Although they indicated this information was helpful, they all felt that the handouts would have been sufficient. This was similar to the type of training Weber and Lawlor (1998) reported that faculty at three institutions in Pennsylvania received in preparation for providing continuing education seminars using compressed videoconferencing to nurses in rural areas in Spring 1995. Weber and Lawlor (1998) noted that

Faculty were encouraged to present their content as they would in a traditional classroom, with attention to the differences in preparing camera-ready visuals to augment audio content, positioning oneself relative to the camera, slowing and limiting body movement for effective interactive delivery, and discussing options should equipment failure occur during the presentation. (p. 162)

Hiel and Herrington (1997) conducted a study to identify training required to effectively use videoconferencing technology for a variety of activities at a Texas Agricultural Research and Experiment Station in South Texas. They conducted interviews with the directors and instructors to determine plausible uses and limitations of the Trans Texas Videoconferencing Network (TTVN) to offer university courses, continuing education and staff development, and administrative activities. One of the

areas they discussed in their findings dealt with the use of the technology and the training needed to effectively use it. It was felt, by those using the technology, that "the knowledge required to effectively use the TTVN equipment is not very great; but, it does require an introduction and some practice" (p. 4). However, it was also noted that individuals "who are not teaching a regularly scheduled class, are not confident of their mastery of the technology" (p. 4).

In contrast, Clay (1999) reflects the views of many authors who believe that the most important area administrators need to focus on if they want to offer successful distance education programs is the training and support for their instructors.

Many educators have reached a level of understanding and experience in which they are highly confident in their ability to deliver quality instruction. When they are faced with adopting techniques that seem to curtail their abilities to immediately interact with students and require the utilization of new technologies, they are understandably fearful that their instruction and subsequent evaluations will suffer. (p. 1)

According to Clay, as instructors begin to consider teaching videoconferencing courses, or any distance education courses, there are four developmental stages they go through:

- a. Awareness: A search for an understanding of what distance education is and specifically, what is involved in teaching by videoconferencing. To assist at this stage, workshops are needed to ensure the instructors' questions are answered.
- b. Consideration: An assessment of the drawbacks and benefits, availability of technology and curriculum design assistance, and an opportunity for hands-on-practice is sought.
- c. Implementation: The instructor is provided with one-on-one intensive training and course development support. "If assistance . . . is lacking, many instructors will fail to go on. . . . The [amount of training required]

will vary greatly among instructors, and may range from a few days to several years" (p. 3).

d. Innovation: Instructors experiment with and implement new teaching methods that may be adopted by others.

At the start of my study, only Instructor E was beyond the awareness stage; she could be considered to be in the implementation stage because of her previous experience and determination to design a successful course. The other four accepted their teaching assignments with minimal understanding of distance education in general, and specifically what was involved in teaching using videoconferencing technology. Because of the short time between being asked to teach and the start of classes, instructors A, B, and C did not spend time learning about distance education. Instead, they began preparing to teach without the intensive training recommended by Clay. Instructor D, who knew in September that she would be teaching a videoconferencing course in January, did not make time to take advantage of the steps in these stages. She did all her course planning the week prior to classes. Even through these four instructors would be classified in the implementation stage because they were teaching and therefore, designing course material, none of them obtained the one-on-one intensive training and course development support recommended by Clay.

Clay saw training as instructor development and as an on-going process that required a "well-planned, proactive distance training and support program" (p. 1) to assist instructors in gaining confidence with their new teaching environment and to help them realize the potentials distance education offered them and their students.

Distance instruction represents a tremendous change in the role of instructor. In the distance environment, the instructor shifts more toward a mentor or facilitator role. This requires a great deal of communication, usually through the use of technology. The use of technology, which may

be poorly understood by many faculty, results in a substantial increase in the time required to develop and deliver a course. (p. 2)

She pointed out that "Experience shows that training simply won't 'take hold' unless support is ongoing, with job-embedded opportunities for practice" (p. 4). She indicated that on-going training was not only needed because instructors forget what they have learned, but "the technology changes as do student and faculty needs" (p.4).

Betts (1998) believed that "faculty play an essential role in the implementation of distance education and technological change" (p. 1) and to determine the validity of this contention, she conducted a study of 532 faculty and seven deans at The George Washington University, Washington, DC in Spring 1998. Her main objective was to find out what influenced faculty to participate in distance education courses; however, she was also interested in the recommendations faculty had regarding faculty development programs. Of the 154 responses, three general recommendations emerged:

(1) faculty would like support for course development (e.g., financial, administrative, and technical support); (2) faculty are interested in seminars and workshops that focus on skill development, the use of new technologies, designing courses, teaching strategies, and on the educational merit of distance education techniques (e.g., hands-on training, coaching, access to technology, tutorials, guided practices, and pilot tests); and (3) faculty would like release time for training. (p. 3) Both Clay and Ostendorf (1997) have identified what they see as essential components of a training program. Ostendorf suggested that instructors must have:

- a. An understanding of how teaching via videoconferencing differs from commercial television and the traditional classroom.
- b. A general introduction to the technology that will be used and the specific role the instructor has in the videoconferencing classroom.

- c. An understanding of the system capabilities, the demographics of the students, the electronic tools available, and the necessity for distance education courses to have direct learner involvement and participation throughout the lesson before designing the course.
- d. Training and practice to achieve mastery with each of the teaching tools and thereby be free to focus on the subject matter and students.
- Mastered unique facilitation skills to ensure that all students can participate in interaction and other involvement activities equitably and with ease. (pp. 51-52)

Clay's list of minimum training requirements is similar. It includes sessions on how distance instruction ties in with the institutional mission, distance learning technology and its impact on learners, fundamentals of and assistance with course development and adaptation, techniques for encouraging interaction, development of back-up and contingency plans, and copyright and other policy issues. Ostendorf concentrates on an understanding of the videoconferencing system and the particular issues concerning student interaction. Clay's list goes further in including assistance in course development and in requiring that instructors must have opportunities for addressing concerns and have access to administrative and support services (p. 4). Both lists include references to enhancing student interaction and participation.

In my study, the actual training sessions were short and limited in content and did not include discussion of issues involving student participation. However, the trainer did sit in on several of each instructor's classes and was available outside class times to assist with the technology and provide ideas on how it could be used. In all cases, the instructors turned down any outside help. One reason given was lack of time to meet with the trainer and prepare new material; however, it did not appear to be the main one. Every one of the instructors had taught several courses a year for at least four years, and therefore, did not see any need for assistance in designing or teaching a course. As one individual put it, "I probably wouldn't have taken much advice." In addition to not asking for outside assistance, none of the instructors made time after their initial training session to practice or experiment with the technology prior to or during the term/s their courses were offered since they found the technology easy to use.

In comparing the training requirements suggested by these authors to the training received by the five instructors in my study, it is evident that further training was required. Instructor E validated this by taking it upon herself to research the use of videoconferencing, talk with other instructors to obtain suggestions, experiment with the technology prior to teaching her second course, and asking for assistance in developing course materials and using the peripheral technology available to her. However, these researchers all assumed interested faculty who in hindsight desired more preparation. Four of the five instructors in this study were generally unwilling to devote more time to training, at least initially, suggesting that their assumptions about teaching as a generic skill overrode specific questions about the technology. We need to know more about how to approach and work with first-time instructors without either scaring them off or adding immeasurably to their workload.

In describing the levels and type of training required by videoconferencing instructors, Betts (1998), Clay (1999), de Cicco (1997), Heil and Herrington(1997), and Ostendorf (1997) also reinforced the need to assist instructors with their instructional planning and teaching strategies to ensure a student centred learning experience. Again, this assumes that instructors have some knowledge of and support this orientation. As the next section makes clear, their philosophies of teaching strongly influenced their perceptions of videoconferencing.

Course Planning and Instructional Strategies

Willis (1995) indicated that in order to meet students' needs in the distance education environment, the instructor must establish an environment of comfort, openness, interactivity, experiential learning, and opportunity for critical

thinking and that instruction should include a variety of presentation methods, short instructional modules, and extensive supplementary materials. In discussing their views on instructional planning, and the strategies they used, the instructors in my study linked their videoconferencing experiences to those in their face-to-face classes. Given Willis' emphasis on interactivity as an aspect of instruction, the instructors' views on student participation and involvement are also included under this topic.

Course design

One of the first aspects of course planning is to know your context and that of your students. Instructors D and E were familiar with the concept of distance education because their program had been using audio and audiographic conferencing technology to deliver courses for a number of years. They also had had the opportunity to speak with faculty who had previously taught distance education courses. However, both admitted that their discussions with other faculty focused specifically on videoconferencing and that the majority of the feedback was negative.

Instructors A, B, and C had no distance education experience, and all admitted that until this project, they thought distance education meant "learning by correspondence." The use of technology to teach was not a new concept to them; however, they viewed technology as an additional tool to be used in the traditional classroom. Because of this, they were totally unaware of the specific concerns of distance students, and therefore, of how to design a course to meet those needs. These instructors were also at a disadvantage because they did not have the opportunity to talk with experienced distance instructors and learn from them even though this project was taking place on the same campus and at the same time as Instructors D and E were teaching.

One piece of course design advice that might have assisted them was encapsulated by Bivens and Chute (1996):

Presenting a learning program via two-way videoconferencing requires a modified approach to generate learning success. It is often assumed that since you are still in "real-time" with the participants that your face-to-face presentation skills will be enough. Excellent face-to-face facilitation skills are necessary, but the presenter must go beyond these skills and incorporate new ones. (p. 4)

Miller and Padgett (1998) suggested that a technologically enhanced learning environment could have a positive effect on the learning outcomes of distance education students. However, they pointed out that

a major problem in the design of distance education and technologically supported education is that sometimes we simply will try to apply the traditional pedagogical tools into a technologically enhanced environment in order to deliver distance education. (p. 1)

They went on to propose that a positive distance learning environment could not be created by attempting to "force-fit" traditional face-to-face teaching strategies into a technologically supported environment without redesigning course materials and content with the distance learner in mind. Bilton-Ward's (1997) discussion of how traditional lessons need to be modified for the videoconferencing environment agreed with their view. She stated that in order for instructors to be effective, they "must master strategies that are unique to designing and delivering instruction through videoconferencing technology" (p. 13). She further commented that effective videoconferencing instructors must first be

effective teachers with an adequate knowledge of the content and the ability to accommodate the various learning styles of the learners. They should be well informed about modern pedagogical principles and be able to translate those principles into practice. . . . Effective teaching reflects careful planning of objectives, instructional approaches, and evaluation as well as familiar with the needs and knowledge base of the audience. (p. 13)

In my study, the five instructors had been teaching within the postsecondary environment for a number of years and felt they already had a good understanding of various teaching strategies and how to use them. Although they had done some teaching during their graduate work, none of them had

taken any teaching methodology or instructional design courses or seminars and did not see this as a hindrance to their teaching. They based their approach to teaching on two factors—how they had been taught in their post-secondary classes, and how they liked to be taught. They viewed the key element for teaching success to be content expertise, i.e., their responsibility was to ensure the students had a thorough background in the subject so they could advance to the next level. Seldom receiving any negative feedback about their teaching, student marks being within the required range, and being asked by administration to teach a course again were indications to these instructors that they were doing a good job and hence must be using appropriate teaching strategies.

Everyone indicated that in their first year courses they tended to lecture more than they would in a senior level course. Some of their rationale for this included:

- a. Most first year classes had 50 or more students and that made anything other than lecture difficult.
- b. The subject matter was new to the students, and therefore, they would not have the background necessary for discussions.
- c. These courses laid the foundation for future courses, and because of the quantity of material to be covered, there was little time for anything but lecturing.
- d. Undergraduate students were not perceived to be mature enough to read material prior to class, so discussions would be a waste of time; "They expect you to teach it to them."

Course development

Instructors A, B, and C planned their courses alone. Two were able to use materials they had developed for their equivalent campus course, while one who had accepted the assignment at the last minute had to use the textbook and outline which had been put together by the initial instructor. He was not happy with this situation since this required him to ensure that he was comfortable with

all the content in the survey course and hence limited his opportunity to develop specific resources to enhance his lectures.

Within the faculty where Instructors D and E taught, the use of team planning was quite common, and both instructors had been members of such teams for a number of years. The format used in the traditional setting was to have one individual act as the course leader and be responsible for compiling and obtaining consensus for the course outline, assignments, etc. Each team member was responsible for teaching a section, and everyone met at least once a month to discuss the progress of the course and students. Because of the varied backgrounds of the faculty, this approach was effective in giving the students different perspectives of concepts and experiences. This same format was used for the videoconferencing courses but Instructor D did all the planning with minimal input from her remote site colleagues since she intended to do the majority of the instruction. Instructor E held regular audioconferenced meetings with her team colleagues and they spent quite some time discussing what strategies would be most effective in involving students.

All the instructors in this study had developed materials, assignments, and exams for the courses that they taught in the traditional classroom and were happy with the results they achieved. Since their training sessions did not include a curriculum design component, the instructors began with the assumption that what worked in their traditional classes would also work in the videoconferencing class. All but one quickly identified that changes were required. However, without previous training in curriculum design, they did not know how to go about making changes, and there was no curriculum designer available to assist them. The individual who did the initial training and whose area of expertise was the technology not curriculum design, was also responsible for training other distance education instructors on campus as well as developing training modules and, therefore, had limited time to spend with them.

Instructor A admitted that he entered the videoconferencing course with no intention of changing the way he designed or taught the course. Any type of curriculum design training would have been a waste of his time because, in his

opinion, it was a university course, and therefore, it should be taught exactly the same as his classroom courses. However, the other instructors made reference to their lack of awareness of what could be done to enhance course material and pointed out that this was a weakness in the training they had received. The majority of the instructors also suggested that instructors should be given paid release time to develop and/or improve curriculum for courses that are to be taught in a distance format. Dooley (1996) pointed out, however, that unless there is some type of team approach, the instructor ends up being content specialist, curriculum designer, and technology specialist, and these expanded roles have not always resulted in new approaches to teaching. Instructional strategies

A study by Gehlaug, Shatz, and Frye (1995) looked at how instructors at Ohio University used different instructional techniques in courses offered through interactive television (videoconferencing). The four most common techniques were lecture, group discussion, overhead lecture notes, and overhead transparencies. The instructors indicated that other techniques were seldom used and ranked the four most effective methods as lecture, videotapes, overhead transparencies, and slides. They did indicate that there was a need for classroom interaction, sensitivity to the needs of the remote students, preplanning, organization, and familiarity with the technology. The findings seem to indicate that the instructors tended to rely on traditional lecture methods even through they felt that other methods might be more effective. Gehlauf, Shatz, and Frye summarized their findings by emphasizing the need for hands-on training and assistance with designing new teaching techniques as being essential for any distance education instructor.

To obtain an understanding of the range of strategies used by the instructors in my study, I asked them to describe the instructional strategies they used in their traditional classes and then to describe the changes they made for their videoconferencing classes. In general, the use of the illustrated lecture, with occasional questions from students was the most common format. Their

compiled list included the following: lecture, discussion, group work, videos, overhead projector, blackboard, case studies, and guest speakers.

<u>Overhead projector.</u> Of Instructors A, B and C, none just lectured. One used the overhead projector to write all his notes for the students rather than the blackboard because he preferred to face the students while he talked. Even though his initial description of his teaching style suggested that he moved around a great deal, he later clarified that this only took place at the start of each class. Once he started lecturing, he sat beside the overhead projector, which was equipped with an acetate roll, and wrote notes as he talked. The other instructors also used the overhead projector but only as a tool to highlight specific points. They used the board to write on and brought prepared transparencies to emphasize particular points. In fact, one instructor indicated that because of the nature of his course, there were very few videos or films available for teaching purposes so he had compiled a set of transparencies with cartoons, maps, and paintings that he used to highlight specific topics. He would leave them on the projector as he roamed around the room discussing their contents.

<u>Videos and films.</u> As for using other instructional tools, only one of the instructors in this study viewed them as a waste of time. In his opinion, videos and films were only for instructors who were worn out; he never had time to cover all the necessary material. He did suggest that the videos might be helpful for the students but they would have to access them outside of class. He felt that the information he presented in class and the textbook were all the students required to pass the multiple-choice exams that his Department used. In contrast, another instructor used videos in most of her classes to generate discussion. She didn't necessarily show the complete video; rather, she would show a segment and have the students discuss it. She found that using a video to introduce a concept was a beneficial learning tool for the students. However, she did not use a lot of examples when discussing a concept because, as a student, she 'didn't like hearing' them. But she did not discourage students from providing examples that were relevant to the topic being discussed.

<u>Small group work</u>. The format of Instructor D's undergraduate courses was lecture with the occasional question being asked by her or one of the students. She had used group work a couple of times. However, the problem of finding rooms for the break-off groups, in her opinion, was not worth the few benefits the students would obtain because "undergraduate students could not be expected to come to class prepared to discuss issues."

Instructor E described her approach to teaching as a combination of lecture and small group discussions. She used the lecture format to present the theory and foundation the students needed to understand the many issues within the profession. To provide additional background about what was happening in the profession, the students were required to read related articles in both the local newspapers. She used the small break-off groups for the students to discuss the issues and then report their findings to the class for further discussion. She found this combination, plus the occasional guest speaker, to be very effective. In addition, the feedback she received from the students on the course evaluations indicated that they also found the course format very beneficial to their learning.

<u>Guest speakers.</u> Instructor E used guest speakers to enhance the students' learning experiences in her course. Since the course was offered at three sites, each site hosted a speaker who had been pre-arranged during one of the team planning sessions. The only negative to using speakers was their inexperience with the videoconferencing environment. However, Instructor E indicated that they learned from the first speaker that it was necessary to give the speakers clear information about the classroom set-up and to give them an opportunity to see the room prior to class.

<u>Team-teaching</u>. One major difference between the courses of Instructors A, B and C, and those of Instructors D and E was that for D and E, there was a qualified instructor present at each remote site during their classes. This extended their team planning to a potential team teaching opportunity although that had not been part of the original course design used in their on-campus courses. In some aspects this worked well, i.e., the last hour was used for offline site discussions about what had been discussed in the class and therefore, provided the personal contact the students needed. On the other hand, it did not give all the instructors an opportunity to get to know the students at the remote sites. In the case of Instructor E, there were no students at her site so she did not have an opportunity to meet with any students. It also left the students questioning the rationale behind the teaching structure. If the instructor at their site was qualified to teach the course, why did they have to use the videoconferencing technology? Because of underlying political issues, answers to this question were not forthcoming and led to a certain amount of tension from the students. Instructor D was not as positive about having alternate instructors. She commented that her reaction to a session where an instructor at one of the remote sites taught was that she "found it tedious" and so did her students. She did not make any attempt, however, to inquire as to why this was or how it could be avoided.

Team teaching, however, does provide a variety of opportunities for both instructors and students. Martinez and MacMillan (1998) offered a seminar, January to April 1998, in American politics to provide third year Political Science majors at the University of Calgary a better understanding of U.S. government issues through interactions and discussions with political science students in a senior colloquium at the University of Florida. They referred to this United States Information Service (USIS) funded project as a joint seminar because there were students and an instructor at each site. In addition to planning and technology issues, they also had to deal with a time difference. When the decision to run the project was made, the course was already scheduled from 4 p.m. to 7 p.m. in Calgary, which meant it had to run from 6 p.m. to 9 p.m. in Florida. This created a problem with enrolment because the students were not used to evening classes.

Like the courses taught by Instructors D and E, this course consisted of on- and off-line discussions. The first hour was used to either discuss material that was applicable to only one class, or more commonly, background material as preparation for the videoconference.... When the videoconference began, we introduced ourselves to the students in the

other campus, and then asked the groups to report on their speculations about the causes and consequences of divided government. . . . The final hour was used to debrief the videoconference, and to prepare students for readings in the forthcoming week. (p. 5)

Martinez and MacMillan found the coordination of scheduling, recruitment, and distance education resources challenging, and like the instructors in my study found the development of class assignments, discussion topics, and common readings time consuming. However, they were successful in obtaining interaction with and among the students during their hour session and the students' group presentations. They contributed some of this success to the development of a common web page and an e-mail discussion list. These allowed the students to interact outside class and to collaborate on their group presentation.

In summarizing the results of the project, they believed that they made strides towards their goal of providing students with a better understanding of the U.S. political system. As for the use of videoconferencing to offer team-taught courses that generated student interaction, both the instructors and students viewed it as a success. "Every student who responded to the USIS evaluation request said that they would take another joint course employing distance education technologies if one were available" (p. 10).

Jewett (1998) described another team teaching experience that offered a Master's in Social Work between Cleveland State University and the University of Akron. The instructors in his study expressed concerns similar to those of Instructors D and E. However, Jewett did not make a comparison between the traditional classroom and the videoconferencing classroom. Instead, he compared videoconferencing to other distance education situations, and in doing so made a positive case for its use.

Using videoconferencing to share a degree program between two campuses has some interesting consequences that often don't hold in a "distance education" situation. Since the courses are shared between two campuses, there is no "remote site" where students take a course remote

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

from a campus. A more accurate description is a "sending" or originating campus and a "receiving" campus. At whichever site a student happens to attend the course, the student is always in a campus environment with access to faculty advisors, a department chair, library resources, and the full range of student support services that are typically available on a campus. Since both sites send and receive, all students at each campus experience both the live classroom (when the course originates from their campus) . . . and the receive classroom (when the course originates from the other campus). (p. 11)

Although various instructors described using these instructional strategies, they were most often referring to their on-campus classroom. Instructors A, B, C and D generally confined their videoconferencing classes to a combination of an illustrated lecture using the overhead projector or graphics computer and document camera and some time for answering student questions. Instructors D and E involved some guest speakers. Instructor E, partly as a result of her previous experience, used team teaching and student small group work to encourage interaction and active learning.

Student Interaction

All the instructors stressed that, for effective learning to take place, the students needed to take part in class discussions and question the concepts and issues that were presented to them. Therefore, everyone considered interaction to be an essential component of teaching and were in agreement with Brundage and MacKeracher's (1980) comment in their report on adult learning:

We believe, furthermore, that learning occurs not only as a result of the learner's activities but also as a result of the interactivity between teacher and learner, between teaching and learning. The most appropriate behaviour in such interactions is interdependence, with teacher and learner learning from and teaching each other. (p. 2)

All the instructors suggested that the amount of classroom discussion that took place was really dependent on the size of the class. Because first year classes tended to be quite large, there was a tendency for the students to just sit and listen. All of them said they encouraged the students to ask questions or provide comments during the lecture, but this seldom happened unless the topic was considered to be a "hot issue." One instructor described how he chose to face the students while using the overhead projector. He therefore had visual contact with the students and this allowed him to use facial movements and expressions to get his point across and at the same time to read the students' non-verbal messages of confusion, understanding, or boredom. He felt that his ability to do this was probably the reason there was little need for the students to ask him questions. Two others suggested that the lack of discussion in their classes was because first year students did not have the necessary background in the subject to skilfully ask questions or make comments. Two instructors encouraged discussion: one expected that sustained student-teacher and student-student interaction would occur because it happened in his traditional classes; the other planned for small group work and designed activities which required students to interact and then report back to the class.

However, there was a difference between what the instructors described as interaction in their traditional classrooms and what they expected to occur in the videoconferencing classroom. In all cases, expect for graduate seminars, the major portion of the interaction they described taking place in their traditional classrooms was instructor generated, i.e., generally the instructor asked a student a question and the student responded and occasionally one student responded to another. They felt comfortable with the level of student involvement and extent of questions and comments generated and classified this as being at a good level of interaction. They expected the same to occur with and among students in their videoconferencing classrooms. In the majority of the courses, some instructor-initiated interaction was taking place but the instructors seemed unaware of the need to help students recognize new conventions for turn-taking in videoconferencing from a number of sites. As a result, when the instructors realized that they were unable to achieve a sustained level of interaction spontaneously and that to generate discussion would require preplanning, most blamed the technology. They felt it was not worth the time to do

the planning since the interaction was not essential to the course design. Instead, they lectured and stopped occasionally to see if anyone had a question or comment. In fact, of all the concerns expressed by the instructors about their experiences, the extreme difficulty in obtaining interaction could be ranked number one.

Lehman and Dewey (1998) believed that, "by its very nature, videoconferencing lends itself to two-way interaction and to the use of visuals. Its potential for interface with a wide variety of other technologies and media expands the interaction capabilities" (p. 228). In their description of the necessary areas to be considered in preparing videoconferencing courses, they identified preplanning, development, design, management, assessment and follow-up. At the centre of all these was the use and selection of appropriate interaction. Mitchell (1993) commented that it is common for instructors to blame the technology when the level of interaction they expected did not occur. He stated that,

The mention of video these days is usually accompanied by the attribute of "interactive" as though it was an intrinsic and natural feature of the technology. This is grossly misleading. The technology of videoconferencing is no more interactive than that of audio-conferencing or computer conferencing. Interactivity is achieved through deliberate design and operation of control by the presenter with the voluntary contribution of the participants. (p. 75)

Wagner (1997) suggested that to effectively design an interactive learning experience, the instructor must first determine the goals and objectives of that experience. She stated that,

it is both far more appropriate and effective to begin the process of selecting the strategies and tactics needed to achieve the desired ends of the learning experience, for the specific audience at hand, given the specific conditions likely to be encountered in a given setting. In this way, interaction can serve as an outcome of clearly conceptualized, well-designed, and well-developed instruction and training. (p. 25)

In an attempt to determine "how far videoconferencing technology could be "'pushed' towards the ideal form of interactivity" Burke, Lundin, Daunt (1997) conducted a pilot project involving a group of students in a Master of Education course at Queensland University of Technology. The feedback from this project was similar to that presented by Lehman and Dewey (1998):

videoconferencing allowed the lecturers to go a long way towards replicating the on-campus interaction which is often lacking in distance education programmes. Of particular interest was that the technology did permit the full engagement of these students as adult learners in an approach based on critical reflection, deep learning and metacognition (i.e., to think critically about their own views), and where this reflection leads to improvement of learning. . . a very high level of spontaneous interaction, comparable in effect to the on-campus situation, can be achieved and students at this level are able to maintain that interaction for long periods of time. (Burke, Lundin, and Daunt. 1997, p. 351)

Hiel and Herrington (1997) also found that instructors viewed interaction with and among the students in class as important. However, they included a different level of interaction as also being essential—the personal contact with students that takes place outside class time.

The majority of the instructors in my study commented on their need to get to know their students. Many of them mentioned getting to know students during office hours and that talking with students after and before class was an important part of their teaching style. For instructors A, B and C who did not have any local site assistance, students were expected to place long-distance calls to them during posted office hours. Most reported few or no calls and only one instructor who encouraged students to phone at other times had much success in generating student-initiated calls. Instructors D and E who had coinstructors at the local sites had a different problem. Students did not call them because they could seek information from the local instructor. The lack of these other interaction patterns may go some way to explain some of the instructors' frustration concerning student involvement and interaction.
Student feedback

In their traditional classes, the instructors relied on a number of situations to help them determine the students' level of understanding or interest in the course, e.g., non-verbal messages during class time, extent of involvement in class discussions, and quality of assignments and exams. As for determining the students' level of interest in the videoconferencing classes, they all relied on two indicators—lack of negative response and assignment or exam results. Although they could see the students on their TV screen, they did not feel it was possible to read non-verbal messages. This was due partly to the full site image they used most often where students' general actions were clear but their facial expressions were hard to read. From my observations, in two situations this was because the instructors seldom looked at the screen while teaching; Instructor A's focus was on the overhead projector and Instructor D's was on the students at her site. Seldom did any of the instructors switch from site to site or change the image from full classroom to individual student. This lack of roaming and zooming limited their opportunity to pick-up on students' non-verbal messages.

None of the instructors made any compensation for the conditions under which the courses were being offered. These were university courses and, therefore, all university regulations must be followed. In preparing their course content, some of the instructors were aware that for the pilot project to run, the university had relaxed its minimum enrolment criteria, and hence some sites had students who did not meet all the entrance requirements. This was not true for Instructor C, who undertook the course at the last minute. Instructors D and E knew that their students met the University's entrance requirements. If the students did not do well on an exam, it was assumed to be because they had not done the necessary work to pass. All the instructors in the project believed that many of the students did not have the necessary academic foundation to take their courses; hence, they were not surprised to discover that some students were not passing and did not try to discover what could be done to help them. This may also have been an artifact of the pilot nature of the courses offered by Instructors A, B and C. For Instructors D and E, the question of student

preparation was more complex since their courses were part of a program. For those students, at least there was local site assistance.

In analysing the experiences of the instructors in my study and the findings of other researchers related to instructional planning and strategies, it is evident that being able to use the videoconferencing technology is only part of what makes a successful learning experience. The ability to present a course that is well organised, appropriate to the learning context, and interactive is essential to meeting the educational goals of the learners. To do this, requires training, practice, time, and for some instructors, a complete revision of their teaching methods. Simply applying basic videoconferencing technology to traditional teaching methods is likely to result in inappropriate and ineffective learning environments.

Conditions at the Remote Sites

In videoconferencing, the physical conditions, human resources, and number of participants at each remote site are important considerations in designing instruction. For the participants in my study, Instructors A, B, and C were relatively unaware of the circumstances at each site. They tended to focus on their teaching and did not make many comments about the various sites. Instructors D and E were aware of the locations and contexts of their sites and through interactions with their co-instructors had opportunities to learn more about the specific students and the physical conditions at the sites. However, perhaps because there were people who were responsible for these locations, they too focused very little on issues surrounding the sites. From the instructors' conversations, I identified two remote site topics, one related to the students and the other to the site configuration and technology.

Student characteristics

For all the instructors their relations with the students in their courses proved problematic. As identified earlier, Instructors D and E shared their students with the on-site instructors. This meant that students sought advice and assistance from these people rather than from them and this made their coming to know the students and hence their ability to encourage interaction more difficult. Some students in both instructors' courses were resentful that they had to take a videoconferenced course when they thought their on-site instructors were capable of offering the same content. In addition, Instructor E found that she did not have a good understanding of what in meant to live in these locations and expected students to have access to media that were unavailable in a timely way outside the urban centre. This caused some tension as she initially interpreted their lack of information as reflecting poor preparation and weak academic ability.

While students of Instructors D and E were taking their courses as part of a program, students of Instructors A, B, and C were part of a pilot study to test the feasibility of offering university-level courses to remote communities. The local site coordinator did not participate in any courses. The majority of the students at these sites were Aboriginal and while most met all the university's entrance requirements, some did not. However, they were encouraged to enrol to see what was involved in taking university courses. Although the three instructors involved in the pilot project knew they would have Aboriginal students in their classes, they had not been given any information about the students' culture, academic ability, or preferred learning styles. One instructor did not see this as a necessity. He felt that since they would not be given any special consideration if they were on campus, they should not receive any under these conditions. However, all three commented that these students were too quiet; did not want to answer questions or took too long to answer; and would bring their children to class. Although one instructor mentioned that he found the children to be a distraction, another indicated that when he saw children in class, they were always sitting quietly in an area away from the students. Had the instructors been given some background about the Aboriginal culture and the need for planned participation in videoconferencing, they may have been able to better understand why the students reacted as they did. instead, all three ignored those sites unless the students initiated discussion, which seldom occurred. Instructors D and E found that without deliberate planning which involved students in reporting back to the total class, their students also declined to voluntarily ask or answer questions. Their access to a local person who was familiar to them proved to be an added barrier.

None of the instructors had ever taken any type of distance education course, and therefore, had no first-hand experience of what it meant to participate as a distance education student. They all appeared to be working under the assumption that the learning needs of these students were no different from those in the traditional classroom.

Although four of the instructors had not been involved in distance education prior to this study, most of them had heard negative stories about other people's experiences. Without having the possibility to talk to people who had had positive experiences or at least be given examples of positive experiences, they were not surprised when things they tried did not work. For at least one of the instructors, the self-fulfilling prophecy occurred. She did not think the teaching experience would be enjoyable for her or the students and she did very little preparation or revision to her traditional teaching methods in an attempt to make it an enjoyable experience. The end result was she was not happy and neither were her students.

Site arrangements

Much has been written about the most appropriate configuration for a videoconferencing site (Roberts, 1998). In this study, the arrangement of the classrooms varied from site to site. Some rooms had tables arranged in a U-shape so that students faced each other and turned at a 45 degree angle to watch the screen at the open end of the U. Others were regular lecture rooms with long tables in parallel rows so that students sat facing the front of the room where the screen was. One site had very few students and so they sat around a table in front of the screen. In all situations, when the camera was focused to include all the students, the groups, which varied in size from 5 to 15, tended to appear as tiny images on the screen. Since neither the instructors nor students zoomed in on a student or group of students, the small scale of the image meant that they had limited visual contact with any student. In addition, since the camera was set to continue to transmit an image of the last speaker's site until

someone from another site spoke, those sites with students who did respond tended to be the ones the instructors saw most frequently.

For Instructors D and E, there was an added element – their co-instructor at each of the remote sites. In each of these situations the remote site instructor sat at the front of the class and operated the control panel. There was a tendency for the students to focus on their site instructor rather than the TV screen. Both Instructor D and E indicated that they found this disturbing because the students did not appear to be paying attention to what was being taught.

<u>Technology.</u> The instructors spoke about two concerns associated with the particular videoconferencing technology. They felt that the location, type, and number of microphones at the sites made it awkward for students to take part in discussions. Some of the sites had push-to-talk microphones, but did not have one available for each student. This meant that the microphones had to be passed around when someone wanted to speak, adding to the time it took to respond or ask a question. The students at the other sites also shared microphones; but to use them, the mute button had to be deactivated from the console. This meant that someone had to be appointed "keeper of the console". For the courses taught by Instructors D and E, the "keeper" was the instructor at the sites. For those at some of the course sites for Instructors A, B, and C, it was whoever sat beside the control panel, and in some cases, no one would.

Although all instructors found the time lag and audio problems to be frustrating, they all admitted that after awhile they became non-issues. In fact, one individual commented that at the end of one class he asked the technicians, who had just stopped by, if they were using better telephone lines because the time lag was no longer there. Their reply, he explained, came with a big smile: "It's still there; you just don't notice it any more!"

For the instructors in this study, issues of the technology or even of the configuration and co-ordination of students at the remote sites was not of particular importance to them. Only Instructor E sought to devise an instructional plan that would actively involve the participants at the remote sites. She

explained that her previous experience had been much like that of the other instructors with a focus on her own teaching rather than on the students.

Issues Identified by Instructors

I asked the instructors to identify which issues had been problematic for them. They identified lack of time and the loss of a personal relationship with their students. In reviewing their transcripts, it seemed that behind this inability to see all the students and conceive of them as a single class, was the sense of a loss of control.

Lack of time and information on how to prepare

Time to prepare new or revised instructional materials was something the majority of the instructors identified as a concern because it was not available. As part of their regular teaching assignments, two were teaching new courses and were having problems staying ahead of the students. Two were teaching courses for other post-secondary institutions and because of timetables and travel time were not often on campus, and one was completing several research projects and was on a number of committees. The only instructor who had time for curriculum development was Instructor E and that was because she made the time. She indicated that she knew "the importance of preparing the course materials well in advance. We knew what happened last time, and it was not going to happen this year. We were going to be organized." Instructor C came to this realization after a couple of months of teaching; but was "not sure why things were not working or how to go about changing them." Without the availability of a curriculum support person, he used

the 'trial and error' technique. Sometimes things worked; sometimes they didn't. The problem I had was that I never really knew why. Having someone, who had a background in designing courses, to toss around ideas with would have been a big help to me.

Gant's (1998) study at the Department of Defense, the Defense Intelligence Agency/Joint Military Intelligence College in the USA focused on the unique characteristics of instruction that influence quality of a videoconferencing course. Her findings related to instructor training and need for adequate planning

time concluded that videoconferencing instructors must receive training in the operation of the technology and the design and development of course content. They must also be given the opportunity to practice teaching within the videoconferencing environment in order to develop the necessary teaching skills. To do this effectively. Gant acknowledged the necessity of planning time. She described some of the videoconferencing instructor's responsibilities as having "to prepare the telelecture, develop the student guidebook, develop visual aids and graphics, manipulate the technology, move around the classroom to use a different technology and simultaneously manipulate the master podium control buttons" (p. 7). Although the instructors in her study, as in my study, had previous teaching experiences, she emphasized that the "procedures and operations [for a videoconferencing course] take more preparation time when compared to the traditional class" (p. 7). This statement further reinforced that of the instructors in my study and those of writers such as Burke, Lundin, and Daunt (1997), Clay (1999), de Cicco (1997), Hiel and Herrington (1997), Hill (1998), Jewett (1998), Kaufman and Brock (1998), Lehman and Dewey (1998), Martinez and MacMillan (1998), Miller (1998), Sankar, Ford, and Terase (1997), and Weber and Lawlor (1998). Learning about the technology not only needs to be placed in a classroom context involving the remote sites but it also should involve information about planning for this environment and time to practice. In my study, because the technology was simple to operate, the instructors felt at least initially that they were adequately prepared. Generally, they did not know that they needed to re-conceptualize the classroom experience for students and plan to realise this design as one aspect of their teaching.

Inability to monitor student activities

The feature the instructors were unable to put in the background and which all admitted was definitely an issue, was their inability to see all of the students at the same time, an issue the majority considered to be essential. Without this, they indicated that it was almost impossible to view the students as one group as if they were in the traditional classes.

Several reasons were given for needing the visual contact: reading students' non-verbal messages to determine their "understanding, confusion, or boredom"; feeding off students' enthusiasm and energy; and monitoring what was taking place at each site. The use of non-verbal feedback and the occasional interruption to have a sentence repeated were ways the instructors monitored the students' understanding and involvement in their traditional classes. In the videoconferenced courses, they found that they had been fooled by the slogan of two-way interaction and that in fact they had to physically switch among sites to see students. This brought with it an intentionality that instructors did not have to reveal when they seemed to be merely looking at while talking to their on-campus classes. Further it required them to not only be conscious of what they were saying but also at the same time to be able to manipulate the console switches smoothly and not to visually react to what they saw at an individual site.

Some instructors spoke about the importance to them of the energy generated by their interaction with the students. This non-verbal feedback was essential, they felt, in helping them remain motivated and in turn motivate students to stay on topic and interested.

Monitoring students for misbehavior was another concern. Some instructors believed that unless they had continuous visual contact with all students, the students could be involved in activities unrelated to the course. They were concerned that when they saw students talking together that this was unconnected to the course since they were supposed to be paying attention to the instructor. Some feared that students would walk out of class if the instructor could not see them. Those expressing these concerns indicated that similar activities occurred in their traditional classes; but they were able to control the situations through visual or verbal cues. One instructor admitted that his reasons for needing the visual contact were based solely on his needs in his traditional classroom and he had not taken time to consider if it was essential to the students' learning.

This lack of personal contact with students created a sense of depersonalization for the instructors. One described his experience to be "like teaching to a silent film." What he wanted was "a blackboard in a classroom with living people." Another two compared their experiences to that of a character on TV: they were there to perform, and the students had the power to 'turn them off' if they wanted. One instructor did have students at her site. In a sense, her need to know her students was met by having the students at her site. She relied on their verbal and non-verbal feedback in determining if the students' learning needs at the other sites were being met. Instructor E indicated that she found it guite lonely without students at her site and missed the out-of-class conversations. She did not, however, want to have students at her site. Her initial reasoning dealt with the need to manage the technology and flip back and forth between two sites without having students actually watching her. Once she began planning for the second course, she found literature that presented the advantages and disadvantages of having students at the teaching site and decided it would be best for her not to have students with her.

One instructor had planned to use some small group break-off discussions in order to give the students an opportunity to work in groups and then share their ideas with the other sites. In her traditional classes, she herself would join each group to give them ideas and ensure they were on topic. Because she thought that she would not be able to do this with the videoconferencing groups, she decided to omit the group work. Although she had co-instructors present at each site, she did not think that the time spent on the activity would be as fruitful if she were not able to monitor and intervene in the discussions in each group.

The inability to view all sites at the same time became a specific problem for some instructors during the administration of exams. Prior arrangements had to be made to have someone supervise. This meant relying on someone at each site to remain in the room for the total exam period. For Instructors D and E, this was not a concern; but it definitely was for the others. In most cases, a noninstructional staff member was assigned the task of distributing, supervising, and collecting the exams. Problems with this procedure were discovered on separate

occasions by two of the instructors. As they browsed through the sites during an exam, they realized that no one was supervising the students at one site. The only explanations they received for this situation were that the individual who was to supervise had another task that took priority, and "the students were adults, so why did they have to be supervised." Concerned that this situation might occur, Instructor C did not use unannounced reading quizzes. Although he believed that these quizzes were a good tool for assessing a student's comprehension of a reading assignment, he would not administer them without prior arrangements for someone to be in the rooms.

The instructors in this study found their inability to read all the students' expressions while lecturing to them was a major drawback in helping them stay engaged and enthusiastic about their teaching. Although they taught large classes of over 100 students, they were comfortable that they picked up sufficient cues from those students they were able to see clearly to be able to sense when students were bored or didn't understand their explanation. The screen with its full class format showed only one site at a time. Because of this, they all felt that they were potentially missing important cues. None of them felt comfortable enough during their first course to manipulate the console and select sites. Instead they depended on the audio cues to follow the discussion and change the site automatically. This is one aspect of videoconferencing that should be included in any training program and instructors should have an opportunity to work with people at a number of sites so that they can experience for themselves the issues involved in working among a number of different locations.

The instructors' concerns about planning and lack of time were not identified until they had finished teaching. This raises questions about how best to introduce instructors to videoconferencing and, in particular, the importance of placing planning in the context of the videoconferencing environment.

Conclusions

Although the experiences of the five instructors in this study have unique characteristics, the findings of this and other studies presented similar concerns. A central concern for most instructors was the need for both

instructional design and technical support to assist them in preparing effective and interactive student-centred learning materials. Key to developing the materials was adequate release time and the opportunity to practice teaching prior to entering the videoconferencing classroom. Both of these were not available to the three instructors in the pilot project because of the short time between project approval and start of classes. In addition, the instructors did not spend a great deal of time in preparation because they viewed this as a one-time only activity. In contrast, the other two instructors were teaching courses that would be taught via videoconferencing again and both knew in advance that they would be teaching the courses. However, only one of them did any pre-planning and preparation and that was because of what she described as "her previous bad experience".

This suggests that following the advice of those who say that it is sufficient to provide an introduction to the technology was inadequate. At the same time, the instructors identified their own unwillingness and/or understanding of the need for a different form of planning from that that had been successful for them in their previous courses. Hence, the advice of Clay (1999) and others for a more integrated approach to training would seem more suitable. For the instructors in this study, the most crucial element of the training would be to help them realise their responsibility for the complete videoconferencing environment and to understand the constraints of the technology in replicating the opportunities present in a face-to-face classroom. Although videoconferencing is touted as a highly interactive system, it depends on the pedagogical orientation and actions of the instructor as to whether this is to be realised. For some of these instructors, providing them with the technical knowledge about how to switch among sites, and even the pedagogical knowledge about how to engender student interaction, would likely be insufficient if they were not in

agreement with this form of learning and had time to practice it. As one instructor commented, "I probably wouldn't have taken much advice."

The importance of the personal pedagogical orientation and preferred instructional strategies was also clear. These instructors worked from their conceptions of teaching and determined their own barometers for their success based on idiosyncratic characteristics. Instructors A, B, and C used their own experiences as students and prior experiences such as drama to develop their personal philosophies. The teaching orientations of Instructors D and E were strongly influenced by the norms of their students' profession and the orientation of their Faculty, which stressed the importance of excellent interpersonal skills. In the absence of any other information, the instructors designed courses that were very similar to their other university courses in terms of course design and instructional strategies. If anything, their uncertainty about how to transfer some of their preferred strategies into a videoconferencing environment meant that they used fewer strategies in their videoconferenced courses. And despite having the services of the trainer available, their own lack of knowledge about course design meant that some did not know what to ask or felt uncomfortable acknowledging that despite being chosen because they were good instructors they did not know what to do. Any planned change to post-secondary instruction will need to take this into consideration in designing training programs.

The importance of explaining the entire videoconferencing environment and the instructor's responsibility for it was made evident through these instructors' general lack of understanding of the functions and personnel at the remote sites. While this can be partly explained by the pilot nature of some of the courses, it also speaks to a lack of recognition that distance learning requires an infrastructure just as much as classroom instruction. One additional insight is the importance of working through the presence and functions of co-instructors. Instructor D, in particular, found herself in a tense situation between the students' perceptions of their local instructors as

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

experts and her sense of unease with this assessment. Because she did not work through this situation beforehand, she found that these unstated resentments affected her ability to interact with the students. In addition, having students present with her at the broadcast site who often became the focus of her attention further exacerbated the situation.

The issues raised by the instructors themselves—the lack of time and information and their inability to monitor students—are indicators of the difficulties faced by instructors who expect to transfer their teaching from one environment to the other, a position reinforced by the lack of any formal training program. These instructors did the best they could in situations that were much more difficult than they expected. Some decided to teach as they always did and did not worry about the students being different or at a distance. One didn't expect the course to be a success and managed to prove this expectation.

In much of the literature on training programs there is an expectation that the instructors are excited about using videoconferencing and anxious to expand their pedagogical repertoire. The varying expectations of these five instructors should serve as a warning that such an assumption is unwarranted. In addition, neither is past teaching excellence an accurate proxy for willingness to risk. Nor can it be assumed that the experience of videoconferencing will ensure that instructors will be more interested in adapting their teaching. Instructor E's positive orientation for change seemed to be very different from that of other colleagues in her Faculty who had experienced videoconferencing.

Thus, although the study found much in common with prior research, the experiences of these five instructors have raised questions about the advice available in the literature. In the end, any training program that does incorporate flexibility to accommodate the individual circumstances of each instructor is likely to be completely successful.

Recommendations for Practice

Is videoconferencing a viable delivery mode for teaching adult students? The answer to this question is "yes" if all the following recommendations are put into place.

- 1. Faculty ownership: Because the quality of the teaching and learning experience lies in the hands of the faculty, they must believe that any changes made to the method of delivering a course must be in the best interest of the students. Unless they have had an opportunity to take part in the discussions about the adoption of the technology in their unit and are kept informed of decisions that are being made, the potential for resistance, resentment, and ultimate failure is high.
- 2. Faculty perception of why they have been chosen: It is very important that faculty understand that there are criteria to be met before being scheduled to teach a videoconferencing course. These criteria include: being considered by students and peers as an excellent instructor; and the obvious, an expert in the subject content; and willingness to try something new with the understanding that a training component plays a major role initially and an on-going role as long as the individual is using the technology.
- 3. Training and time: Without a comprehensive training program in place and faculty release time to take the training and develop the curriculum, both faculty and students are likely to be unsatisified and unlikely to succeed. A training program consisting of three major components – how to use the technology, how to design the curriculum to take advantage of the variety of instructional strategies available using the technology, and on-line practice – must be in place prior to implementation of course offerings. An element of training that must be included when working with beginning distance education instructors is the understanding of what it means to be the distance education student. To obtain this understanding, the initial stages of the training program

need to take place with the faculty at a remote site so they are the distant students. They must also practice teaching to one another using the technology and revised curriculum. By doing this, they become comfortable with the technology, have a support system in place, and develop a true understanding of what it means to be on both the teaching and learning side.

4. Matching individuals: In all institutions there are those faculty who are willing to try anything, i.e., 'early adopters' and those who are not unless cajoled, i.e. 'late adopter'. In some situations, the 'early adopters' are admired and able to influence others to follow; in other situations, they are resented because they are encouraging a change that may impact on how someone else must teach. By understanding an individual's orientation to teaching in general, and teaching with distance education technology in specific, it is possible to develop a form of peer mentorship to assist one another throughout the whole teaching experience.

There is no guarantee that there will not be problems if these recommendations are followed. However, it is guaranteed that failure will result if they are not. Advice to any administration contemplating implementing technology supported distance education: IF YOU ARE NOT WILLING TO FOLLOW THESE FOUR RECOMMENDATIONS, DON'T DO IT!

Recommended Research

To assist the beginning videoconferencing instructor and to provide further assistance to those already using the technology, additional research is recommended in the following areas:

- 1. How can instructional strategies be used separately or in combination with one another to effectively teach in the videoconferencing classroom?
- 2. How can an instructor organize and effectively use collaborative teaching models within a videoconferencing environment to enhance the learning experiences of students?

- 3. What impact does the number of sites, configuration of sites, and availability of technology at sites, have on the quality of teaching and learning?
- 4. Will the use of other technology such as web sites and e-mail influence student interaction?
- 5. What types of student supports systems need to be in place to meet the students' needs.
- 6. What impact does the administrative infrastructure have on instructors' attitudes to teaching a distance education course?

REFERENCES

- Abbott, L., Dallat, J., Livingston, R., MacGabhann, R., Robinson, A. (1993). Videoconferencing And Community Relations. University of Ulster.
- Bankirer, M. (1988). Faculty attitudes toward telecommunications for delivery of distance education. *Dissertation Abstracts International*. 49(05), 1123A, University of Wyoming, 1987.
- Barker, B.O., Frisbie, A.G. and Patrick, K.R. (1989). Broadening the definition of distance education in the light of new telecommunications technologies. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 3(1), 20-29.
- Bates, A.W. (1995). *Technology, Open Learning, And Distance Education*. London: Routledge.
- Beaudoin, M. (1990). The instructor's changing role in distance education. The American Journal of Distance Education, 4 (2), 21-29.
- Bercuson, D., Bothwell, R., and Granatstein, J.L., (1997). *The Crisis In Canada's Universities Petrified Campus.* Toronto: Random House of Canada Limited.
- Betts, K. (1998). An institutional overview: Factors influencing faculty participation in distance education in postsecondary education in the United States: An institutional study. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 1(3) 1-13.
- Bilton-Ward, A.C. (1997). *Virtual Teaching An Educator's Guide.* Waco, Texas: CORD Communications, Inc.
- Biro, A. (1998). Issues in videoconferencing in a nursing education program. *Unpublished masters dissertation.* University of Alberta.
- Bivens, H., and Chute, A. (1996). Distance learning futures: Creating new learning environments and developing new pedagogical skills. Lucent Technologies, Distance Learning Resources (Online). Available at: http://www.lucent.com/cedl/icdeenv2.html.
- Bolduc, W.J., (1994). The diffusion of digital compressed video-interactive in a university environment, 1988-1992: A case study. (Doctoral dissertation, Florida State University, 1993). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 54 (12), 4294A.
- Bruce, M.A., and Shade, R. (1995). Effective teaching and learning strategies using compressed video. *Tech Trends*, 40(4) 18-22.

- Brundage. D.K. and MacKeracher, D. (1980). Adult Learning principles and Their Application to Program Planning. Toronto, ON: Ontario Department of Education.
- Burke, M.A. (1994). Designing effective electronic distance education programs for K-12 staff development. *The Clearing House*, 67(4), 233-237.
- Burke, C., Lundin, R., and Daunt, C. (1997). Pushing the boundaries of interaction in videoconferencing: A dialogical approach. *Distance Education* 18(2), 350-361.
- Chu, G. and Schramm, W. (1975). *Learning From Television: What The Research Says.* Washington DC: National Association of Educational Broadcasters.
- Chute, A.G., Hancock, B.W., and Balthazar, L.B. (1991). Distance education futures: Information needs and technology options. *Lucent Technologies, Distance Learning Resources* (Online). Available at: http://www.lucent.com/cedl/.
- Clark, T. (1993). Attitudes of higher education faculty toward distance education: A national survey. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 7(2), 19-33.
- Clay, M. (1999). Development of training and support programs for distance education instructors. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, Vol. II, No. III. Available: http://www.westga.edu/~distance/clay23.html.
- Cuffman, D.M. and MacRae, N. (1996). Faculty development programs in interactive television. *Proceedings of the Mid-South Instructional Technology Conference*. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service, ED 400 806).
- Cyrs, T.E. (1997a). Editor's notes. In T.C. Cyrs (Ed.). *Teaching And Learning At A Distance: What It Takes To Effectively Design, Deliver, And Evaluate Programs.* No. 71, 1-4. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Cyrs, T.E. (1997b). Competency in teaching at a distance. In T.C. Cyrs (Ed.). *Teaching And Learning At A Distance: What It Takes To Effectively Design, Deliver, And Evaluate Programs*, No. 71, 15-18. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Dallat, J., Fraser, G., Livingston, R., and Robinson, A. (1992). *Videoconferencing And The Adult Learner*. Report submitted to the University of Ulster, Audio-Visual Services Policy and Planning Committee.
- de Cicco, E. (1997). Videoconferencing in Further Education. Further Education Development Agency, Bristol, England.
- Denton, J.J. and Clark, F. (1985). Assessing instructional strategies and resulting student attitudes regarding two-way television instruction. *Journal of Educational Technology Systems*, 13(4), 281-298.
- Dillon, C.L., Hengst, H.R.H., and Zoller, D. (1991). Instructional strategies and student involvement in distance education: A study of the Oklahoma televised instruction system. *Journal of Distance Education*, 6(1), 28-41.
- Dillon, C.L. and Walsh, S.J. (1992). Faculty: The neglected resource in distance education. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 6(3), 5-21.
- Dirr, P.J. (1990). Distance education: Policy considerations for the year 2000. In M.G. Moore, P. Cookson, J. Donaldson, and B.A. Quigley (Eds.), *Contemporary Issues in American Distance Education*, 397-406. Pergamon Press: Oxford, England.
- Divine, G. 1999. What is compressed video? *Distance Education Clearinghouse.* Available: http://bluto.uwex.edu:80/disted/compvidwhat.html.
- Doerfert, D.L., Miller, G. and Miller, W.W. (1995). A model program for staff and faculty training in agricultural distance education.
 Proceedings of the Eleventh Annual Conference on Distance Teaching and Learning. 51-55. Madison: University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Dooley, L.M. (1996). Instructional use of compressed video teleconferencing: A report from faculty users. *DEOSNEWS*, 6 (10). Available: http://www.ed.psu.edu/ACSDE/.
- Edson, C.H. (1988). Our past and present: Historical inquiry in education. In R.R. Sherman and R.B. Webb (Eds.), *Research in Education: Focus and Methods*, pp. 44-58. London: The Falmer Press.
- Evans Associates (1993). Distance education technology study final report: Presented to Wisconsin Educational Communications Board. 216N. Green Bay Rd., Theinsville, Wisconsin.

- Galbreath, J. (1995). Compressed digital videoconferencing: An overview. *Educational Technology*, January-February, pp. 31-38.
- Gant, L.P. (1998). Distance learning quality indicators: Teletraining twoway electronic classroom. *DEOSNEWS*, 8 (10). Available: http://www.ed.psu.edu/ACSDE/.
- Garrison, D.R. (1990). Understanding Distance Education. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Gehlauf, D.N., Shatz, M.A., and Frye, T.W. (1991). Faculty perceptions of interactive television instructional strategies: Implications for training. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 5(3), 20-28.
- Gibson, C.C. (1992). Alphabet soup is coming your way (if it hasn't already arrived!). *Adult Learning*, 4(3), 18-19.
- Gilbert, S.W. (1995). Technology and the changing academy: Symptoms, questions, and suggestions. *Change*, 27(5), 58-61.
- Glaser, B.G. and Strauss, A.S. (1967). *The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research.* New York: Aldine De Gruyter.
- Glesne, C. and Peshkin, A. (1992). *Becoming Qualitative Researchers: An Introduction*. White Plains, NY: Longman Publishing Group.
- Green, K.C. and Gilbert, S.W. (1995). Great expectations: Content, communications, productivity and the role of information technology in higher education. *Change*, 27(2), 8-18.
- Gunawardena, C.N. (1990). Integrating telecommunication systems to reach distance learners. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 40(3), 38-46.

(1992). Changing faculty roles for audiographics and on-line teaching. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 6(3), 58-71.

- Hakes, B.T., Cochenour, J., Rezabek, L.L., and Sachs, S.G. (1995).
 Compressed Video for Instruction: Operations and Applications. Washington, D.C.: Association for Educational Communications and Technology.
- Haughey, M. (1993, October). The University of Alberta and Alberta Transportation and Utilities Videoconferencing Project, 1992-93. An evaluation report. Edmonton, AB: University of Alberta.

- Heath, D.L. (1996). Faculty attitudes towards distance education and use of instructional technology (telecommunications). Abstract from: Dissertation Abstracts Item 9626314.
- Hiel, E.R. and Herrington, D., (1997). Plausible uses and limitations of videoconferencing as a tool for achieving technology transfer. *Journal* of Extension, 35(4). Available: http://www.joe.org/joe/1997august/rbl.html.
- Hill, M., (1998). Staffing a distance learning team: Whom do you really need? Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, Vol. 1, No. 1. Available: http://www.westga.edu/~distance/hill11.html.
- Holmberg, B., (1977). *Distance education: A survey and bibliography*. London: Kogan Page.
- Inch, B. (1987). Change triggered by computer technology: It's implications for faculty development. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Wisconsin-Madison, 1987). *Dissertation Abstracts Internation*,48 (03), 539A.
- Jewett, F. (1998). The master's degree in social work at Cleveland State University and the University of Akron: A case study of the benefits and costs of a joint degree program offered via videoconferencing. *National Institute on Postsecondary Education, Libraries, and Lifelong Learning (ED/OERI)*, Washington, DC.
- Kaufman, D.M. and Brock, H., (1998). Enhancing interaction using videoconferencing in continuing health education. *The Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, 18, 81-85.
- Keegan, D. (1986). *The foundations of distance education*. London: Croom Helm.
- Keir, P. and Ward, E. (1988). Distance learning: A faculty primer. *Proceedings of the Fourth Annual Conference on Distance Teaching and Learning*, 50-53. Madison: University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Kromholz, S.F. and Johnstone, S.M. (1988). A practical application to training instructional television faculty and students. *Lifelong learning*, 11(8), 15-16.
- Lancy, D.F. (1993). *Qualitative Research in Education: An Introduction to the Major Traditions*. White Plains, NY: Longman.

- Larison, R.D. (1995). Instructional telecommunications technology and the professor: A study of teaching faculty attitudes and beliefs about the implementation of interactive television and computer-mediated conferencing as distance education media at Eastern Oregon State College. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Oregon, 1995). Dissertation Abstracts International, 56(05), 1677A.
- Lauer, J.M. and Asher, J.W. (1988). *Composition Research: Empirical Designs*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Lehman, R. and Dewy, B., (1998). Videoconferencing training beyond the keypad: Using the interactive potential. *Distance Learning '98. Proceedings Of The Annual Conference On Distance Teaching & Learning.* Madison, WI, August 5-7, 1998, pp. 227-231.
- Lincoln, Y.S. and Guba, E.G., (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry. London: Sage.
- Lyons, R. and Washburn, C. (1995). A training process to prepare faculty to use interactive television: The University of Pittsburgh experience. *Proceedings of the Eleventh Annual Conference on Distance Teaching and Learning Proceedings*, 121-126. Madison: University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Maloy, W.L. and Perry, N.N., (1991). A navy video teletraining project: lessons learned. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 5(3), 40-50.
- Martinez, M.D. and MacMillan, G., (1998). A joint distance learning course in American Government. Paper delivered at the 1998 Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association, Boston, September 3-6, 1998.
- McRoberts, T.B., Sonkowsky, R.P., and Strand, B.V. (1995). Breaking through distance learning barriers with faculty development/training. *Proceedings of the Eleventh Annual Conference on Distance Teaching* and Learning Proceedings, 133-138. Madison: University of Wisconsin-Madison.
- Meacham, E.D., (1982). Distance teaching: Innovation, individual concerns and staff development. *Distance Education*, 3(2), 244-245.
- Miller, M.D. and Padgett, T.C., (1998). Redesigning the learning environment for distance education: An integrative model of technologically supported learning environment. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, 1(1). Available: http://www.westga.edu/~distance/hill11.html.

- Mitchell, G. (1993). *The Trainer's Handbook. The AMA Guide to Effective Training, 2nd Edition.* New York, NY: American Management Association.
- Mood, T.A., (1995). *Distance education: An annotated bibliography*. Englewood, CO: Libraries Unlimited, Inc.
- Moore, M., (1988). Editorial: Telecommunications, internationalism, and distance education. American Journal of Distance Education, 2(1), 1-7.
- Moore, M.G., (1993). Is teaching like flying? A total systems view of distance education. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 7(1),1-10.
- Moore, M.G. and Kearsley, G. (1996). *Distance Education: A Systems View.* Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Publishing Company.
- Olcott, D. and Wright, S.J., (1995). An institutional support framework for increasing faculty participation in postsecondary distance education. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 9(3), 5-17.
- Oliver, R., (1995). Guest speaker's comments about the use of distance education at Edith Cowan University, Australia. Graduate course offered through George Washington University, Washington, DC. June 23 – July 2.
- Ostendorf, V.A. (1994). *The Two-Way Video Classroom. Edition For Picturetelearning.* Littleton, CO: Author.

____ (1996). *Distance Learning Directory.* (5th ed.). Littleton, CO: Author.

(1997 Fall). Teaching by television. In. T.E. Cyrs (Ed.). *Teaching* And Learning At A Distance: What It Takes To Effectively Design, Deliver And Evaluate Programs (51-57). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Inc.

- Patton, M.Q. (1990). *Qualitative Evaluation And Research Methods* (2nd Ed.). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Purdy, L.N. and Wright, S.J. (1992). Teaching in distance education: A faculty perspective. (Guest Editorial). *American Journal of Distance Education*, 6(3), 2-4.

- Reed, J. and Woodruff, M. (1995 Fall). An introduction to using videoconferencing technology for teaching. *The Distance Educator* newsletter. Available: http://www.kn.pacbell.com/wired/vidconf/Using.html.
- Roberts, J.M. (1998). Compressed Video Learning Creating Active Learners. Toronto, ON: McGraw-Hill.
- Rudestam, K.E. and Newton, R.R. (1992). *Surviving Your Dissertation A Comprehensive Guide to Content and Process*. Newbury Park, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Rutherford, L.H. and Grana, S.J. (1995). Retrofitting academe: Adapting faculty attitudes and practices to technology. *Technological Horizons in Education*, 23(2), 82-85.
- Sachs, G. (1995). Compressed video: A technical overview. In Hakes, B.T., Cochenour, J., Rezabek, L.L., and Sachs, S.G. (1995). *Compressed Video for Instruction: Operations and Applications.* (11-22). Washington, D.C.: Association for Educational Communications and Technology.
- Sankar, C.S., Ford, F.N., and Terase, N. (1997). Impact of videoconferencing in teaching an introductory MIS course. *Journal Educational Technology Systems*, 26(1), 67-68.
- Shaeffer, J.M., Kipper, P.R., Farr, C.W., and Mucarella, D.D. (1990). Preparing faculty and designing courses for delivery via audio teleconferencing. *Journal of Adult Education*, 18(2), 11-18.
- Sheffield, C.J. (1992). A critical analysis of faculty development at an historically black institution: A computer literacy project case study. (Doctoral dissertation. University of Pittsburge, 1991). Dissertation Abstracts International, 52(10), 3541A.
- Snyder, J.M. (1995). An investigation into the factors that encourage university faculty to use information technologies in their teaching. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, 1995). *Dissertation Abstracts International*, 56(04), 1326A.
- Taylor S.J. and Bogan, R. (1984). *Introduction to qualitative research methods: The search for meaning,* 2nd ed. New York: Wiley.

- Wagner, E.D. (1997 Fall). Interactivity: From agents to outcomes. In. T.E. Cyrs (Ed.). *Teaching and learning at a distance: What it takes to effectively design, deliver and evaluate programs* (5-57). New directions for teaching and learning, No. 71. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Inc.
- Walsh, J. and Reese, B. (1995). Distance learning's growing reach. *Technological Horizons in Education*, 22(11), 58-62.
- Weber, J.R. and Lawlor, A.C. (1998). Professional nursing series by videoconferencing. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 29(4), 161-164.
- Weitman, B.C. (1993). Determining the acceptance of a computer-based distance education system for staff development in Georgia Technical Institutes. (Doctoral dissertation, University of Georgia, 1992). Dissertation Abstracts International, 53(07), 2344A.
- Williamson, S.R. (1996). When change is the only constant: Liberal education in the age of technology. *Educom Review*, 31(6), 39-41.
- Willis, B. (1992). Effective distance education: A primer for faculty and administrators. (Monography series in Distance Education, No. 2).
 Alaska University System. (ERIC Reproduction Service Document No. ED352447).

(1995). Distance education at a glance: A series of guides prepared by Engineering Outreach at the University of Idaho. Available: http://www.uidaho.edu/eve/distglan.html.